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INTRODUCTION

Our aims

Our ambitton is to be recognised
by our customers as the best
water company In the UK,

To achieve this we must;

» Deliver high quality and reliable
drinking water and sewerage
services

» Meet customers’ expectations
and give value for money

» Safeguard the environment

» Look after the water industry
for future generations.
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GLAS CYMRU i1s the single purpose
company formed 10 years ago to own,
finance and manage Welsh Water on
behalf of today’s customers and future
generations

The purpose of the company Is to manage
Welsh Water in the best interests of
customers, which means provtding the
best possible standard of service - whilst
keeping the customer bill affordable

Structured as a company hrmited

by guarantee, Glas Cymru has no
shareholders - any financial surpluses are
therefore retained or reinvested for the
benefit of customers

Under cur ‘not-for-profit’ business

model, Welsh Water’s assets and capital
investment are financed by bonds, loans
and retained finanaial surpluses In this
way we aim to reduce Welsh Water's asset
financing costs, the water industry’s single
biggest cost, by offering hugh quality
credit to long term investors

We are the only UK water company
owned and financed in this way

WELSH WATER 15 the sixth largest of

the 10 regulated water and sewerage
companies in England and Wales and
provides an essential pubhc service to
more than 3 million people living in Wales
and some adjoining parts of England

To do this we employ a large and
complex network of often very long-life
assets - with a replacement cost of £25
bitlion, or around £20,000 per household

By managing these assets to provide a
safe and reliable supply of dninking water
and deal effectively with customers’
wastewater, Welsh Water fulfils a vital

role in protecting public health and the
natural environment

Glas Cymru Cyfyngedig
Company Number 3975719

HIGHLIGHTS

Protecting public health

» High tevel of water quality comphance -
99 94% mean zonal comphance

» 3 schemes comrussioned in the early
start to £200 millien programme to
upgrade 26 water treatment works by
2013 to ensure continued high quality
drninking water

Safeguarding the environment

» 50 Blue Flags awarded around the coast
of Wales for 2010

» 21,000 young people go through our
environmental education programme

Meeting customers’ expectations

» Sewer flooding caused by hydraulic
overload reduced by 20 %

» New customer contact and operations
control centre opening in Cardiff

Affordabihty and value for money

» Customer bills to fall by £30 {before
inflation) by March 2015

» Water bills capped at £250 for over
8,000 customers in tnal of 'Welsh Water
Assist’ taniff

Employer of choice

» Successful TUPE transfer of nearly 1,600
employees from previously outsourced
operations contracts

» 95% of staff attend a rocad show event at
which the Managing Director reinforced
our focus on protecting public health,
the environment and the safety of those
who work for us

Responding to climate change

» Welsh Water awarded Carbon Trust
Standard in 2009

» First of four schemes in £110 muillion
green energy programme commissioned
at Eign in Herefordshire

Finanang the business

» Successful £140 million bond 1ssue to
meet Welsh Water's financing needs for
the next five years

» Financial reserves or ‘customer equity’
amounting to almost £1 1 billion at
the end of the last five year regulatory
period



CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

As Glas Cymru approaches

its tenth anniversary it is a
pleasure to be able to report
another year of solid progress
for Welsh Water, with real
improvements in a number

of key areas supported by

a record investment for the
longer term. Since this has
been the final year of one of the
industry’s recurring five-year
regulatory cycles and also my
last Chairman’s statement, it is
a fitting time to stand back and
assess what Glas Gymru's very
special structure has achieved
since we acquired Welsh Water
in May 2001.

Glas Cymru Cyfyngedig
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| believe that we have come a fang

way In that time and have established
that ‘not-for-profit’ ownership of a long
term industry providing an essenuial
pubhic service can work and work well
Under Glas Cymru's ownership Welsh
Water 15 now financially secure and has
delivered a step change improvement in
performance for our customers in terms
of bills, service standards and the quality
of their environment The Company

1s well placed to tackle the significant
challenges it now faces following Ofwat’s
price determimation that will see average
household bills in the region £30 lower
in real terms in five years’time than they
were fast year

Ten years ago Welsh Water had the
highest water bill in the industry and the
second highest sewerage bill, something
that our customers found difficult to
understand in such a wet part of the
country This year our water bill s below
the industry average and our sewerage
bill 1s closer to the industry average — an
achievement that has been possible only
because of Welsh Water's sector-leading
record of cost reduction that also made
possible an annual ‘customer dividend’
that has been unique in the iIndustry

Financing efficiency has been one of our
most important successes, and is the key
to ensuring that the public service we
provide is affordable Under Glas Cymru’s
ownership we have created financtal
reserves of over £1 billion by reducing
gearning from 93% at the acquisition

of the company in 2001 to 71% today,
funded ‘customer dividends’ of more
than £150 milhon and achteved the best
credit ratings in the sector With 60% of
our total borrowings being index-hnked,
interest costs last year fell by a third and
a £140 milion index-hinked bond issue
in March 2010 put the Company in a
strong liquidity position with its capital
expenditure requirements for the next
regulatory period now largely pre-
funded

But financing efficiency 15 only part of the
picture in the regulated water industry
much of what matters to customers and
to the environment can be measured,
compared and judged Welsh Water was
one of the poorest performers on this
basket of measures 10 years ago, but by
2005 had improved to the best in the
ndustry In the years since 2005 we have
suffered some setbacks, but we have been
determined to rectify any shortfalls and
to invest whatever Is necessary to restore
Welsh Water's position as a consistently
leading water company on all the
measures that matter for customers and
for the environment

| am delighted that Bob Ayling wili be
taking over as Chawrman following this
year's AGM | would like to take this
opportunity to thank my colleagues on
the Board for all the support they have
given me as Chairman over the years and
for their continuing dedication to and
enthusiasm for the Company and what we
have set out to achieve This commitment
15 exemplified by Dame Deirdre Hine who
15 also standing down as a Non-Executive
Director at this year's AGM, after nearly

10 years on the board Deirdre has been
char of our Quality and Environment
Committee throughout that pertod and
her contribution to the Board has been
immense

I must also thank the Members of the

Company, who perform such an important .
corporate governance role, and who

have brought the nght msx of support

and informed challenge to their task

throughout

Finally, | would iike to thank all the staff
who work 50 hard for Welsh Water, whether
they are employed directly by the Company
ornot Itisa great team that always goes
the extra mile and | am confident that it will
again nise to the challenges that lie ahead
and that Welsh Water and its customers will
prosper as a result

Lord Burns
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MANAGING
DIRECTOR’S
REPORT

The past year has been an
important one for Welsh Water:
the conclusion of Ofwat’s
five-yearly pnice review has

set significant challenges for
us, and we have had to take
difficult decisions on the

future shape of the business

In order to meet them.

At the same time we can

report another year of solid
progress, including record
capital investment, all designed
to improve our service to
customers, to safequard the
environment, and to bring our
performance up to the high
level to which the whole

team aspires.

Performance

Our most important responsibility 1s safe
drinking water Overall compliance with
water quality standards in 2009 remained
very high at 99 94%, and there were
fewer water quality incidents in 2009
although still more than the average for
the water sector To Improve the reltability
of our water supply network we have
accelerated £200 million of investment
to refurbish and upgrade 26 water
treatment works, with priority given

to those, mostly in North Wales, that
previously have relied on single stage
treatment of high quality source waters

Schemes totalling £83 million at Cwellyn,
Harlech and Penybont in North Wales
and at Crai, Cwmbran and Talybontin
South Wales, were completed during

the year Pending completion of this
major improvement programme, we also
installed additional ultra violet treatment
at 23 sites to protect against the risk to
public health posed by cryptospondium
in particular

Wales, with only 15% of the British
coastline, secured a record 50 Blue Flag
awards - more than a third of the total
awarded to all of the UK - for the 2010
summer season, and all 81 designated
bathing beaches in Wales passed the
mandatory European standard for coastal
water quality In addition, a record 48
Green Coast awards for rural beaches
were secured Wales also continues to
have some of the tughest quahity nvers
in the UK with more than 90% being
classed by the Environment Agency as
having good or very good chemical and
biological water quabity

On the wastewater side compliance with
discharge consents at our wastewater
treatment works shpped to 99 9%, from
100% in 2008, and there were seven
serious pollution incidents caused by
asset breakdown, compared with just
three in the previous year but 17 in the
year before that Getuing back to sector-
leading performance on environmental
protection, which Welsh Water has
achieved in the past, 15 a high preority

Qur relatively strong water resource
positton was reinforced during the

year by the completion of a £7 million
scheme in Anglesey to link two supply
zanes thereby further reducing the nsk
of shortages during droughts Alongside
water efficiency, managing leakage Is
important to ensure that we are able

to mamtain supphes during droughts
and last year we again achieved Ofwat’s
leakage reduction target despite a
doubling of the number of bursts
following the freezing weather at the
start of 2010

Customer satisfaction, as measured by
quarterly tracking research, reached

a record high, with 83% of customers
saying they were satisfied with the
overall service provided by Welsh Water
This high standing was confirmed by
Ofwat’s Independent research into
customer satisfaction, with Welsh Water
ranked as the second highest of the

10 water and sewerage companies

Against this encouraging picture,

we still have more complaints than
average about discoloured tap water
Mareover, we judge that more than half
of the contacts we received last year
from our customers could have been
avorded - and one of the most important
benehts we will secure from our £100
million IT modernisation programme
will be to equip our customer facing
staff with the information they need to
dehiver outstanding customer service

A key element of this programme s

the estabhshment of a new operational
control centre at St Mellons near Cardiff
which will open towards the end of 2010

Last year the number of sewer flooding
incidents fell by nearly 209, from 392

to 317 We know that the very worst
customer service falling i1s flooding from
overloaded or blocked sewers and during
the year we completed 92 schemes to
reduce the risk of internal and external
sewer flooding for over 460 properties,
cutting the ‘at nsk’ register to 250 Over
the last five years we have invested

£67 muthon an upgrading our sewer

Glas Cymru Cyfyngedig
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network reducing the nsk of repeat
flooding for over 1,200 properties The
Consumer Council for Water uses ‘Leading
Edge Tables' to identfy areas of good
practice and last year Welsh Water came
top for the level of service it provides
when dealing with a problem caused by
flooding from a publc sewer

Value for money

As our Chairman states, Welsh Water has
made great stnides tn reducing bills to
something much closer to the average
across England and Wales Sector-leading
cost reduction and financing efficiency
has allowed us to sustain an annual
‘customer dividend’ that I1s unique In

the industry Last year the ‘customer
dividend’ reduced each bill by £22 and
brought the total sum returned to our
customers in this way to more than
£150 milhon since 2003

Affordability has been at the heart of
our plans since the start and 1t 1s very
clear to us that many of our customers
face real hardship in paying their water
bill, particularly in the current economic
climate So, we have developed a unique
range of customer assistance tariffs
which, together with our Customer
Assistance Fund, have helped 27,600
customers to afford their water bill

The Ofwat price review has set some very
challenging targets for us for the next five
years While our plans for £1 3 billion of
capital investment were largely endorsed,
we have been set the demanding target
of reducing our controllable operating
costs by 20% As a result, the average
household customer’s bill will fall in

real terms over the next five years With
bills falling, and in order to marshal

our financeal resources in whatis still a
very difficult economic environment,

the Board has decided to postpone any
further ‘customer dividends’ until it 1s
once again prudent to do so

Glas Cymru Cyfyngedig
Company Number 3975719

Outsourcing strategy

Since Glas Cymru acquired Welsh Water
in 2001, we have employed an
outsourcing strategy to ensure that our
customers get the best value for money
from a competitive marketplace for
each element of the value chain

To date, around 85% of our costs

have been covered by outsourang
arrangements

Our key contracts with Umited Utilities
and Kelda for the operation of Welsh
Water's water and wastewater assets
provided for a‘price and performance
review'to coinade with Ofwat’s Final
Determination of price lrmits for the next
five years After an exhaustive process, we
were naot able to agree terms that were
acceptable to United Utilties and Kelda
while satisfying us that we could reach
our targets for both cost reduction and
improved customer service As a result,
the contracts with both United Utilittes
and Kelda were terminated by agreement
with effect from 1 April 2010 and 1 May
2010 respectively and nearly 1,600 staff
transferred to the direct employment of
Welsh Water in accordance with TUPE
legislation

United Utihties since 2001 and Kelda
Water Services since 2005 have made an
enormous contribution to improving the
performance and especially the efficlency
of Welsh Water The business 1s in better
shape to tackle the new challenges
ahead than it would have been but for
this important contnbution from both
companies

Despite bringing the asset operations
under the direct control of Welsh Water,
some 60% of annual operating and
capital expenditure will remain subject
to competitive tender, still the highest
percentage In our sector

Looking ahead

The challenge of reducing our costs,
whitle continuing to iImprove our service
to customers and ensuring a high
degree of sustainable protection for the
environment, will be testing But ! am
confident that with the commitrment of
our newly unified team, together with
our commeraal partners, we will nseto
the challenge The way in which our staff
right across the business have responded
to the significant challenges that arose
durning the year is remarkable Their
continuing commitment and enthusiasm
1s the key to our success tn serving our
customers and to looking after thus long
term and important industry for future
generations

Finally, | would like to add my particular
thanks to two people to Dame Deirdre
Hine for her leadership of our Quality
and Environment Committee, combining
great wisdom and insight as well as

calm authority on all matters and, in
particular, those to do with public health
and, of course, to Lord Burns for hus
unflagging leadership, support, guidance
and inspiration over the last decade.
Glas Cymru would not have come

into being without his insight and
commitment We are all in his debt

and my thanks to him are profound

Nigel Annett
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HOW WE DELIVER
SERVICES

Our job 1s to deliver high
quality and reliable drinking
water and sewerage services
to Welsh Water’s customers
at an affordable price, and to
look after the water industry
in our region on behalf of
today’s customers and future
generations.

Regulation of the water industry

The water industry in England and Wales,
and the important public service for
which it is responsible, 1s highly regulated

Ofwat i1s the economic requlator and 1s
responsible for setting an upper limit

on the price that each regulated water
and sewerage company can charge

its customers It 15 also responsible for
promoting the terests of customers

by incentivising efficiency and huigh
standards of service and penalising
inefficiency and poor service Every five
years Welsh Water, like all the other water
compantes, prepares its plans for the
years ahead, setting out what needs to be
done, what it will cost and what it means
for bells Ofwat scrutinises and challenges
these plans and sets a maximum price
that compantes can charge to deliver

an agreed amount of work as efficiently
as possible In December 2009, Ofwat
published its final determination for
Welsh Water for the regulatory cycle from
2010 to 2015, known as AMPS (see - The
2009 Price Review)

For many years Ofwat had assessed
companies’ overall delivery of service to
customers via its Overall Performance
Assessment (OPA), which served two
purposes Firstly, it enabled compansons
of the quality of the overall service
compantes provide to customers, which
15 taken into account at each price review
Secondly, it informed customers - and
other interested parties - about the
overall performance of their local water
company The OPA assessment reflected
a broad range of services iIncluding
water supply, wastewater services,
customer service and environmental
impact However, on 1 Apnl 2010 Ofwat
replaced OPA with a new framework of
serviceability measures and a service
in¢centive mechamism (SIM), and we wall
report our performance against this
next year

The Drninking Water Inspectorate (DWI}
15 the regulator for drinking water quality,
while the Environment Agency (EA)
regulates Welsh Water's environmental
performance, specifically with regard to
the way in which 1t abstracts water from
rivers and reservoirs and then discharges
wastewater after it has been cleaned

The Countryside Counail for Wales and,
in England, Natural England, oversee
Welsh Water’s management of designated
sites for nature conservation and how the
Company meets its obligation to conserve
and improve biodiversity

The Consumer Council for Water is
the independent body established to
represent the interests of customers
It investigates complaints and
champions customer concerns, and
audsts Welsh Water’s performance on
customer service more generally,

as well as influencing policy

The Welsh Assembly Government has

a key role in determining water and
environmental quality standards as well
as setting the framework for other public
policy matters

All aspects of Welsh Water’s water and
wastewater operations are subject to
extensive performance monitonng
agamnst standards and targets set by
regulators and government Each year,
regulators publish reports that assess

and compare the performance of the
regulated water companies across a wide
range of measures, including water quality,
environmental quality, customer service,
affordability and cost efficiency Each
regulator has powers that can sanction
Welsh Water in the event that performance
falls short of required standards

The 2009 Price Review

The regulatory contract that Welsh Water
1s required to deliver in the five year
penod ending on 31 March 2015 1s the
most challenging the Company has been
set since the industry was privatised in
1989 Under Ofwat’s Final Determination
the average bill for Welsh Water's water
and sewerage customers will reduce
over the penod to 31 March 2015 by £30
{before inflation) To deliver this level

of ball reduction Welsh Water will need

to significantly reduce operating costs,
by around 20% of costs that can be
managed or influenced by management,
whilst at the same time improving
customer service performance to meet
new serviceability targets set out in the
Final Determination - which are also very
challenging - and defivering a £1 3 billton
capital Investment programme

Following careful consideration,

Welsh Water deaded not to appeal
against Ofwat’s Final Determination to the
Competition Commussion However, the
sharp reduction in revenues has meant
that the progressive ‘customer dividend;
which was appropnate when customer
bills were nsing - and which between
2003 and 2010 returned seme £150
millton to customers - 1s not appropnate
at the start of this next regulatory penod
This also recognises that Ofwat has
adopted new standards of ‘serviceabihty;
compnsing 20 measures over 4 service
areas, which, If they are not met, could
lead to substantial financial penalties
being imposed at the ttme of the next
price review

Glas Cymru Cyfyngedig
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More information on the price review
and the capital nvestment programme
that we will deliver by March 2015 can be
found on page 40

Delivering services for customers

Since 2001 many of the regulatory and
customer service activities of Welsh Water
have been delivered by partners under
contracts secured through competitive
tender Control of these activities
remained with Welsh Water and the
Company retained its access to the staff,
information and knowledge required to
meet legal and regulatory obligations
Welsh Water determuined asset strategy
and retained responsibility for decisions
on key assets Each contract specifies
performance measures that reflected the
quality and service standards by which
Welsh Water’s performance 15 judged

In 2009-10, some 85% of Welsh Water’s
operating and investment expenditure
was covered by these contracts, which
were letin 2005

The operation and maintenance of the
group's network of water and sewerage
assets has been managed by United
Utilities Operating Services Limited
(JUOS) and Kelda Water Services

Wales Limited {(KWS) since 2005 In

the regulatory period 2005-10, these
operating partners helped Welsh Water
improve the quality of service recerved
by custemers and reduce the Company’s
operating costs However, following a

review of contract price and performance,

it became clear that the existing contract
arrangements could not achieve the cost
effictencies and service improvements
Welsh Water has to meet over the next
five years Despite considerable efforts
by all parties, it was not possible to reach
agreement on terms for continuing the
contracts for those next five years

As a result, Welsh Water announced
that agreement had been reached with
UUOS and KWS and nearly 1,600 staff
successfully transferred to Welsh Water
(under the Transfer of Undertakings
Regulations) on 1 April 2010, and

1 May 2010 respectively

Glas Cymru Cyfyngedig
Company Number 3975719

How we measure our performance

Previous Actual Ator
Monitonng  performance  performance  better than
plan target®  2008-09 2009-10  previous year
Water quality
Overall water quality compliance ‘at the tap'™© n/a 99 9% 99 9% v
6 Bactenological comphance ‘ar the tap’ ™ (see page 10) nfa 99 8% 99 8% v
Tron compliance ‘at the tap'** 99 1% % % 993% X
Operational Performance {ndex © n/a 95 9% 99 8% X
Operational Performance Index (TIM) ®¢ nfa 99 8% 99 7% X
Environment
Leakage (m’/km/day) 75 72 1A v
Number of ‘category 1and 2'pollution inadents n/a 3 7 X
Number of ‘category 3’ pollution inadents @ nfa 230 Eyts X
Population served by wastewater eatment works
assessed as complying with look up’ table © n/a 100% 99 9% X
Sewage sludge recycled satisfactonly © 100% 100% 100% v
‘Mandatory’ coastal bathing water compliance
2t EY designated bathing beaches 100% 99% 100% v
‘Guideline’ coastal bathing water complrance
at EU designated bathing beaches @ ‘Stable’ 7% 1% v
Customer service
o Customer satisfaction (see page 22} n/a 80% 83% v
Properties ‘at nisk'of receving low pressure 1Y) 197 194 v
Properties affected by unplanned water supply
Interruptions lasting more than 6 hours 1,080 894 477 v
Properties ‘at risk’of sewer flooding 308 265 250 v
Properties flooded due to hydraulrc overoad 106 106 73 v
Properties flooded due to other causes 120 186 198 X
Bithing enguines answered within S days 100% 100% 100% v
Wntten complaints answered within 10 days 95 9% 99 3% 9% 6% v
Number of written complaints recerved n/a 12,486 13,313 X
Customer meters read within year 99 9% 99 9% 99 9% v
Telephone calls abandoned 13% 47% 11% v
Telephane calls receiving engaged tone 0% 004% 0 %% X
Call handling satisfaction {score out of 5} n/a 465 472 v
People
f Reportable accidents (see page 27) n/a 34 3% X
Finance
f Bond credit rating ¥ {see page 36} nfa Class B bonds A/A3/A v
o Customer dividend see page 34} nfa 2 £ v
o Geanngisee page 36) n/a 2% 71% v
o Interest cover (see page 36) nfa 34 45 v
Overail performance
@ Ofwat's 0PA score(seepage vy n/a 406 404 X

{1) This measure 1s based on’Mean Zonal Complrance’

{2) Incorporates performance against turbidity, on and manganese

{3) The Monitonng Pan sexs out the targets agreed at the Regulatary Prce Review in 2004 for the pened 2005-10

{4) Standard & Poor’s, Moody's and Fitch respectively

{C) Calendaryear 2009, all other figures are for the year ended 31 March 2010

@ Key performance indicators dentified by the Board, further information can be found on page 44
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DRINKING
WATER SUPPLY

Qur buggest obligation is

to protect public health by
providing a safe and reliable
supply of drinking water to our
customers at all times.

10

Supplying water 1s a complex operation
and to do this we employ a large network
of assets 87 water treatment works
supply over 800 million litres of water a
day to 1 2 milion househclds and some
100,000 business customers through a
network of around 550 service reservours
and 27,000km of water mains

Drinking water quality

The quality of the water we supply is
assessed against the results of some
290,000 tests which we take each year
These measure our performance against
a combination of health-based and
aesthetic-based standards set by EU
directives and national legislation, and
cover all stages in the process - from the
treatment works to the customers’tap
All results are submitted to the DWI for
assessment and provide a broad picture
of the qualty of the tap water we supply
to our customers

The overall quality of the dninking water
we supplied in 2009 remained at a high
level and, while the number of water
quality events reported to the DWI
reduced only shghtly {to 21), there was a
50% reduction in events relating to the
distnfection process at water treatment
works This helped us to deliver

» bacteniological compliance at the tap
of 99 77% (the same as n 2008)

» stable mean zonal comphance with
99 94% of tests meeting the required
quality standards

» an improved performance agarmnst
the DWI's disinfectian control index at
99 98% (up from 99 88% n 2008)

In 2010 we aim to maintain or improve
our performance against each of the
DWI's six indices which assess our overall
performance - last year we improved
against two, were stable against two but
dechned shghtly against two others

Two precautionary boil water notices
were issued 1n 2009 following detection
of very low levels of € coli in routine
sampling The first was at Alwen water
treatment works, which affected

75,000 customers and was hifted after
seven days, and the second followed a
burst main at Penyffordd in north Wales,
which affected 363 properties and was
lifted after five days Nesther inaident was
assoctated with iliness in the community

The number of customer contacts we
receive — queries or complaints by phone
call, email or letter - 1s a good measure of
customer confidence in their tap water
Last year we recerved 4 2 contacts per
1,000 customers, down from 4 5 1n 2008
and 5 0 the year before that

We are confident our performance will
get better as we deliver a £200 miflion
programme o improve our water
treatment works over the next five years
Schemes at Cwellyn, Penybont and
Rhiwgoch water treatment works have
already been completed under early
start funding made available under the
Glas Cymru business model, and the aim
15 to complete the whole programme by
2013 Until then, the risk associated with
a gradual deterioration in the quality of
the raw water we abstract for the pubhc
water supply 1s being mitigated by
additional ultra viclet treatment installed
as a precautionary measure during 2008
and 2009 to protect against the threat to
public health posed by cryptospondium

Managing water quality nsk

We have a Drinking Water Safety Plan for
each of Welsh Water's areas of supply,
which document all potential nisks to
water quality {from source to tap) These
plans are continualty reviewed and
updated Our approach to managing
water quality nsk ncludes the holding

of events on catchment management

to consult and engage with landowners,
local businesses, public health and local
authorities and others whose activities
can have an effect on catchments that
are used for abstraction of drinking water
The aim is to increase understanding of
the potential nisks to water supply and
public health, and how we can best work
together to mimimise those nisks

Glas Cymyru Cyfyngedig
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Water Health Partnershup for Wales
The annual meeting of the Water
Health Partnership for Wales {(WHPW)
approved three traiming events across
Wales in spring 2010 76 people
attended with representation from
most Local Authonties, the National
Public Health Service and the EA

The events were designed to improve
inter-agency knowledge of public
health and drninking water quality
issues and included discussion of the
common causes of customer complaints
and on health 1ssues associated with
lead and cryptosporidium in water
Each was followed by a visit to a local
water treatment works

Initiated by Welsh Water four years ago,
the WHPW 1s a good example of the
‘working together’ approach we prefer
to adopt

Glas Cymru Cyfyngedig
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Reliabihity of supply

Welsh Water 1s near the top of the

industry league tables for some key

measures of customer service In 2009

» the number of properties at risk of low
water pressure was 194 {or 0 014% of
the 13 million properties we supply}

» the number of properties where water
supphes were cut off without warning
for more than 6 hours (because of a
burst pipe, third party damage or over-
run on planned work) fell from 894
to 477, and, of these, the properttes
affected by an interruption of more
than 12 hours was 40 (down 90%
from411)

A burst man incident at Treharns

showed a weakness in our telephony
arrangements when customers struggled
to contact us As a result, we have brought
forward the introduction of a £3 8 rullion
telephony system (part of our £100 millton
programme of IT enabled change) which
will go hive in autumn 2010

We also monitor water pressure at the
tap in each of our supply zones because
pressure can change as new propertres
are connected to the network or the
distribution network 15 re configured for
water quality reasons Last year, we dealt
with possible low pressure problems at
over 2,000 properties

n
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SAFEGUARDING THE
ENVIRONMENT TODAY

It is our responsibility to collect
and treat our customers’
wastewater in a way that
protects public health and the
environment - in many places
this is made more difficult by
the volume of highway and
surface water that drains into
the public sewer network.

14

We collect and treat 5% of the UK’s total
wastewater flow yet operate 13% of the
UK's treatment works — over 800 of them
Because of cur topography, we employ
more assets per customer than most
other water compantes in England and
Wales In our 19,000 km sewer network we
have seme 1,800 pumping stations and
3,500 combined sewer overflows How
we manage these assets 1s monitared by
the EA against a range of regulatory and
other measures of performance, which
together ensure the quahty and rehiability
of service recerved by our customers

and our comphance with environmental
standards

Wales can boast of some of the highest
quality rivers and coastal waters in the UK
We are proud of the part we have played in
securing this outcome We have invested
more than £2 bullion over the last 15 years
to protect this high quality environment,
which has contributed to the number of
Blue Flags awarded to Wales nsing from

2 to 50, but maintaining this will continue
to be areal challenge

Wastewater treatment compliance

All of our wastewater treatment works
have discharge consents which are
regulated by the EA Some 550 of them
also have more detailed consents where
the treated water discharge 1s sampled
over the course of the year and tested
aganst parameters, mcluding biological
oxygen demand, suspended solids and
ammonia

Comphiance with what are called‘look
up’discharge consents — permits for the
discharge of waste water - was 100% in
2008, but shpped to 99 85% 1n 2009 after
10 small wastewater treatment works
failled to meet the required standard,
maost of them for the first time i many
years Most of these serve a population
of less than 500 and have biological
treatment processes that are vulnerable
to surface water flows durning severe
wet weather and to unauthorised
connections These works simply could
not cope with the heavy rain and high
storm water flows we saw in 2009

We have therefore looked again at this
nsk at all our small works, and during the
coming five years, we will be investing
further to protect Wales's nver and coastal
envirohment

Reliability of the sewer network

In 2009, the number of sewer flooding
madents caused by blockages, collapsed
sewers or an overload of wastewater,

fell by around 20% ~ despite periods of
prolonged heavy ramfall, and that fact
that around a third of our sewer network
1s more than 100 years old However,

the number of sewaer collapses we dealt
with - 28 for every 1,000km of marn -
remains one of the highest rates of asset
breakdown in the industry Reducing the
nsk of flooding and pollution from asset
breakdown remains one of our biggest
challenges

Over the last regulatory period 2005-10,
we invested £67 million to reduce the

nsk of repeat flooding for over 1,200
properties As a result of mvestment

or intervention we made last year, 117
properties were removed from the register
of properties at nsk of repeat flooding
foliowing heavy rainfall, but this was offset
by the additton of 102 new properties

The reqister at 31 March 2010 compnsed
250 properties (2009 265) We recognise
that this 1s the most senous service
shortfall we can have and thatitis
especally hazardous to public health, so
we are pleased that Welsh Water came

top in the Consumer Council for Water's
assessment of company responses to
sewer flooding In the next five years we
will be spending around £60 milhon to
further reduce the nsk of sewer flooding

Disappointingly, the number of senous
poltunion incidents caused by asset
breakdown and problems on our sewer
network rose from three in 2008 - one of
the best performances in the industry -
to seven last year, the same asin 2007
The total number of pollution inaidents
also went up last year to over 300 We
have already invested £6 million to
increase the remote monitoring of flows
in our sewers, which 1s helping us to
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predict sewer overload and blockages
We have set aside a further £20 million
for schemes to substantially reduce the
number of pollution inaidents caused by
our operations over the next five years

Coastal and river water quality

In 2009 all of Wales's 81 EU-designated
beaches passed the ‘mandatory’ bathing
water standard - and 91% of them, the
hughest preportion for any region of the
UK, passed the much higher‘guideline’
standard This result has helped secure
50 Btue Flag beach and marina awards
for the 2010 bathing season {2009 47),
which 1s again over one third of the total
awarded for the UK Wales also secured
48 Green Coast awards for rural beaches
This1s important to the Welsh tourist
industry, because Welsh Assembly
Government statistics tell us that the
tounst industry employs 8% of the Welsh
workforce and ¢ontnbutes some £3 billion
a year to the Welsh economy

The quality of rivers in Wales continues to
be amongst the best in the UK The latest
available survey of nver water quality,
published by the EA, confirmed that more
than 90% of nivers in Wales were classed as
having goed or very good chemical and
biological water quality

Water abstraction and leakage
Water 15 a valuable resource and we
abstract from our rivers no more than
we need to for public water supply

Wastewater investment in the year

Spend

fm

Wastewater treatment works improvements 17
Combined sewer averflows 50
Sewer flooding prevention 15
Sewerage maintenance 13
Wastewater asset mantenance ]
Sludge development (AD) 3%
New development 5
Other 30
Total 187
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We are committed to keeping leakage —
in other words, wastage - to a minimum
With 27,000km of mains network, the
average age of which 1s more than 60
years, this requires a continuous cycle of
work Last year we repaired on average
50 bursts and leaks every day

in 2009-10 we met our mandatory
target for leakage reduction, and over
the last five years we have reduced
leakage by 33 mega htres a day (MI/d)
or 15% This means that leakage in our
region, once one of the highest in the
UK, 1s now in line with the water industry
average Achieving the leakage target
was a big challenge because there was
agarn a sharp increase in leakage from
burst pipes in the thaw following a
penod of prolonged freezing weather
in December and January At one stage
we were putting nearly 20% more

water Into supply, around the same as
the peak summer demand for water In
the past two years To hit the leakage
target required a major reallocation of
resources and round -the-clock seven-
day working, at an additional cost of
some £2 million

The saving achieved In leakage reduction
last year 1s reflected in a drop in the
average amount of water leaving our
treatment works (known as distnibution
input) of 13MI/d At 816MI/d, distribution
input last year was 52MI/d lower than in
2004-05
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SAFEGUARDING THE
ENVIRONMENT FOR
TOMORROW

We aim to operate our business
In a sustainable way that
safeguards the environment
and, where an impact s
unavoidable, in a way that
minimises any adverse
environmental effect.

We place a strong emphasis on the
careful management of the water
resources In our area, and we are working
to mitigate the expected impact of
chimate change on our industry as well as
to reduce Welsh Water's carbon footprint

Managing water resources

Cur Job 1s to ensure that our customers
have sufficient water to meet their needs
today and in the future In terms of water
resources, we are In a relatively strong
position In Wales, but we have a number
of zones where demand 1s exceeding - or
i1s forecast to exceed — available supply in
drought conditions This 1s complicated
by the fact that Welsh Water has nearly
half the industry’s discrete water resource
zones, which can mean that our ability to
transfer water from one area to another
can be himited

Where we obtain our water from and
our plans to manage the balance
between supply and demand are set
out in our draft 25-year water resource
management plan, but this 1s to be
republished following confirmation

by the EA of substantial reductions in
water abstraction from some rivers to
comply with the Habatats Directive in this
plan we have to consider all the factors
which could potentially impact upon
either the availabifity of water supplies
or the demands made on our resources
Thts also includes forecast changes in
population, the amount of water we all
use and the effects of cimate change

Water efficiency

We promote water efficiency through
our ‘Be Waterwise’ campaign, through
which we encourage customers to use
water wisely and avoid waste - in the
interests of both the environment and
customers Our core message is‘use as
much dninking water as you need, but
please don’t waste 1t; and that small
measures to save water can, when
aggregated, help manage the effects of
chmate change and contan any increase
in overall water consumption

As part of the ‘Be Waterwise’ campaign we
attend events and roadshows arcund our
region, where we give customers advice
and free water saving astern devices
called ‘hippo-bags’ Information is also
available via our website and publications
on how to save water in the home and
the garden Water efficiency is a core
therne in our education programme
through schools and in the community
(see page 30}

Clrmate change and carbon

The pattern of greater vanability in
weather conditions and more extreme
weather events, which we have seenn
each of the past three years, was repeated
in 2009-10 Irrespective of whether this
can be attributable to chmate change,

it 1s having a significant impact on

our business Last year saw fallures at a
number of small wastewater treatment
works where problems have not been
seen before, and we are investigating
why variable weather conditions appear
to be having more of an impact in some
parts of our region than in others

Treating and pumping water and
wastewater across a large regron of
variable terrain makes Welsh Water a
high energy user and one of the top
carbon emitters in Wales Each year there
15 an upward pressure on energy use
ansting from investment in new assets
and In treatment processes required to
meet higher drinking water quahty and
environmental standards On a hke for
like basis, last year carbon emissions rose
by under 1% to 252,760 tonnes of CO2
equivalent (tCO), although a further
63,000tCO2 needs to be added to total
emissions following a change in the
DEFRA Guidehnes which no longer allow
credits for electricity bought from good
quabity CH sources (often referred to as
‘brown energy’) This shows how difficult
it will be to meet our aim of reducing
carbon emissions hy 25% by 2015
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Reducing our carbon footprint

Welsh Water was one of seven
organisations awarded the Carbon Trust
Standard in 2009 after demonstrating our
commutment to carbon reduction The
Carbon Trust commended the company’s
programme including the tnalhing of

low carbon treatment, sustainable

urban drainage schemes and surface
water management, our investment

in advanced sludge digestion and
renewable energy generation, and a wide
ranging energy efficiency programme

80% of Welsh Water’s carbon emissions
relate to energy use, so control of
energy costs has both financial and
envircnmental benefits After a review of
the efficiency of the aeration process at
our largest wastewater treatment works
in Cardhff, the lessons learnt have been
extended to five other works and, in the
first full year of operation, this will save
over six gigawatt hours of energy, cr
mote than £300,000

In 2009-10, Welsh Water increased its
renewable energy generation by over
30% to 10 7MWh This comes mainly
from combined heat and power {CHP}
schemes, which capture and burn‘waste’
methane gas at 12 wastewater treatment
works But it also includes the first of our
advanced digestion schemes - which
convert wastewater sludge to electncity
- being commssicned under a broader
£110 rmillion programme
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This 1s at Exygn in Herefordshire, which
has been generating power since
October 2009 Two further schemes
will be completed by Spring 2011 at
our Cardiff and Afan works which, wath
Eign, will delwer around 35GWh of
green energy

Also in 2009-10

» feasibility studies for 2 hydro-
generation schemes were completed,
for which we have set aside some
£6 million over the next five years to
provide micro hydro capacity at up to
a dozen sites

» smallimprovements in efficiency
are Important too, especially in such
a large network of assets Atour
wastewater works at Llanina in west
Wales we invested £6,500 to replace
a blower, saving £,000 in operating
costs each year We monitor ¢losely
the operational and energy efficiency
of all plant - replacing an inefficient
pump, of which Welsh Water has many
thousands, can save up t0 20% 1n
energy use

Recycling waste

Each year Welsh Water uses some
200,000 tennes of aggregate and needs
to dispose of around 300,000 tonnes of
excavation and canstruction waste

We signed up in 2008 to the government-
sponsored WRAP Utllity Industry
Agreement, which promotes good
practice to mimimise the unnecessary
use of virgin aggregate resources and
the deposit of construction waste to
landfill We can report that in 2009-10
the proportion of waste we diverted

from landfill -1 e reused or recycled -
increased to around 70%, and that less
than 0 5% of the waste we send to landfill
15 hazardeus Our goal will be to mamtain
and, where possible, build on thes level of
performance in the coming five years
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MEETING CUSTOMERS’
EXPECTATIONS

We want all our customers to

feel confident that their water
supply and sewerage services
are well looked after.

22

Improving customer service

During 2010, Welsh Water i1s opening a
new customer contact and operations
centre in Cardiff, which will see the
benefits of our five-year £100 millioh
programme to update a number of key
IT systems and working practices Staff at
the new centre will have more real-time
formation avarlable to them, enabling
us to deal with customer quenes and
problems more efficiently Our aim 1s

to get things night first ime and give
our customers a prompt and courteous
response every time they contact us

Last year we dealt with nearly 1 3 million
telephone calls, shghtly up on the
previous year Over 70% of the calls we
get are from customers wanting to pay
their bill or who have a bill or payment
plan query, a quarter relate to water or
sewerage services and the remaining
calls relate to metering and new
connection services More customers are
continuing to contact us as a result of
the current difficult economic climate,
and many calls are taking longer than

in the past to deal with

Mainly because of a single incident at
Treharns, the total number of calls during
the year that got an engaged tone
because all staff were busy on another
call rose to around 1%, from the more
typical 0 3% We have responded to this
by bringing forward investment in a new
telephony system which will come online
In our new contact and operations centre
in autumin 2010

Helping customers pay their bill

Last year we introduced Welsh Water Assist
- a new tanff designed to help households
on low mcomes and customers with
particular needs Init's first year this new
tariff capped the bill for over 8,000 eligible
customers at £250

A further 13,000 customers also took
advantage of our other assistance
tanff, Water Direct, which reduces the
bill by £25 when customers opt to pay

their water bill by direct deduction
from benefits In addition, over 3,000
customers have so far benefited from our
Customer Assistance Fund This scheme
1s run with the assistance of the Citizens
Advice Bureau to help customers who
have fallen into arrears with their bills,
and by 31 March 2010 the total value
of this help prowided had reached over
£2 milhon All our assistance tanffs are
designed to be self funding

Additional Services

Many of our customers may have other
needs for which we offer a range of
additional services These include large
print or Braille bills, bottled water durnng
emergencies, a password scheme for
hame visits and a ‘knock and wait' service
for those who need a little more time to
answer the door At the end of the year
6,690 customers were registered for one
or more of these additional services,
significantly more than the year before

Customer satisfaction

The industry regulator, Ofwat, carnes

out independent research Into customer
satisfaction with telephone call handling
across the sector, and last year we again
scored one of the best results in the
industry —- 4 72 out of 5 {up from 4 65)

We also commussion independent market
research (Beaufort Research randomly
select 1,000 customers twice a year} to
track customer views and satisfaction
levels on a range of issues and services,
including satisfaction with drinking water
quality, coastal environmental quahty and
how our customers judge Welsh Water’s
value for money when compared to other
utiities The latest research shows that
satisfaction with drinking water quality
remains high Holden Pearmain also
carnes out quarterly research on how

we deliver services to customers who
have had reason to contact us with a
problem The output from these studies
helps inform our strategies and target
initiatives for the future
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Guaranteed Standards

All the water companies in England and
Wales have to maintain certain minimum
guaranteed standards, and compensation
payments are made if those standards
are not met Last year, Welsh Water made
1,429 payments under the industry’s
guaranteed standards, nearly 50% fewer
than the year before 34% of payments
related to missed appointments

Customer complaints

In 2009-10 we received 13,313 wntten
complaints, an increase of 5 6% on last
year Around two thirds of all complaints
relate to billing 1ssues (we now meter
485,000 customers compared to 314,000
five years ago), and 22% of complants
are now received by email - five years
ago these were aranity Last year we
responded to 99 6% of these written
complaints within 10 working days, up
from 99 3% the previous year
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We are targeting action to improve

our performance at the nearly 50%

of complaints which we judge as
avoidable - where a customer has had

ta complain because we have not done
what we promised to do or have not kept
them informed Most of the remaining
complaints are about disputed bills,
charging policy or our debt recovery
activities

The number of wntten complaints that
had to be escalated to a Director because
a customer was not happy with our first
reply was around 5%, and the number of
camplaints investigated by the Consumer
Counail for Water Wales fell from 41 1in
2008-09 to 10 this year
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EMPLOYER
OF CHOICE

We want everyone who works
for Welsh Water to recognise
the importance of the job we
do for the three million people
who rely on us.
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In 2009-10 the 220 people directly
employed by Welsh Water were
respansible for financal management,
strategic asset planning and investment,
managing regulatory issues and

ensuring that our outsourced working
arrangements delivered an efficient and
high quality service to Welsh Water’s
customers This changed in April and May
2010 when almost 1,600 staff who deliver
day-to-day operations and maintenance
services to customers, who were
previously employed by UUOS and KWS,
transferred to Welsh Water under the
Transfer of Undertaking Regulations (for
more information see page 7) Merging
three teams with different cultures is an
additienal challenge for the company and
ensuring that customer service and safety
standards are maintained during this
period of change Is a top priority for us

The final quarter of last year was
committed to planning the transition for
this major restructurning of the business,
and included the appointment of a
new leadership team reporting to the
Directors The new team covers some
20 key roles, of which a quarter has
been filled by Individuals from outside
of Welsh Water and its service partners
The new structure Is designed to
ensure that we take full advantage of
the operating systems and procedures
introduced under our programme of
IT-enabled change and will support

our continued drive to Improve service
standards and efficiency still further -
building on our strong track record
since 2001

There are some things that will not
change under this new structure

Our focus stays firmly fixed on protecting
public health, the environment and

the occupational health and safety of
those who work for us Our culture will
remain one in which all our people
understand the vital purpose of Welsh
Water and their role in achieving this
purpose, where they feel they accomplish
something worthwhile at work and
regard Welsh Water as a good employer
These key messages were reinforced

by our Managing Director in a series of
20 roadshow events tin March and Apnl
2010, attended by 95% of all staff

To meet the challenging efficiency targets
set for the next five years, we will need

to reduce the total number of people
employed by Welsh Water by some 300
This will be achieved under ourWorking
Together Agreement with the trade unions,
the essential principles of which have
remained in ptace since they were first
established in the mid 1990°s Wherever
possibfe, staff reduction will be achteved
by a combination of retirement, natural
movement and voluntary severance

At the same time, we will maintain

the progress of recent years through
continued investment in operator
training and management development
traiming We will continue our graduate
recruitment programme through which
we aim to attract potential leaders for
the future with appropnate skills in
engineening and scientific disciplines
To achieve this, we have further
strengthened our ties with a number

of universities to enable us to attract
strong candidates from the disciplines
we most need

Asset Management Alliance

For the past five years, the Welsh Water
Asset Management Alliance (AMA), which
includes Welsh Water and 1ts capital
investment and other service partners,
has set a high standard in partnership
working - and we will not lose thus under
our new structure We will continue

to take a collaborative approach with

all parues working together to deliver

a common set of business objectives

The AMA supports these objectives

by premoting a safe and stimulating
working environment for our staff, by
focusing on continuous improvement

to deliver the nght balance of ‘best in
class’and value of money customer
service, and by promoting Welsh Water
as a credible and responsible business in
terms of our impact on the environment
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Health and safety

In the past five years we have reduced
the number of reportable accidents by
15% and we have one of the best safety
records in the sector But 2009-10 was
disappointing because performance
shpped, although the number of non-
reportable accidents reduced to 7,289
{2008-09 7,898) Last year, there were
39 reportable acctdents Returning to
an improving trend ts our priornity for
next year

We operate a‘'Journey to Zero' strategy
and a no-blame safety cuiture, which
encourages near-hit reporting - an event
that could have caused injury to staff but
which did not on this occasion - so that
lessons for continuous impravement can
be taken on board We keep the focus of
staff across the busmess on occupational
health and safety through a risk-based
programme |n 2009-10 this involved
delivering 171 lacal improvement

plans, which focus on the major risks

in each part of the business and which
are overseen by managers who hold a
NEBOSH (National Exarmunation Board

in Occupational Safety and Health)
accredited health and safety qualification
Thus strategy and approach has not
changed under our new structure
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We have maintained our certification to
the OHSAS (Occupational Health and
Safety Adwisory Services) 18001 2007
international standard for occupational
health and safety management with

an extended scope of service Through

a new system introduced last year the
health and safety performance of all
mamn contractors and sub-contractors

1s immediately visible to Welsh Water,
including the results of Independent
audits conducted on our behalf In 2009-
10, six partners were audited under an
externally awarded contract which audits
all partners at least once in every three
years In additton there were over 40
reviews under Welsh Water’s programme
of cross-audit in which contract partners
audit each ather to share best practice
and drive improvement - there have
been 280 of these revtews since 2001
Last year, Welsh Water's annual health
and safety conference was attended

by aover 300 staff from across the AMA,
when three health and safety awards
were 1ssued and staff were able to gain
from the expenence of promment
independent speakers

Further details of our health and safety
performance and approach are available in
our 2010 Health and Safety Report’ which
1s avarlable on our website
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RESPONSIBLE BUSINESS

We are committed to being a
good neighbour and a trusted
partner in the communities
we serve,
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Managing our community assets

We are the custodian of a national asset
i Wales - some 40,000 hectares of scenic
land that is rich in both biodiversity

and herntage This land base also
provides significant opportunity for
public recreation, and each year almost
a million people visit one of the 17
major reservorr sites where we provide
a variety of sporting, recreational and
leisure resources This makes a valuable
contribution to tourism and the local
economy, and encourages public health
and well being

We encourage conservation best
practice across the business A good
example of this ts at Talybont in Powys,
where in 2009 we commusstoned a

£17 million refurbishment of our
treatment works and where staff in our
graduate development programme

are working with the Brecon Beacons
National Park to provide a new wetland
and wildflower conservation area

This followed a review of the site-specific
habitat and species plan which we
implement at all our major reservoirs,
and gave Welsh Water the opportunity to
support the delivery of the biodiversity
action plans of the National Park

Mimimising the impact of our activities
We cannot deliver essential water and
sewerage services without having to dig
up roads to lay and refurbish pipes, have
matenals delivered to our construction
sites or have waste removed from our
treatment works It 1s pleasing therefore
that a number of our schemes have
recerved an award under the National
Considerate Construction Scheme where
our arrangements for public safety

and community impact and haison are
independently assessed Itis always

the awm of Welsh Water to minirmse the
disruptive impact of aur activities

Supporting education

Last year was another successful year
for cur education service, with some
21,000 pnmary school children taking
part in our education activities under
our Living and Learning with Water
programme, and almost 12,000 children
visited one of our four education
centres, down shghtly because of the
poor weather last year These ‘hands on’
lessons, provided free of charge and
designed and delivered by qualified
teachers, are aimed at pupils from 7-11
years old and cover different aspects

of science, geography, history and
sustainable development Lessons are
backed up by our education website
(www hivingandlearntngwithwater com)
where teachers can download matenals
and information to suppert them in the
classroom

The range of free education resources
was extended last year with the launch of
a new education pack for GCSE and BTEC
students of applied saience Designed

in collaboration with science teachers
from across Wales to fit closely with the
curriculum, the new resource provides
students with an msight mnto how science
1s used in the workplace and where there
are opportunittes for saence-based
employment

Our penpatetic community programme
delvers vital messages on water
conservation and public safety to the
wider community and to schools and
community groups unable to visit one
of our centres In the last acadermc year,
this service delivered 85 community-
based sessions, reaching some 9,000
additional young people and adult
learners, including events supported by
the Hereford Waterworks Museum and
the National Botanical Gardens, two of
Welsh Water’s six education partners
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Over 1,600 schools in cur region are

registered with Eco-5chools (whe are

also an education partner), for who

we sponsor a ‘water efficiency award’

Working with Eco-5chools we enccurage

water efficiency by

» 15sung water efficiency packs

» providing advice through the Eco-
Schools handbook and website

At schoals where trials have been
conducted, it has been demonstrated
that involving schoclchildren in water
efficiency measures and the adoption
of water efficent devices can reduce
metered consumption by up to 40% In
both primary and secendary schools

Over 100 teacher placement students in
their finat year at UWIC (Cardiff) spent
two days at Cog Moors Living and
Learmng with Water Centre finding out
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about the delivery of environmental
education and the resources that will

be available when they secure teaching
positions in the future In addition, last
year 90 teachers attended environmental
education awareness events at one of
Welsh Water's four centres

Supporting community projects

As befits our ‘not-for-profit’ business
maodel, we do not engage in corporate
sponsorship Instead we focus on
supporting staff in community schemes
Through a‘World of Work’scheme our
staff provide business mentoring and
interview support for young people
about to teave school and, under our
management development programme,
staff take part in a volunteer project to
enhance their skills and help the local
community

Supported by Business in the
Community’s ‘Cares Scheme’, 12 staff
tackled an environmental project at
Treforest Wholefood Association, a social
enterpnse committed to educating
and training people in sustainable
herticulture, including groups of
excluded 16-18 year-olds, unemployed
and school children This involved staff
in planning, financing and helping to
restore and conserve a community
allotment and local pond habitat

WaterAid

We support WaterAid, the mternational
chanty, which brings sustamnable water
and sanitation schemes and hygiene
education to some of the world’s
poorest commumties in Africa and Asia
Last year staff at Welsh Water raised
almost £130,000 for the chanty
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

The Board considers that
maintaining gearing at around
70% will provide best value for
money for customers, balancing
the cost of funding the business
with continued investment

in important projects to
Improve customer service,
dnnking water quality and the
environment.
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While Glas Cymru has not been immune
to the impact of the recent economic
recession, we have delivered a sound
financial performance during the year to
31 March 2010 However, achievement
of Ofwat’s Final Determination for 2010
to 201515 a big challenge and, as a result,
we are making a major change to our
business operations

Appormnted revenue has grown due

to regulatory price increases which
support our extensive capital iInvestment
and the delivery of better customer
service, after taking into account the
‘customer dividend’ of £22 per customer
Operattonal expenditure (before
exceptional items) has fallen due to lower
power costs, partly offset by an increase
in the bad debt charge

Capital investment in our regulated water
and wastewater operations, including
infrastructure renewals expenditure
(IRE"), amounted to £361 milion during
the year This s 2% higher than last

year, and represents a record level of
nvestment spend for Glas Cymru

Revenue

Glas Cymru’s turnover in the year to 31
March 2010 was £688 mullion (2009 £657
million), an increase of 4 7% on last year
This increase primarily reflects the pnce
increase of 5 4%, however our ‘customer
dividend’ policy means that our total
charges were some £28 million lower than
if we had apphed the full price increase
determmed by Ofwat (2009 £27 miilion
lower) Additional revenue from new
customers has been offset by household
customers switching to metered charging

Our unique range of customer assistance
tanffs has continued to help support
customers who have difficulty paying
their bills By 31 March 2010 some 27,000
customaers were benefiting from cne of
these taniffs

Operating expenditure

Glas Cymru’s total operational costs
(excluding IRE and depreciation and
before exceptional items) were £266
million {2009 £267 millicn), lower power
costs being offset by an increase in the
provision for bad debts

In the years to 31 March 2010, around
two thirds of operational costs related
to outsourced service contracts The
major contracts were with UUQS (for
the operation of the water network and
the wastewater network in North Wales)
and with KWS (for the operation of the
wastewater network in South Wales
and Herefordshire} These contracts
included a target cost mechanism
aimed at enhancing operating efficency
to the end of the AMP4 regulatory
period In 2010

All water and sewerage companies need
to draw on significant energy resources,
particularly for water treatment and
pumping processes, and Welsh Water -
with its network spread across Wales's
undulating topography — 15 no exception
This year we have experienced reductions
in energy pnces which have seen power
costs fall by around 20% to £35 million
(2009 £43 mithon)

Customer debt recovery remains a

high prionity for Welsh Water and our
billing and income contract partner,
Veolia Water In a challenging econormic
environment, in which water companies
have no sanction to disconnect supplies
to non-paying domestic customers,

cash collection has continued to be
challenging The bad debt charge for the
year of £22 milion {2009 £19 rmullion)
represents around 3% of annual turnover
(2009 3%), and reflects an increase in the
provision based on a review of historical
collections and having regard to the
detenioration experienced, particularly
dunng the first half of the year

IRE has fallen by some 24% on the prior
year, the lower charge reflecting the
completion of the Section 19 programme:
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which has resulted in the refurbishment
of 1,800km of trunk mains over the
course of the five years ta March 2010

Exceptional operational expenditure
On 9 February 2010 1t was announced
that Welsh Water was to undertake the
biggest restructuring of the company
since it was bought by Glas Cymru and
became a‘not-for-profit’company - to
meet the toughest efficiency targets the
company has ever faced

The price hmits for the next five years,

set last November by Ofwat, will allow
Welsh Water to invest £1 2 bill:on in water
quality and other improvements But
Welsh Water must also reduce its day-
to-day operating costs by some 20% to
enable the average household bill to fall
by £30 before inflation
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Since 2001, UUOS and then also KWS
have helped us to cut our operating
costs by mare than any other water and
sewerage company in the regulated
water industry in England and Wales
But in order to deliver the price
reductions required over the next five
years we must make a further step
change in our cost efficiency

Over the past year we have had lengthy
discussions with UUOS and KWS through
the five-yearly price and performance
review of the contracts we undertook
with both companies We recognise
and appreciate the considerable efforts
made by both companies to meet our
requirements However, it did not prove
possible to reach agreement with either
company In relation to the terms for a
continuation of those contracts for a
further five years

In ight of this, we reached agreement
with both UUQOS and KWS that their
staff would transfer to Welsh Water

On 1 Apnl 2010 1,093 UUOS employees
transferred, followed by 476 KWS
employees on 1 May 2010

We have also announced, as part of the
drive to cut our operating costs by 20%,
a phased reduction, over the next five
years, of around 300 1n the number of
people required to deliver water and
wastewater services to Welsh Water's
customers We are working closely with
staff and our trade union colleagues
and intend to achieve this through a
combination of retirements, natural staff
turnover and voluntary severance

Net debt and reserves

2010 2009
Asat31 March Em fm
Regulatory Capital Value (RCY) 3,737 3,626
Net debt (2,669} {2,625)
“Reserves’ (RCV less net debt) 1,068 1,001
Geanng (net debt/RCV}
Sentor debt 68% 69%
Senior debt -+ class C bonds % 712%
Total debt H% 72%
3s
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Included in the 2009-10 results are
exceptional items totalling £30 million
These provide for the costs of terminating
the UUOS and KWS contracts and

for the estimated severance pay and
pension top-up required to achteve our
planned headcount reduction These are
necessary enabling costs which will help
us to create the efficiencies required to
meet Ofwat’s challenging target

Financing <osts

Net interest payable {excluding loss on
denvatives) of £98 million 1s £68 million
lower than last year The impact of lower
Interest rates has been combined with an
indexation credit in respect of the group’s
index-linked bends (calculated using

July 2008 to July 2009 RPi} The average
cost of debt during the period was 3 7%
(2009 6 6%)

In response to the cnisis in the banking
markets, the Company tightened its
critena for iInvesting cash deposits such
that maximum deposits with any single
counterparty were reduced and the
maximum term limited to 3 months
Consequently, the average interest
receivable rate has fallen from 3 9% to
0 4% and remains below the average

3 month LIBOR over the same pernod
(which fell from 4 4% to 0 8%)

Glas Cymru has a number of swap
contracts and, while these are effective
commercial hedges, they do not qualfy
for hedge accounting under 1AS 39
Although there I1s no impact on cash
flaws, there 1s significant volatility in the
income statement and fair value losses in
2009-10 amounited to £15 mithon (2009
£87 million} Thus has resulted in a total
lrability of £173 million in the balance
sheet but, assuming that the swaps are
held to matunty, this will ultimately
reduce to nil
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Profit befare taxation and

‘customer dividend’

Excluding fair value movements and
exceptional items, the profit before tax
was £107 mullion (2009 loss before tax of
£11 milhon) This profit was made after
funding the ‘customer dividend’ of £22
for all customers receiving both water
and wastewater services, at a total of
£28 milhon {2009 £21 per customer,
totalling £27 milhon) Since 2003,
‘tustomer dividends’ have totalled
some £152 million

Taxation

The taxation credit for the year of

£2 mallion compnises a current year
deferred tax charge of £16 mullion, offset
by a prior year tax credit of £18 million
The pnor year tax credit is principally
due to the agreement of tax allowances
on the Company’s water mains
refurbishment programme The group
has tax trading losses carned forward of
approximately £288 million, which the
group believes should be sufficient to
eliminate tax on trading profits in the five
years ending 31 March 2015, subject to
any changes in tax law

Liquidity

Glas Cymru aims to offer a secure, low
rnsk investment to long-term investors

By building and maintaining a strong
financial position, we intend to keep

our borrowing costs low, enabling us to
finance future investrment in the business
efficiently, whilst retaining the scope to
return money to our customers and keep
bills affordable

The company had streng hquidity as

at 31 March 2010 - cash balances of
£249 million, together with an undrawn
European investment Bank (‘EIB’) facility
of £75 million and undrawn revolving
credit facilities of £345 million The cash
batances include the proceeds of the
£140 million index-linked bond 1ssue on
31 March 2010

On 7 May 2010, in view of the very high
level of available liquidity (£669 mullion),
the level of undrawn revolving credit
facilives was reduced to £100 millien
and on 3 June 2010 the Group agreed
to repurchase £113 mullion of Class

C1 bonds following a tender offer to
bond holders The amount repurchased
represents a take-up of 90% and
settlement will be made in cash on

7 June 2010

Gearing and financral reserves

On Glas Cymru's acquisition of Welsh
Water in May 2001, gearing stcod at
93% Since then, its financial position has
improved steadily, such that gearing had
fallen to 719% as at 31 March 2010 and
‘financial reserves’ (RCV less net debt)
were almost £1 1 billion

Credit ratings and bond spreads

The strong credit quality of the business
i1s reflected in credit ratings which

are now the highestin the water

sector, despite a very challenging

Final Determination On 8 March 2010
Standard & Poor’s placed Glas Cymru’s
ratings on negative cutlook, reflecting
their assessment of the potential impact
of Ofwat’s Final Determination following
the 2009 Pnce Review

There has been a significant downward
reductron in the spread differential to
Government gilts during the year across
the water sector, reflecting an easing of
the difficult credit conditions over the last
year Glas Cymru bonds continue to trade
at spread differentials generally below
those of equivalent water sector bonds of
sirmalar maturives

Debt financing and interest

rate management

Despite difficult conchitions in the
borrowing and capital markets, an

31 March 2010 Glas Cymru issued

£140 million of 2048 index-hinked series
B bonds A further £35 mullion of funding,
provided by KIW bank, was drawn on

15 December 2009
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To protect Glas Cymru’s ugh credit
quahty, the Board has always adopted
prudent financial policies, predommnantly
cavernng the faang of interest rates

and the investment of cash balances
Glas Cymru's policy is to mimmise its
exposure to movements In market rates,
with a mimmum of 85% of 1ts hallines
being fixed rate, Index-linked to the

UK Retail Price Index ('RPI’} or matched
by cash balances The Board considers
that hnking debt to UK RPI inflation

1s particularly appropnate, as Welsh
Water’s revenues and Regulatory Capital
Value are also linked to RPI through

the regulatory system operated by
Ofwat Implementation of the pohicies i1s
delegated to a small team of specialists
which operates to ensure that Welsh
Water meets the requirements of its
licence, and therefore undertakes no
speculative trading As at 31 March 2010,
approximately 60% of gross debt was
index-linked via bonds and derivatives
(2009 58%)

The expected matunity of the outstanding
fixed rate and index-linked bonds ranges
from 2011 to 2057, with not more than
20% falling due n any two year period, In
accordance with our refinancing policy

Capital investment

Glas Cymru’s strong financial position has
been built up over the last eight years,
and provides a stable base from which it
can respond positively to the challenges
of the recent economic recesston and

drive forward 11s largest ever capital
programme Over £1 5 billion has been
invested since April 2005, bringing
sustained impravements to customer
service, drinking water quality and the
environment

Total capital expenditure by Welsh Water
duning the year {including IRE) was a
record £361 million (2009 £355 milhion),
bringing the total expenditure over the
five year AMP4 period to £1,521 million
Welsh Water works with an alliance of
capital investment partners to deliver the
investment programme at the best value
for money for customers Welsh Water is
planning to invest some £1 2 allion over
the next AMP penod which will run from
2010 to 2015

Looking ahead

The Board’s policy 15 to reduce geaning to
around 70%, and mawntawn it at around
this level A key part of our strategy I1s

to minimise customer bills in the long
term, and the Board judges that this level
of geanng will enable the company to
efficiently fund the AMP5 nvestment
programme which will run to 2015

Ofwat has set us an effictency target of a
reduction of some 20 per cent in our day
to day running costs In addition to the
headcount reduction, we will do this by
exploiting our recent large Investment
in new technelogy, by ehminating the
profit element, overhead and contract
management costs of the previously

Key charactenstics of the bonds currently in i1ssue

outsourced services, and by investing in
‘green energy’ and processes to reduce
power costs This involves considerable
expenditure by the Company and
forms part of our planned £1 2 billion
investment programme to improve
services over the next five years

Inthe face of these major changes,

our priority will remarn the essential
task of guaranteeing safe and rehiable
services for all our customers, as well as
safeguarding the environment

Disclaimer

This report contains certain forward
looking statements with respect to

the future business prospects and the
strategies of the Glas Cymru Group These
statements and forecasts involve nsk and
uncertainty because they refate to events
and depend on circumstances that will
occur in the future There are a number

of factors that could cause actual results
or developments to differ materally

from those expressed or implied by

these forward looking statements

Past performance is no guide to future
performance and persons needing advice
should consult an independent financial
adviser

Credit ratings of Glas Cymru bonds

Bond Nominal Interestrate  Interest Expected Legal Standard

dass {onissue) £m {onissue)  basis matunty matunty & Poor's  Moodys  Fitch i
A 350 6015%  Fieed rate 31 March 2028 31 March 2028 (lass A Bonds A A3 A

M 330 3514%  Index-linked 31 March 2030 31 March 2030 (lass B Bonds A A3 A

AS 107 3512%  index-linked 31 Marth 2031 11 March 2031 (iass C Bonds BBB+ Baal BEB+

Ag* 100 4473% __ Fixed rate 31 March 2057 31 March 2057 The ratings of the Ciass A bonds, which have the benefit of a finandal
Bt 325 6907%  Fixed rate 31 March 2021 31 March 2021 guarantee from MBIA, are the higher of the underlying ratings of these
8 160 4377%  Index-hnked 31 March 2026 31 March 2026 bonds (A3/A7A) and the ratings of MEIA (BB+/B3/-}

84 . 95 4375%  |ndex-tinked 31 March 2027 31 March 2027

BS 55 1375%  Index-linked 31 March 2057 31 March 2057

a* 140 8174%  Fixed rate 31 March 2011 31 March 2036

Boads rssued by D Cyrrru (FRnanang) Lenated For full detadts of bonds refer to Prospectus dated 19 March 2010, avzlable.on our website www.dwromm com

* Swapped to an effective index-lnked rate of 1.35%

**On7 June 2010 followang a formal tender offer, Dvir Cymru (Finanang) Limeted redeemed £112 9 mdiion of the Qass €1 bonds.
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PLANNING FOR
THE FUTURE

The investment decisions we
make today will be feit for
decades to come.

a0

Every five years Ofwat carnes outa
periodic price review, and in December
2009 Ofwat made its Final Determination
setting the price imits and investment
programme which Welsh Water will be
required to deliver in the next five years,
from April 2010 to March 2015

Customer bills and investment

Much of what Welsh Water does to
deliver a high quality and reliable
customer service every day of the year
invalves operating and maintaining a
large network of often very long-life
assets - reservarrs, treatment works,
pumping stations, mains and sewers
The performance of the network s key
to the service we give our customers
as well as our abihty to protect the
environment from pollution The key
discussion, therefore, with our economtc
and quality reguiators during the
periodic price review was the trade-off
between investment In our network of
assets and customer affordability

Under Ofwat’s Final Determinatian,

the average customer bil! for water

and sewerage services In the Welsh
Water region will have fallen by £30
(before inflation) by March 2015

Ofwat also confirmed the capital
Investment programme Welsh Water
will be required to deliver by March
2015, which at £1 2 bilhen 1s about the
same size as the programme for the last
five years This has struck a good balance
between affordability on the one hand
and quality and reliabihity of service on
the other, one we believe our customers
will recognise as good value for money

What we will deliver between

2010 and 2015

Nearly all of the critical investment

we set out in our Final Business Plan

for 20010-15, which we regarded as
necessary to protect public health and
the environment in the region we serve,
has been confirmed in Ofwat’s Final
Determination This will enable us to
begin to make progress towards the
goals set out in 'Our Sustanable Future)

published in 2007, which set out our
long-term wiston for the water industry
IN oUr region

» Protecting public health
Our biggest responsibility 15 1o provide
a safe and rehable drinking water
supply to our customers at all trmes
In the next five years we plan to
improve facilities at 26 water treatment
sttes to deal with detertorating source
water quality and other risks to the
quality of dnnking water identified in
our Drinking Water Safety Plans

£

Safeguarding the environment

In the next five years we are targeting
a sigruficant reduction n flooding
and pollution incidents caused by
breakdowns on our sewer network,
plus additional treatment stages at
various wastewater sites to protect
nver and coastal water quality

» Responding to chmate change
Work s already well advanced on
advanced sludge digestion schemes at
three wastewater sites by which, with
improved energy efficiency, we are
seeking to achieve a 25% reduction in
our ‘carbon footprint’ by 2015 Through
our Green Space Wales strategy in the
next five years, we will also Invest in
sustainable urban drainage schemes
to reduce the risk of flooding from
overloaded sewers, providing added
protection in locations at most risk
of flooding

¥
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Meeting our customers’ expectations
In autumn 2010, we will be opening
our new customer service and
operational control centre in Cardiff,
where the latest technology delivered
under our £10¢ million programme
of IT-enabled change will make it
possible to antictpate service fallures
and improve customer service by
giving first-time resclution to daily
problems The new centre will also
improve our ability to respond to the
need for infrastructure to supply new
housing and to support ecanomic
development
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» Looking after our assets
Qur prionties and long-term
investment decisions are determined
using our Strategic Investment
Planning System The priorines of
Welsh Water are reviewed and updated
annually

b

¥

Financing the business

We are targeting gearing at around
70% and an ‘A grade’ corporate
rating to help drive down the level of
customer bills, which we will achieve
by continuing with our finanaing
strategy (see page 36)

p

W

Employer of chorce

In the final quarter of 2009-10, we
anncunced we would bring the people
who dehver water and sewerage
services Inte the direct employment of
Welsh Water — which was successfully
completed on 1 May 2010 Qur priotity
for the next five years is to iInvest in

the traming and development of this
highly skilled team of people, who are
committed to high quality customer
care and looking after our industry for
future generations
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» Affordability and value for money

Affordabibity will always be a top
prionty for Welsh Water In 2001

Welsh Water's average bill was the
second highest in the industry, but
now it 15 close to the UK average hill

By March 2015 it will be £30 lower than
March 2010, following Ofwat’s Final
Determination We will continue to
address affordability through one of
the widest range of tanffs and schemes
available in the industry designed to
help our least well-off customers
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MANAGING RISK

Glas Cymru cannot diversify
into non-core activities, but
otherwise we face the same
nsks as any other company in
the UK utility sector.

It 15 a key pnnaple of our business model
that Glas Cymru cannot diversify into
activities unrelated to the water and
sewerage business in the region served
by Welsh Water This ensures we cannot
be distracted from the single purpose
for which Glas Cymru was established
and also serves to contain the range

of nsks that we face Many of the nsk
factors affecting the Company are
business nsks which can be mitigated
by ensunng that appropnate controls
are In place However, the Company

15 affected by many nisks outside our
control which could have a matenal
effect on our leng-term performance No
company Is insulated from the impact of
economic recession, climate change or of
a changing regulatory environment The
most important nsks facing Welsh Water
are described below

Business Operations Changes
Followtng the decision to end
arrangements for the outsourcing of the
day-to-day operation and maintenance
of our network of water and sewerage
assets, the proportion of annual
operating and capital expenditure that
will be undertaken by service partners
working for Welsh Water under contract
through competitive tender has

been significantly reduced However,
significant outsourced contracts remain
in place for the design and construction
of major capital investment schemes, for
ICT and for customer contact and billing
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The above change was the Board's
response to meeting the challenges set
by a very tough price review The move
to these new arrangements involved a
pertod of additional uncertainty and nsks
and arrangements were put tn place to
ensure that public health, staff safety,
customer service and environmental
performance standards did not fall This
included detailed and audited transition
project plans and governance, and the
successful closure of the previously
outsourced contracts which enabled the
TUPE transfer of staff to be completed
for UUOS and KWS on 1 Apnl 2010 and

1 May 2010, respectwvely There was
limited additional nisk associated with the
management of business systems and
data as operating partners had always
used Welsh Water's core systems and
processes

Regulatory nsk

Regulatory nsk can anse from Ofwat’s
pnce control determinations, from the
requirement to comply with Ofwat’s
extensive data requirements and

more generally fram changes in the
regulatory environment The changing
nature of regulatory nisk was illustrated
in the 2009 regulatory price review in
which Welsh Water was subject to a
shortfall adjustment of £12 million for
failing, by only a small margin, one of
the asset serviceability standards set
retrospectively by Ofwat for 2005-10

In the penod 2010-15 Ofwat will assess
the water industry against 20 standards
of serviceability

Ofwat’s Final Determination of price
lirmits for the period 2010-15 15 one of

the most challenging Welsh Water has
been set smce privatisation - and we
have the toughest efficiency targets in
the sector Furthermore, Ofwat’s cost
assumptions for the sector are based on
berign economic conditions in which, for
example, power prices and bad debts are
no higher than they were in 2008-09

Welsh Water aims to achieve this cost

reduction by

» explaiting recent large investment in
new technology

» eliminating duplication in
management

» Investing In green energy processes to
reduce power costs

» a phased reduction over the next five
years of around 300 in the number
of staff required to deliver water and
wastewater services, to be achieved by
a combination of retirement, natural
staff turnover and voluntary severance

The net effect of the puce review 1s that
the Company’s financial plans will be
subject to greater uncertainty and so

the company has decided to pursue a
prudent approach to 1ssues such as the
‘customer dividend’ until that uncertainty
15 resolved

One sigmficant regulatory nsk was
removed in Decemnber 2009 when the
European Court of Justice determined
that stretches of the north east Insh Sea
would not be designated as ‘sensitive
waters’under the Urban Wastewater
Treatment Directive This means that
Welsh Water will not have to extend
coastal wastewater treatment works,
avoiding the need for substantial
significant investment

A number of other regulatory risks
remain The expected transfer of private
sewers to Welsh Water will increase

our sewer network by more than 70%,
and we judge that the condition of
these private sewers Is poor - below the
standard of assets that the industry 1s
generally required to operate The Welsh
Assembly Government has indicated that
this transfer will take place sometime
after Apnl 2011

The EA has indicated that Welsh Water
should plan for major reductions in the
volumes of water we abstract from a
number of nvers, mostly in South Wales,
in order to comply with the EU Habitats
Directive
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These potential changes to our
obligations, which together could require
a very large increase in investment
expenditure, are not included in our
investment programme for 2010-15 and,
if confirmed, may fall to be funded
through an ‘interim determination’ of
price irmits or ‘logged up’ to be taken into
account at a subsequent price review

Welsh Water has to provide extensive
data to regulators each year in respect
of all aspects of our business Failure to
provide reliable, accurate and complete
data would trigger regulatory sanctions
and fines, and all regulatory datas
subyject to significant independent
scrutiny and due diligence In 2008, our
process of data collation and vernificaticn
was accredited to 1SQ 9001 2000, and this
accreditation has been retained with an
extended scope of sarvice

Ofwat has a duty to promote competition
where it judges it to be in the best
interests of customers, and in 2009
Judicial clanfication was given on an
important point of principle following
Ofwat's grant of an inset appomtment -
the appointment of a new company to
supply water and sewerage services to

a specific area - to a new entrant in the
water industry

Ofwat’s proposal that the industry
accounts for each element in the ‘value
chain’ separately, as a possible precursor
to legal separation of distinct activittes,
would require changes to the current
legal framework The Welsh Assembly
Government has indicated 1t will consult
on the conclusions of the Cave Review

of competition In water markets Some

of the Review's conclusions would,

if adopted, lead to a change in the
structure of the industry and have serious
implications for the Company The
competitive market in Wales is currently
hmited to business customers using more
than 250 megalitres of water per annum
(50 megalitres in England) - of which
Welsh Water has some 120 customers
who account for around 4% of total
turnover
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Operational risk

We have reassessed operational risk
followtng the expenience of the last few
years where we have expenenced more
extreme patterns of weather, particularly
storms and penods of prolonged freezing
conditions Wales 1s currently one of

the least constrained parts of the UKin
terms of water resources {subject to the
regulatory risk to abstraction licence
review referred to above), but customers
In our region are not immune from the
effects of penods of drought

More generally, operational nsk is vaned
and may include

» the impact of major operational
incidents on public health,
environmental quality or customer
service, whether ansing from
equipment faiture, from natural

events - such as ‘acts of God’ or more
extreme weather events as a possible
consequence of chmate change
changes in environmental, consumer
protection and public health and safety
law and regulation, which typically
require ever higher standards of
performance

the health and safety rnisk associated
wiath the operation of a large and
complicated network of water and
sewerage assets

the nisk of losing and failing to recrut
key peaple in Welsh Water to ensure we
have the competencies and experience
needed to meet our long-term
obhgations

the changes associated with our
programme of IT-enabled change
which s upgrading old IT systems and
intreducing simplified and more robust
business processes
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The Board has approved policies and
operational strategies to mitigate each
of the nisks to the reputation, operating
results and financial position of Welsh
Water Business nisk 1s also mitigated by
the avallability and terms of insurance -
covering property, business interruption,
public habihity, environmental pollution
and employer’s hability

Finanaal nsk

Welsh Water 1s exposed to a number

of finanaal nsks, many of which are

heightened at a time of economic

recession These include

» revenue nisk, such as a reduction in
metered demand and the loss of large
business customers

» the collection of customer charges and
non-recovery of customer debt

» external cost pressures, such as
changes in the price of chemicals or
power pricing

» deflation and the impact on both
revenues and regulatory asset value
from a negative Retail Prices Index

» access to capital markets while the
business needs to finance a continuing
large capital iInvestment programmes
and to refinance some existing debts

The overall financial nsk i1s that Glas
Cymru may not be able to finance

the operating and capita) tnvestment
obhgations of Welsh Water, which
continue to be financed from cash

flow from operations — in other words,
custorners’bills - and the raising of
finance from the capital markets Under
our funding arrangement we are required
to ensure that the business has sufficient
committed facilities available to meet

at least 12 months anticipated net cash
requirement

Frinancial nsk 1s mitigated in three ways

» the group’s financial position at
31 March 2010 shows a significant
balance of cash and undrawn
horrowing facilities available, which
gives the business a high degree of
hquidity

» following the successful £140 million
bond i1ssue in March 2010, Welsh
Water has funding for its investment
pregramme for substantially the whole
of the next five-year regulatory period

» the impact of deflation 1s mitigated by
the high propaortion of index-linked
debt 1ssued by the Company
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DEFINITION, PURPOSE
AND TARGET FOR

EACH KPI

Each year we report on Welsh Water’s
performance agamnst a wide range
of measures From this wide range of

measures the Board identified etght key
performance indicators for the regulatory
penod 2005-10 (KPIs) to measure the
overall success of the business and the
progress of its key strategies

These strategtes are designed to deliver
long-term finanang efficiency and
improve customer service, while always
ensusing that everyone who works for us
1s able to return home safely at the end of
each day

Progress

Measure Purpase Source{Target Performance  2009-10
Overall bactenclogreal An important measure of the quality of water Dnnking Water Inspectorate Compliance was 99 779 in 2009 v
water quality supplied to customers 1s compliance with Target 100%
Strategy” Customer service bacteriological standards. There 15 also a correlation

between failures in bactenological quality and

unsatisfactory water supphied to customers
Customer satisfaction The Board monitors customer satisfaction with Independent survey by Beaufort Research Customer satisfaction levels were v
Strategy Customer service the services prowided by Welsh Water via a six Target To marntam consistent high level of maintained m 2009-10

monthly research undertaken by Beaufort Research customer satisfaction

Mthough customer opinion can be influenced {often

adversely) by media coverage of events elsewhere

1n the industry, this is an impartant indicator of the

Company’s progress.
Acadent Inadent Rate (AIRY AR astatistical index used by the Health and June Retum AR increased from 700 to 20510 2005-10 X

Strategy Oceupational health
and safety

Safety Executive (HSE) to benchmark company and
sector refatve performance It is the number of
reportable nodents occurring m 4 reported perod
per 100,000 employees

Tamget To have one of the best AIR in the UK water

and sewerage sector and to compare favourably with

appropnate HSE benchmarks

Bond credit rating Adirectway of further reducing Welsh Water's Moody’, Standard & Poor's and Fitch Ratings apply ~ Glas Cymru bonds are rated by Moody's, S&P 4
Strategy” Financing finanuing cost 1s to tmprove the credit rating of the their own defimtion and methodology in assessing  and Fitch as A3/A/A respectively

group’s corporate bonds Executive Directors are bond credit rating

penahised for failure to mantain bond ratings. Target Carprate credit rating of &' grade
AMP4 Customer Dvidend As well as improving credit quality, financing Glas Cymru Audited Accounts, In 2009-10 thecustomer dividend” s
Strategy Customer value effiiency has been ysed to build up reserves Target far AMPA Progressive customer dvidend was increased to £22 per customer

to insulate Welsh Water and its customers from (2008-09 £21)

unexpected costs Through the ‘customer dividend,

cusionners hiave shared in the success of the business

n AMP4
Geanng Glas Cym's business model aims to reduce Welsh Glas Cymry tnvestor Report. At 31 March 2010 gearing was 71% v
Strategy Financing Water's asset finaning <ost — and maintaining Target To reduce geanng to zround 70% (2009 72%)

strong credit quatity s key to achieving this objective

Gearing is the ratio of Net Debt to Regulatory Capitak

Value of Weish Water
Interest cover Meeting interest cover covenants s key to Glas Cymru Investor Report. Senor interest cover at 31 March 2010 I's
Strategy Financing mamtaming nvestor confidence and to keeping Target To mamtain interest cover cosistent was 45 (tngger levet 20)

Welsh Water's cost of finance as low as possible with target credit rating

Interest caver is the ratio of operating cashflow

{before maintenance) to net interest (excluding

tdexation}
Overall Performance OPA 15 a measure used by Ofwat to assess each Ofwat, We will not know If this has been -

Assessment (0PA)
Strategy Customer service

company’s overall delivery of service to custamers It
reflects  broad range of services across key areas of
water supply, sewerage service, secunty of supply,
customer service and environmental impact.

Target. Upper quartile performance relative to
the ten water and sewerage corpanies in
England and Wales.

2009-10 15 the final year for which Ofwat will
publish OPA data

achieved unti) Ofwat publishes OPA
data 1n Autumn 2010

Estimated score for 2009-10 15 404 pomts
(2008-09- 406}

The measures of performance reported on page 7 denve from Wefsh Water's annual requlatory report to Ofwat {the June Return’) end are measures defined and marstored by Ofwat, the Dnnking Weter Inspectorate
or the Environment Agency An Overview of the fatest June Returm is avaifable on request or from our webssite www dwrcymns com The Board will sefect g new set of key performance induators for the requlatory

perlod 2010-15
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Lord Burns

Chairman™

Appointed in July 2000, Lord Burns

{66) will stand down as Chairman after
the Company's AGM in July 2010

He s chairman of Abbey National Pic,
Alliance & Leicester Plc and of Channel
4 Television Corporation, and a Non-
Executive director of Banco Santander
and Pearsen Group Plc Formerly he
was Chairman of the National Lottery
Commussion and of Marks and Spencer
Group Pl¢, and a Nen Executive Director
of Legal & General Group Ple and The
British Land Company Plc A former
Chief Economic Adwiser and Permanent
Secretary to HM Treasury, he was made
a life peerin 1998

Dame Detrdre Hine

Non-Executive Director M¥QIR

Appointed a Non-Executive Director

i March 2001, Dame Deirdre {72} is
Chairman of the BUPA Foundation,
Chairman of the Public Inquiry into

the outhreak of Clestridium difficile

r hospitals in Northern Ireland a2nd
Fresident of the Royal Medical Benevolent
Fund She s a past President of the Bnitish
Medical Association and The Royal Society
of Medicine, a former Chairman of the
Commussion for Health Improvement, and
a former Chief Medical Officer for Wales
Dame Deirdre was awarded the DBE in
1996 for services to medicine
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Nigel Annett

Managing Director M@

Appointed Managing Director in
January 2005, Mr Annett (51) has been
an Executive Director of Glas Cymru
since Apnl 2000, and of Dvir Cymru
(Welsh Water) since May 2001 He was
previously a Director of Welsh Water
between 1992 and 2000, prior to which
he held vanious investment banking
positions with Schroders, County Natwest
and Wasserstein Perella

Tony Hobson

Non-Executive Director MR

Appointed a Non Executive Directorin
February 2001 Mr Hobson {62} is the
Chairman of The 5age Group Flc and
Northern Foods Ple, and of Changing
Faces —the UK chanty that supports
people who have disfigurements of the
face or body A Chartered Accountant, he
was previously Group Finance Director of
Legal & General Group Plc for fifteen years
until his retirement in 2001

Chris Jones

Finance Director

Apparnted Finance Director of

Glas Cymru 1in April 2000 and of

Dwr Cymiru (Welsh Water) in May 2001,
Mr Jones (46) was previously Director

of Regulation of Welsh Water and South
Wales Electnicity Plc Before jotning
Welsh Water in 1995, he was a Drrector at
National Economic Research Associates
and, prior to that, worked for HM Treasury
He 15 a Non-Executive Director of the
Principality Building Society and Deputy
Chairman of The Prince’s Trust - Cyrmiru

James Strachan

Non-Executive Director AR
Appointed a Non Executive Director in
June 2007 Mr Strachan {56} 1s a Non-
Executive Director of Legal & General
Group Plc, JP Morgan Asian Investment
Trust, the Financial Services Authority,
Sarasin and Partners LLP and 5oaial
Finance Limited He is a Visiting Fellow
inrisk and regulation at LSE Former
rolesinclude Chairman of the Audit
Commission, a Non Executive Director of
the Bank of England, and of Care UK Plc,
a Board member of Ofgem (the energy
regulator), chairman of the chanty RNID
and Managing Director of Merrll Lynch

Peter Perry

Operations Director (@

Appointed Operations Director in July
2006, Mr Perry {48) has a civil engineening
background and was formerly the Chuef
Operating Officer for United Utilities
Operatianal Services (UUOS), having
previously been the Operations Director
for UUOS with responsibility for the
operational contract with Welsh Water
Earlier in hus career he worked for

Owier Cymru (Welsh Water) for over

17 years He is also a Director (representing
Wales} at The Water Regulauons Advisory
Service, the national body specifying
standards for matenals and workmanship
used n potable water supply

Bob Ayling

Chairman Designate ™™

Appointed a Non-Executive Director in
Apnl 2008, Mr Ayling (63) will become
Chairman of Glas Cymru after the
Company's AGM in July 2010 Heis

also Charrman of Dyson Lirmited and of
the International Dispute Resolution
Centre A solicitor by profession, with

20 years in the City of London and as a
senior government legal adwisor at the
Department of Trade and Industry, he was
Managing Director and Chief Executive of
Briuish Airways plc from 1993 to 2000 He
15 also a former Charrman of Holidaybreak
Plc and non Executive Director of Royal &
Sunalliance Insurance Group
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John Bryant

Semior independent Director M@&M
Appointed a Non Executive Director in
March 2001 Mt Bryant (66) 1s a former
Chief Executive of British Steel and, until
December 2000, was Joint Chief Executive
of Corus Plc He is a Non Executive
Director of Costain Group Plc, and was a
Non-Executive Director of Bank of Wales
Plc between 1996 and 2001

Prof Stephen Palmer

Non Executive Director (NXQiR

Appointed a Non-Executive Director in
October 2009, Professor Palmer {58) 1s
Professor of Epidemiology and Public
Health at Cardiff Uruversity and chairs

the Wales Chief Medical Officer’s Health
Protection Committee Since 2003 he has
been Director of the Health Protection
Agency’s chemical hazards division, tocal
and regional services division, and Head
of Epidemiology A fellow of the Faculty
of Public Health and the Royal College

of Physicians, he has been an influential
figure in public health for over 25-years
He has a long CV of previous public health
prafessional funcoions and has written
many books and pees reviewed papers on
infectious diseases and chemcal hazards

Glas Cymru Cyfyngedig
Company Number 3975719

Geraint Talfan Davies
Non-Executive Director WHARI
Appomted a Non Executive Director

n July 2000, Mr Davies {66} s a former
Journalist whose career spanned both
public and private sector breadcasting
{(including Controller of BBC Wales
throughout the 1990s) He is Chalrman
of the Institute of Welsh Affairs and of
the Welsh National Opera A trustee of
The Media Standards Trust and also

a former Chairman of the Arts Counal
of Wales

Membership of Board Committees
{N) Norminations

(A) Audit

(Q} Quahty and Environment

(R) Remuneration

The Members
There are presently 81 Members, including
the Directors of Glas Cymru

A key role of the Members 15 to ensure that
the business remains focused on its primary
purpose of providing efficient high quality
water and sewerage services to Welsh Water’s
customers In so doing Members carry out an
important corporate governance role

Members are selected in accordance with

a process overseen by an independent
Membership Selection Panel, which 1s
required to maintain a balanced and diverse
membership, which as far as possible 1s
broadly reflective of the range of customer
and other stakeholder interests served by
Welsh Water

Membership 1s personal, therefore Members
do not represent any particular group or
stakeholder interest Members do not receive
fees nor do they have any other financial
interest in Glas Cymru

A hist of the Members of Glas Cymru, together
with the Company’s Membership Policy and
Terms of Reference of the Membership
Selection Panel, s published on our website
www dwrcymru com or can be obtained by
writing to the Company Secretary
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

The Directors present their report and the
audited financial statements of Glas Cymru
Cyfyngedig {Glas Cymru) for the year ended
31 March 2010

Principal activities

Glas Cymru 1s a company limited by guarantee
and 1s the holding company of the Glas Cymru
group Dvr Cymru Cyfyngedig {Welsh Water)
15 the one of the regional water and sewerage
compantes in England and Wales and s the
group’s principal trading company

Welsh Water 15 the only UK utility to be
operated under a’not-for-profit’ business
model, whereby all financial surpluses are
retained 1n the business as reserves, invested
in additional quality or senvice improvements
or returned to customers in the form of a
‘customer dividend’ Glas Cymru exists only
for one purpose - to create the financing and
operating conditions for Welsh Water that will
allow the company to provide high quality
water and sewerage services to more than

3 milion people at the least cost

Welsh Water's primary purpose and
responsibility 1s to operate, maintain and
upgrade the company’s network of assets

50 as to ensure a safe and reliable supply of
drinking water and also to deal effectively with
wastewater in order to protect public health
and the natural envircnment

The Board’s approach to governance

As a single purpose company, our long term
success has only one measure - the extent

to which we deliver value for the customers

of Welsh Water As Glas Cymru has no
shareholders, when exercising judgement and
discretion, Directors seek to enhance customer
value and take decisions in the long term
interests of the customers of Welsh Water

The key governance structures and internal
controls operated in Glas Cymru are described
n the governance report on page 52 of this
report Through these mechanisms the Board
aims to apply high standards of corporate
governance and to meet the spint of the
Combined Code in a manner framed to surt our
single purpose business model
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Business review

The Companies Act requires that the Directors’
Report should include a Business Review,
which gives a fair review of the development
and performance of the business and
adescription of the prinaipal nsks and
uncertamnties that it faces

The operational performance of the business
and our approach to sustainability and
corporate responstbility 2re described on
pages 7 to 31 of this report The financial
performance is descnbed in the Financial
Review on page 34 A statement of the
principal risks of the business can be found on
page 42 The information contained in these
sections Is incorporated into this Directors’
Report by reference to the extent necessary to
fulfil the requirements of a Business Review

The Business Review includes a description
of our key stakeholders Consideration of
the interests of these stakeholders and other
factors likely to impact on the success of the
business i1s an integral part of the Board's
decision-making process

The 2010 Annuat Report (including this
Directors’ Report) has been prepared for the
Members of Glas Cymru It contams certain
information of a forward looking nature,
which has been provided by the Directors in
good faith using knowledge and information
available up to the date of this report Forward
looking statements should be regarded with
caution because of the inherent uncertainties
in economic trends and bustness risks

Financial performance and

Final Determination

In 2009-10, customers benefited from a
‘customer dividend’ of £28 million, or £22 per
customer served by Welsh Water {£11 for water
and £11 for wastewater services), bringing

the total ‘customer dividend’ pand since its
ntroduction in 2003 te over £150 million

Under Ofwat’s Final Determination for

Welsh Water for the five-year regulatory
penod ending 31 March 2015 {the Final
Determtnatton) the average bill for water and
sewerage customers will reduce over this
penod by £30 (before inflation)

Following this, the Board concluded that
application of the ‘customer dividend’ policy
would not be necessary, or appropriate, in the
first year of the new regulatory penod

After payment of the ‘customer dividend; the
profit before tax for the financial year ended
31 March 2010 (excluding the fair value
movement on dervative financial
mstruments) was £107 militon (2009 loss of
£11m) At 31 March 2010 reserves stood at
£1,068 million and net debt as a percentage
of regulatory capital value of Welsh Water

was 71% (2009 72%) We also had a robust
liquidity position with £669 million of cash
and undrawn bank facilities, including the
proceeds of a £140 million index linked B senes
bond 1ssue on 31 March 2010 This means that
the business 1s well funded for the peniod from
2010to0 2015 Exposure to floating rates of
mterest 1s neghgible with 99% of borrowings
either fixed or inked to RP|

Following publication of the Final
Deterrmination Welsh Water has finalised

1ts investment plans and priorities for the
regulatory penod 2010 tc 2015 At £1 2bn the
level of capital expenditure is similar to that for
the period 2005 to 2010, and the programme
includes important investment to enhance
the protection of dnnking water quality,
mitigate the worst impacts of sewer flooding,
substantially reduce the carbon footpnint of its
actuvittes and improve customer service

Directors

The names and brief biographical details

of the Directors are given on page 46 With
the exception of Stephen Palmer who was
appointed on 26 October 2009, all Directors
served throughout the financial year No
Director has, or has had, a material interest,
directly or indirectly, in any contract significant
to the Company’s business The Board has not
been requested to use, and has not used, 1ts
discretion under Article 57 of Glas Cymru’s
Articles of Association which allows the
approval of a potential conflict of interest

Glas Cymru Cyfyngedig
Company Number 3975719




Cn 8 March 2010 1t was announced that

Bob Ayling had been appointed Chairman
Designate and that Lord Burns would stand
down as Chairman of the Board at the 2010
Annual General Meeting {2010 AGM?)
Subsequently, It was anncunced 1n June 2010
that Dame Deirdre Hine would also stand
down as a Director at the 2010 AGM

At this year's AGM all of the Directors will
stand for re-efection consistent with the
commitment made at the 2009 AGM, except
for Lord Burns and Deirdre Hine who are
standing down from the Board This will
meet the requirement for three directors

to seek re-election under the Articles of
Association Stephen Palmer (Article 44 - first
AGM since his appointment) and Nigel Annett
and Chris Jones {(Article 46 - retirement by
rotation}

The Board has endorsed the effectiveness
and commitment of the Directors (and, in
respect of the Non-Executive Directors, their
independence) and recommends each for
re-election Further details are set out in the
Notice of 2010 AGM

Detalls of the remuneration of individual
Directors and of the remuneration strategy
approved by the Board are included in the
Remuneration Report for the year ended
31 March 2010 on page 57 Resolutions will
be proposed at the 2010 AGM to approve
this report and to approve a scheme of
incentivisation for the regulatory period
2010to 2015

The Company has in place Directors’ and
Officers'insurance giving cover against legal
action brought agamst the Directors and an
indemnity tn circumstances where a Director
has not acted fraudulently or dishonestly
The indemnity 1s a qualifying indemnity for
the purpose of the Companies Act and 15 for
the benefit of all Directors No claims have
been made against this polcy since the date
of the last report Details of our internal control
and governance arrangements are set out in
the Governance Report on page 55

Glas Cymru Cyfyngedig
Company Number 3975719

Members

At the date of this report, Glas Cymru has
70 independent Members, of whom 12 wil!
stand down at the end of the 2010 AGM
having served three terms of appointment
The Directors of the Company are also
Members In July 2010, Glas Cyrmru will
commence a further round of Member
recruitment by public advertisement

Further information about the rote of
Members, and the process for their
appomntment under the direction of an
independent membership selection panel,
can be found in the Governance Report on
page 56 Further information on membershup,
aloeng with brief details of the current
Members, is available on request or may be
obtained from our website

Employees

At 31 March 2010 Welsh Water employed 205
people (2009 191) Other than the Directors of
the Company, Glas Cymru has no employees

On 9 February 2010, Welsh Water announced a
major restructuring of the business On 1 Apnl
2010 and 1 May 2010 1,093 and 476 employees
transferred to Welsh Water under the Transfer
of Undertakings (Protection of Employment)
Regulations 2006 {'TUPE') - these employees
having been previously employed by United
Utilities Operating Services Limited and Kelda
Water Services Wales Limited, respectively At
the date of this Directors’ Report, the number
of Welsh Water employees 15 1,784 Over the
next five years there will be a phased reduction
of around 300 in the number of employees,
which itis intended will be achieved by a
combuination of retirement, natural turnover
and selective voluntary severance

Welsh Water remains committed to “Working
Together; the framework agreement
estabhshed with trade unions and staff
representatives that has successfully operated
since the early 1990, and to continuing to
invest at all levels in the highly committed
and motivated work force which 1s crucial to
achieving Glas Cymru’s sole purpose We are
also committed to equality of opportunity and
aim to treat all employees (including disabled
persons) fairly in every aspect of employment,

including recruitment, training, career
development and promotion Those who seek
employment with Welsh Water are considered
solely on their skills and abilities

In 2009-10, Welsh Water's employee pay and
benefits package compared favourably with
the local employment market and all staff
shared in the success of the business via a staff
incentive scheme, which pays an annual bonus
linked to the relative financial and customer
service performance of Welsh Water These
arrangements are being reviewed currently
following the reorganisation of Welsh Water

Under ‘Working Together’ Welsh Water
employees receive an Inflation hnked general
pay award In April 2009 this led to an increase
of 3% and in Apnl 2010 to a further 0 3%

The Welsh Water defined benefit pension
scheme was closed to new entrants on

31 December 2005 and last year employee
contnbution rates were increased from 6%

to 9% This - coupled with additional cash
contributions by Welsh Water and an increase
in employer future service contrthutions over a
number of years (from an ongmnal 12% to 20%
last year) - 1s projected to address the deficit in
the pension fund within a reasonable penod
of ime New employees are invited to joina
defined contributions pension scheme to which
staff contribute 6% and Welsh Water 11%

Occupational health and safety

The Board 1s committed to achieving high
standards of occupational health and safety

- nothing 1s more important than the health
and safety of the people who work for us, and
those we affect through our work

Durtng 2009-10, the company’s process of
health and safety management, which also
covers Welsh Water's principal contractors,
retained certification to the OHSAS 18001
2007 - the international standard for
occupational health and safety management
Qur health and safety performance in
2009-10, which disappointingly saw a rise

in the number of reportable accidents - for
the first time under Glas Cymru's ownership

- and our plans to improve on this leve] of
performance are described i our 2010
Health and Safety Report A copy of this report
15 available on request or on our website
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Water quality and the environment

The Quality and Environment Committee

of the Board (QEC) meets each month to
monitor the water quality, customer service
and environmental performance of Welsh
Water QEC tracks the development of key
operational strategies, as we aim to develop

a more sustainable water and wastewater
business based on developing best practice
and knowledge QEC alsc reviews the cause of
and Welsh Water’s response to all major water
quality and environmental incidents A copy
of the 2010 QEC Report 1s available on cur
website

In"Welsh Water Our Sustainable Future’we
have set out our ambition for the busmness
for the next 25 years A copy of this report
15 available on the company's website or on
request

Research and development

Welsh Water monitors and selectively
participates in water industry research
initiatives, most notably through membership
of UK Water industry Research Limited, which
manages and coordinates the research
mterests of UK water companies Where
appropnate, we also sponsor university
research departments and private companies
to undertake investtgations into i1ssues that
relate to our business objectives and priorities
for our operational region The findings from all
research initiatives are disserminated through
Welsh Water and its contract partners undera
reciprocal sharing arrangement

Payment policy

Our policy 15 to agree payment terms at the
start of a relationship with a supplier, which
will only be changed by agreement Payment
will be made in accordance with agreed terms,
save where we advise suppliers when an
invoice is contested, which we will do without
unreasonable delay We will seek to remedy
disputes as promptly as possible Standard
payment terms will be 30 days from date of
receipt of a correct invoice for sausfactory
goods or services which have been ordered
or received, unless other terms are agreed in a
contract
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In 2009-10, the average payment period for
the Glas Cymru group was 47 days (2009 51
days) Regulations require that in calculating
this we include within trade creditors monies
retained under contract in respect of Welsh
Water capital investment projects The level of
retentions vanes from year to year and affects
the average payment penod for the year

Corporate socal responsibility

We have a clear and firm commitment to
environmental responsibility and in being
agood neighbour and trusted partner in

the communities we serve To earn this trust
we have to show that we behave fairly and
responsibly in the interests of customers, that
we use resources wisely, and that we make
an appropriate contribution to community
This approach to ‘responsible business’is an
essential part of our not for profit business
madel and further information s provided on
page 30 of this report

During the year, chartable donations
amounted to £45,485 (2009 £44,212) There
were four beneficianes of awards of above
£500 ranging from £1,120 to £31,567

it)s Board policy not to make donations

1o political parties or to incur pohtical
expenditure and during 2009-10 no donations
or payments have been made which are
required to be disclosed under section 366 of
the Compantes Act 2006

Institutional investors

Glas Cymru welcomes the Institutional
Shareholder Commuttees code of respansibility
for investors and the call for more two-

way dialogue Since 2001 Glas Cymru has
facihtated this dialogue by holding an annual
bondholder/investor meeting in Londen,
shortly after the company’s annual general
meeting, and by the issue of a quarterly
investor report for holders of the group's
bonds We welcome written dialogue at

any time and following the announcement

of prelminary or interim financial results

for any period the Finance Director, often
accompanied by an independent Non-
Executive Director, will hold informal meetings
with bondholders Afl issues discussed at
meetings with investors are reported to

the Board

Welsh language scheme

We welcome dealing with customers and ather
stakeholders in Welsh or English and aim to
provide an equally effective standard of service
in both languages Our Weish Language
Scheme 15 an approved scheme under the
prowisions of the Wales Language Act 1993

Regulatory accounts (Welsh Water)
Condition F of the Instrument of Appointment
under which Welsh Water operates requires
that Welsh Water publish additional financial
information as an‘appointed business’ A copy
of this information i1s published on our website
ors availlable on request from 12 July 2010

Going concern

The Directors are satisfied that the business
has adequate resources to continue

in business for the foreseeable future
Accordinaly, the financial statements for the
year ended 31 March 2010 have been prepared
on a going concern basis

Auditors

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP (Pw() acted as
the auditors to Glas Cymru for the accounts
for the year ended 31 March 2010 As part of
the audit process Directors have confirmed
that as far as each Director I5 aware (a) there

15 no relevant audit mformation of which the
Company’s auditors are unaware and (b) they
have taken steps to make themselves aware of
any relevant audit information and to establish
that the Company's auditors are aware of that
information A resolution to re-appoint PwC
will be put to Members at the 2010 AGM The
current external audit contract expires at the
completion of the statutory accounts for the
financial year ending 31 March 2011 and thus
contract will be re-tendered during 2010-11

Events after the financial year-end

On 1 Apnl 2010 1,093 employees transferred
from United Utilitres Operating Services
Lirmited to Welsh Water On 15 Aprel 2010
£75 million was drawn down under a
European Investment Bank financing facility
On 1 May 2010 476 employees transferred
from Kelda Water Services Wales Limited to
Welsh Water Dewrdre Hine will stand down as
a non-executive director at the 2010 AGM

Glas Cymru Cyfyngedig
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Annual general meeting

The 2010 AGM will be held on Fnday

9 July 2010 The business of this meeting
includes the approval of the Directors’
Report and Financial Statements and the
Remuneratton Report for the year ended

31 March 2010, the re-election of Directors,

a resolution to authorise the Company to
make donations to EU political arganisations
and/or incur EV political expenditure up to
defined hmits and a resclution to reappoint
the auditors These resolutions are matters of
ordinary business for the 2010 AGM There 15
one item of special business - the approval of
an mcentvisation scheme for the executive
directors for the penod 2010 to 2015 Further
information in respect of all resolutions s
provided In the Notice of 2010 AGM sent to
the Members of Glas Cymru with this report

By order of the Board

Richard Curtis LLB, ACIS
Company Secretary
4 June 2010

Alt dacuments which are stated as available on
the Company’s website can be obtamned from
www dwrcymru com

Glas Cymru Cyfyngedig
Company Number 3975719
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Glas Cymru i1s committed to high standards of
corporate governance This 1s essential if we are
to be regarded as a well-managed provider of
an essential public service in the eyes of Welsh
Water’s customers and regulators, bondholders
and other stakeholders

This report explains the key features of the
Company's governance structure and how

it complies with the Combined Code on
Corporate Governance 2008 (the ‘Combined
Code’), which sets the standard for good
practice for UK hsted companies The Company
complies with all the provisions of the
Combined Code, save for those that are not
applicable to a company imited by guarantee

The Board

The Board compnises 11 Directors a Chairman,
3 Executive Directors and 7 Non-Executive
Directors Directors collectively provide a broad
base of experience and expertise appropnate
to oversee the business and to maximise

the effectiveness of the Board, ensuring that

all matters are fully debated and that no
indwidual or group dorminates the Board's
decision making process No Non-Executive
Director has any business or other relationship
that could materially interfere with the exercise
of their judgement, and the Board considers
each of the Non-Executive Directors to be
independent of the Company and each other

The roles of the Chairman and Managing
Director are separate and clearly defined

The Chairman is responsible for ensuring

the effective cperation of the Board, that the
information the Board receives is sufficient to
make informed judgements, and for ensuring
that constructive relationships are maintained
with key stakeholders As part of its regular
evaluation, the Board considers the Chairman's
avallability and capacaity to undertake the

role against the background of his other
commitments The Board remains satisfied that
the Chairman fulfils his role effectively and has
the capacity to be available when unforeseen
crcumstances arise The Managing Director 15
responsible for the day-to-day management
of the business and for the implementation of
the strategy, policies and procedures adopted
by the Board
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The Manaaing Director 1s supported by two
Executive Directors and by an executive team
compnsing the heads of specialist functions

The Non-Executive Directors have access to
all infermation relating to the business, the
advice and services of the Company Secretary
and, as required, independent external advice
at the expense of the Company The Company
Secretary 1s an employee, but not a Director,
of the Company

Each of the Executive Directors has a written
service contract subject to termination by the
Company on 12 menths notice The Chairman
and each of the Non-Executive Directors has
awntten letter of appointment subject to
termination by the Board on three months’
notice A copy of each of these agreements

i1s available for inspection at the Company’s
registered office and at the annual general
meeting

Under the Articles of Assocration any new
Director must stand for election at the first
annual general meeting following his or her
appointment, and each Director s subject
to re-appointment by the Members of

Glas Cymru at intervals of not more than

three years In addition, and in accordance
with corporate governance best practice, any
Non-Executive Director who has served on the
Board for more than nine years shall retire
and, if appropriate, seek re-election on an
annual basis

Board proceedings

The Board met nine times in 2009-10,
including four meetings held over two days,
to collectively set the strategic direction of
the business and to review the operating and
financial performance and risk management
of the business There is a formal schedule

of matters reserved to the Board, which 1s
reviewed annually and which can only be
amended by the Board This includes approval
of the annual business plan (which sets the
operating and strategic objectives for the
business, and the nisk framework within which
the business will operate}, corporate policies,
significant transactions above specified
thresholds or outside the ordinary course of
business and the delegation of Beard authority
to committees and Executive Directors

The table below summanses the number
of Board and committee meetings held in
2009-10 and the level of attendance at each

Board Nomination Audit  Qualtyand Remuneration Appointments

(A) Enwvironment {R) (Ap)
Committee
Q)
Number of meetings
held in 2009-10 9 4 12 4 4
Lord Burns (M 9" - - - -
Nigel Annett M@ 9 - 12 - -
Chnis Jones 9 - - - -
Peter Perry @ 9 - " - -
Bob Ayling (NQIR) 9 - 12 4 -
John Bryant (NIQ)RItAR) 9 - 1 4" 4*
Geraint Talfan Davies (NIAHRIAR) 9 4 - 4 4
Dame Deirdre Hine N(Q(UAR 9 - 1" 4 4
Tony Hobson MNHAIRAg) 9 4* - 4 4
James Strachan INWRE) 9 3 - 4 4
Stephen Palmer (MQ@IRNAR)
{Appomted 26/10/03) 48 - 5¢ Y- 4

*Denotes commuttee Chawmar | 8 of possible 5 meetings § C. aftmeetings since apponted

Glas Cymru Cyfyngedig
Company Number 3975719




It 1s the role of the Chairman, aided by the
Company Secretary, to ensure that the Board,
its committees and individual Directors receive
timely and clear information in respect of

the Company’s strategy and performance

to support meaningful debate and effective
decision making The Company Secretary also
adwises the Board on corporate governance

To support the independence of Non-Executive
Directars, and to enable them to discuss the
performance of the executive management
team, there (s regular opportunity for the
Chairman and the Non-Executive Directors to
meet privately

New Directors Induction and training
Appointments to the Board are made following
recommendation from the Nominations
Commuttee or, in the case of the appointment
of a Chairman, from the Appointments
Committee Each new Director receives an
induction programme to familiarise him or
her with the husiness, the nisks and strategic
challenges, and the economic, competitive,
legal and reguiatory environmentin which it
operates Introductory wvisits are arranged to
company sites and to key supphers {contract
partners) and other stakeholders

A programme also exists to ensure that all
Directors have the opportunity to continually
update their skil's and business knowledge
This can take the form of visits to strategic
operational assets or meetings with
stakeholders, by the provision of infarmation
and presentations to the Board on key
strategic 1ssues, and by a Director’s occasional
attendance on an external course

Evaluation of the Board

Directors participate in an annual evaluation
to assess the effectiveness of the collective
performance of the Board, the performance of
the Chairman and of the principal committees
of the Board The conduct of this process 1s
overseen by the Chairman and compnises
questionnaires completed by Directors, the
conclusions of which are collated and analysed
by the Company Secretary and collectively
discussed at the Board This is supplemented,
as approprate, by one to one discussions
between each Director and the Chairman,
following which actions are agreed to

address issues raised

Glas Cymru Cyfyngedig
Company Number 3975719

Following the last review the number of
Board meetings was reduced from nine to
eight a year, but with more meetings held
over two days to allow discussian of strategic
issues inside and outside of the formal
beardroom environment These extended
meetings also enable Directors to meet and
build relanonships with key semor managers
and staff below Board level Six of the eight
meetings a year are held over two days,
including two that incorporate a meeting
ofthe Members of Glas Cymru The 2009
evaluation raised no matenal weaknesses or
falings, but highlighted certain minor aspects
for further consideration to improve the
effectiveness of the Board The next review will
be undertaken in autumn 2010

The Board reviews and evaluates the
performance of the Chairman without the
Chatrman present The Chairman assesses
the performance of the Managing Director
after taking into account the views of other
Directors The performance of the Executive
Directors and the Company Secretary 1s
assessed by the Managing Director, undera
process of annual apprasal that applies to all
employees

Commuttees of the Board

There are four principal committees of the
Board Each has a wnitten term of reference
that defines the role and responsibility

of the commuttee and which 15 reviewed
annually These are the Audit Commuittee,

the Quality and Environment Committee,

the Remuneration Committee and the
Nominations Commuttee Duning 2009-10 a
sub-committee of the Nonunations Committee
- the Appointments Committee - was
established to oversee the Board governance
associated with the appointment of a new
Chairman of the Board The Board also has

an ad-hoc Fiance Committee to approve
financing and treasury transactions where a
deaision s required between formal meetings
of the Board

The membership of each committee s
intended to make best use of the independent
challenge and skills and expenence of the
Non-Executive Diectars Save in respect of
the Appointments Committee, after each
committee meeting a summary of matters
discussed s reported to the Board, and the
Board subsequently recewves the formal
minutes Each committee has authority to
employ the services of such advisors, within
and outside the Company, as it deems
necessary to fulfil its responsibilities

Details of the work and membership of the
Audit Committee, the Quality and Environment
Commuittee and the Nomination and
Appointment Committees 15 set out below
The work of the Remuneration Commuittee 1s
described in the 2010 Remuneration Report
on page 57 In addition to contnbuting to the
formal committees of the Board, durning 2009-
10 certain Directors provided additional time
and challenge in procurement (John Bryant},
communications (Geraint Talfan Davies), legal
and regulation (Bob Ayling) and government
and regulation (Lord Burns)

Audit Commuttee

The members of the Audit Commuittee are
independent Non-Executive Directors

Tony Hobson {Chairman), Geraint Talfan
Davies and James Strachan By invitation of
the Chawrman, meetings of the committee
are attended by the Finance Director, Head
of Business Assurance, Internal and External
Auditors and selected other semor managers
The Chairman and Managing Director attend
at least one meeting of the Audit Committee
each year The Company Secretary acts

as secretary to the Committee The Board
considers that Tony Hobson, a Chartered
Accountant and former Group Finance
Director of Legal & General Group Plc, has
the significant and relevant financial
experience required to chair the Audit
Committee
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The role of the Commuttee 1s to receive and
challenge reports from executive management
and, as appropriate, from internal and external
auditors, and in particular

» to review and advise the Board on Glas
Cymru’s interim and annual financial
statements, its accounttng pohicies and on
the control of s inancial and business risks
to review the nature and scope of the work
to be performed by the external auditors
and internal audit function, the results of
their audit work and of the response of
management
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to review and adwise the Board on the
effectiveness of the internal control
environment in the business, including the
‘Whistleblowing’ procedures
» to make recommendatrons on the
appointment and remuneration of external
auditors and to monitor therr performance
» to approve and monitor the policy for
non-audit services provided by the external
auditors to ensure that the independence of
the auditors 1s not compromised

The Audit Committee meets on at least four
occasions each year Two of the meetings
focus on review of the annual and interim
reports and associated preliminary and interim
results announcements, and related areas of
Judgement and significant accounting pohcies
Time 15 allocated at other meetings to review
the findings of the external and internal audit
programme and to assess the processes for
the management and control of financial

and business risks, inctuding challenge to the
Executive Directors'assessment of those nisks
and their mitigation strategies and action
plans to manage those risks Significant reports
and 1ssues arising from Welsh Water's nisk
based audit programme are discussed at every
meeting of the Committee

During the year, the Audit Committee approved
external and internal audit plans, and met
privately with the internal and external auditors
without executives present as part of its annual
review of audit independence On the basis of
this work, and regular meetings with executive
management, the Audit Committee 15 able to
assess the ongoing effectiveness of internal
and external audit
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The role of internal audit is to provide
independent and objective assurance and to
adwvise management and the Board on the
extent to which systems of internal control
are effective and that the processes by which
significant nisks are identified assessed and
managed are appropriate and effectively
applted Theinternal audit work plan {which
covers the scope, authonty and resources

of such actmty) s determined through a
structured process of risk assessment to ensure
that it is focused on areas of greatest risk to
the business, and 1s approved by the Audit
Committee

During 2009-10, external auditor services

were provided by PricewaterhouseCoopers
LLP and internal audit services, which in the
previous year were provided under contract by
Grant Thornton, were provided by an internal
Business Assurance team

The Committee Is confident that the
objectivity and independence of the auditors
15 not impaired by reason of ther non-audit
work and had adopted controls to ensure that
this mmdependence 15 not compromised These
controls nclude the continued monitonng of
the independence and effectiveness of the
audit process Audit partners are rotated every
five years, with the next change taking place
in the financial year ending 31 March 2011 In
addition, the Audit Committee has adopted

a specific policy on audit Independence and
audit tendering and an external audit tender
will take place during the financial year ending
31 March 2011 (as the current contract expires
at the completion of the statutory accounts for
the year ending 31 March 2011)

The Audit Committee has reviewed the
policies of the external auditor to ensure their
mdependence and that of their engagement
partner and that Board policy on non-audit
fees has been met This provides that the
external auditor will not be used for internal
audit services, and that all non-audit work
above a threshold of £25,000 will be subject
to prior competitive tenderning and approval
by the Audit Committee Total external
auditor remuneration 1s analysed between
audht and non-audit work in note 3 to the
Notes to the financial statements on page 76

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee
include all matters required by the Combined
Code The Commuittee has unrestricted access
to Company documents and staff and to
external auditors, and the Finance Director
and Head of Business Assurance and external
auditors each have a nght of direct access

1o the Chairman of the Audit Committee In
respect of matters they wish to bring to his
attention

Quality and Environment

Committee {QEC)

QEC meets each month and compnses four
Non-Executive Directors {Dame Deirdre

Hine, Chairman, John Bryant, Bob Ayling and
Stephen Palmer) and two Executive Directors
{Nigel Annett and Peter Perry) QEC 1s advised
by two independent experts on the public
health and operational aspects of water supply
and environmental management, and by
Welsh Water's Head of Water Quality and Head
of Operational Performance and Customer
Service who, with the Company Secretary,
attend all meetings

QEC plays a central role in the governance

of Welsh Water recognising that a major
element of Glas Cymru’s business maodel is an
outsourcing strategy, which in 2009-10 meant
that some 85% of Weish Water's operating and
capital expenditure was incurred by third party
partners through competitively let contracts

The role of QEC 15 to oversee Welsh Water’s
performance, which targets ‘top quartile’
overall performance on key regulatory
measures for water guality, customer

service and efficiency and environmental
performance, while delivering the best
avaifable combination of cost efficiency, value
for money and quality of service Through its
oversight QEC provides assurance to the Board
that Welsh Water’s obligations as a water and
sewerage undertaker are not compromised or
put at nisk
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In particular, QEC

» adwvises the Board on matters of operatonal
policy and practice, and routinely reviews
the performance of Welsh Water against
key performance indicators, in relation

to matters of public health, compliance
with drninking water regulations and
enwvironmental laws and regulations and
occupational health and safety

reviews the development of key operational
strategies, as Welsh Water aims to develop
more sustainable water and wastewater
businesses based on industry best practice
reviews executive management’s
assessment of operational and quaiity nsk
assesses Welsh Water's management of

and response to significant water quahty or
environmental incidents, and any weakness
identified under the internal audit quality
programme of work
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QEC produces an annual report to the Board,
which s published on our website

Nominations Committee

The Nominations Commuttee meets on an

ad hoc bagus 1t1s chawed by the Chawman

of the Board and compnises all of the Non-
Executive Directors and the Managing Director
Other Executive Directors attend meetings

at the invitation of the Chairman It1s the
responsibility of the Nominations Committee
to ensure that plans are in place for orderly
succession for appointment to the Board Its
role 1s therefore to review the size, structure
and composition of the Board (t e the skills,
knowledge and experience around the Board
table} and, where appropriate, to recommend
candidates for Board appointment In planning
for Board succession, for part of 2009-10

the Nominations Committee was advised

by Russell Reynolds & Associates and Egon
Zehnder Internattonal Stephen Palmer was
appointed a Non-Executive Director in October
2009 following recommendation by the
Nominations Cammittee

The Board meets the requirements of the
Combined Code that the majonty of Directors
shoutd be independent of the Company

{1e that they are individuals who the Board
determines to be independent in character
and judgement and who have no relationships

Glas Cymru Cyfyngedig
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or crcumstances which are hikely to affect,

or could appear to affect, the Director’s
Judgement) We have previously reported that
the Normunations Commuttee and the Board
have agreed in principle that it would be in
the best interests of the Company (and of

the customers of Welsh Water)} to extend the
term of office of some of the Non-Executve
Directors who were apponted in 2001 beyond
nine years This would allow continuity as

the Board of Welsh Water moves into the

next regulatory investment perniod {2010 to
2015) and in the early phases of the business
reorganisation announced by the Company
in February 2010 Any Non-Executive Crector
whose appointment was extended beyond
nine years would become subject to annual
re-appointment by the Members of Glas
Cymru and the Chatrman of the Board would
ensure that any Non-Executive Director to be
appointed beyond nine years continues to be
independent in character and judgement

Appointments Committee

This Committee was estabhshed as a sub-
committee of the Nominations Committee
and met on four occasions in 2009-10to
oversee the process of the succession of

the Chairman of the Board, culmmating in
the announcement in February 2010 of Bob
Aylmg as Chairman Designate The Committee
1s chawed by John Bryant and its members
include each of the Non-Executive Directors
except for Lord Burns and Bob Ayling The
Commuttee, which received independent
aclvice from Egon Zehnder International, will
be dissoived in July 2010 when Bob Ayhing
becomes Chairman

Internal control and risk management

The Board is responsible for the operation and
effectiveness of the Group's system of internal
controls and risk management This system

15 designed to manage the nsk of failure to
achieve business objectives, and comprises
audited policies, procedures and processes
designed to identify, evaluate and manage
the significant risks faced by the business,
and provide reasonable assurance against
matenal rmsstatement or loss in assessing
what constitutes reasonable assurance, the
Board has regard to matenahty and to the
relationship between the cost of, and the

benefit from, particular nsks The internal
control systems are designed to meet the
Group's particular needs and the risks to which
1015 exposed, and by thew nature can only
provide reasonable (not absolute) assurance
against misstatements or loss

Key features of the system are’

» the Board sets parameters of acceptable
nsk and key nsks and hazards are \dentified,
measured and managed to an acceptable
level

» clear accountability for nsk management 1s
embedded in the business, and supported
by reqular risk reporting

» managing nisk is a responsibility for all
managers in the business For each major
type of risk, there 1s a designated individual
or team to ensure that appropriate guidance
1s avallable for managers across the business

» the system of internal control 1s reviewed
by Welsh Water's Reporter who submits an
annual report to the Board and to Ofwat to
confirm compliance with Ofwat’s guidance
for the UK water industry on internal control

» controls that recognise that the nature
and balance of nsk change and evolve
conttnuously and provide a framework
within which to manage these

» assurance I1s provided by independent

audst and assessment of internal qualty

management systems All audit actiity

1s conducted under a broad nsk-based

programme approved by the Audit

Committee or QEC, designed to ensure that

management information 1s accurate, imely

and relevant and reflects the true position of
the business

procedures exist for the approval

and control of major items of capital

expenditure, the acquisition and disposal of

materal assets, and the entenng into of any
arrangement that gives nise to, or could give
rise to, a material hability

the Group also has in place effective

financial systems and procedures

for managing the preparation of the

consolidated accounts
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The process used by the Audit Committee
to review the effectiveness of the systems

of internal control includes discussions

with management on significant risk 1ssues
identified and the review of plans for, and
results from, internal and external audit

The Audit Committee reports the results of
the review to the Board which then drawsits
collective conclusion on the effectiveness of
the system of internal controls

Business risk is rcutinely assessed by a

nsk management group chaired by the
Managing Director This group reviews and
challenges the robustness of nsk management
procedures, including that of Welsh Water’s
contract partners, and includes areas such as
public health, environment, business ethics,
employment, gccupational health and safety
and business continuity The nisk management
group encourages staff to participate in two
way dialogue to ensure that risk 1s understood
and managed early and effectively, and

to learn from our own expenence and the
experience of others to promote best practice
The Audit Committee and QEC receive an
update on our principal nisks and process of
nsk management every six months, and this s
reviewed annually at the Board

In Judging the effectiveness of the business's
system of internal controls, the Board considers
pentodic reporting from the risk management
group, the Audit Committee and QEC The
Board alse routinely monitors key performance
indicators and monthly reports of financial

and operational performance, which flag
vanances against the agreed business plan

and budget By so doing, the Board reviews
the effectiveness of the internal control system
during the course of the year
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Members of Glas Cymru

A key role of the Members is to ensure

that the business remains focused on its
primary purpase af providing efficient high
quahty water and sewerage services to the
communities served by Welsh Water When
fulfilling this important corporate governance
role Members act In a personal capacity - they
do not represent any particular group or
stakeholder interest

Members are appointed by the Board, but only
ndividuals recommended by an independent
membership selection panel (the ‘panel’) can
be considered for appointment The role of
the panel s to recommend individuals who in
a written application have shown they have
the skills, experience and interests to be an
effective Member In addition, the panel s
required to ensure that overall a balanced and
diverse membership 1s maintained, which 1s, as
far as possible, broadly reflective of the range
of customer and other stakeholder interests
served by Welsh Water The Chairman of the
panel has confirmed to the Board compliance
by Glas Cymru with the terms of its published
Membership Policy

At the date of this report, Glas Cymru has

70 independent Members, excluding the
Directors of the Company who are also
Members Subsequent to the financial

year end, and following evaluation and
recommendation by the panel, the Board has
approved the reappointment of two Members
whose term of office would otherwise expire
at the end of the 2010 AGM and appointed
two new Members Further details of the
Membership Policy and the Members of Glas
Cymiru can be obtained from the Company
Secretary or from our website

Communication with stakeholders

The Board attaches high importance to
maintaining good relationships with Members
and mvestars The Members of Glas Cymiru
have opportunity to meet with Directors at
the two Members’ Meetings held each year

At these meetings, Directors, including the
chairmen of the key Board comminttees, are
available to answer questions All Members,
including those unable to attend any meeting,
recerve a written bnief of issues discussed at
each meeting

For investors, Glas Cymru hosts an annual
event in Lendon, and immediately following
the announcement of interrm and preliminary
results for any pertod there are informal
meetings with major bondholders and other
investors, who may also request a meeting
with an independent Non-Executive Director
at any time The Board receives a report
following meetings with investors

Regular cornmunication 15 also maintained
with each of the ecenomic, quality and
customer service regulators of Weish Water

By order of the Board

Richard Curtis LLB, ACIS
Company Secretary
4 June 2010

All dacuments which are stated as available on
the Company’s website can be obtamned from
www dwrcymru com
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Comphance

This report has been prepared in accordance
with the provisions of the Compames Act
2006 and, n hine with the Board's commitment
that Glas Cymru shall report as if it were a
listed company, and consistent with high
standards of governance taking into account
the remuneration guidelines published by the
Association of British Insurers, the National
Association of Pension funds and other
governance bodies The report has been
approved by the Board and will be put to the
Members of Glas Cymru for approval at the
2010 Annual General Meeting {the AGM}

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP has audited the
Directors’ emoluments table, roliing incentive
scheme information and the pension table on
pages 60 - 61, and has reviewed the remainder
of this report

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Commuttee (the
‘Committee} is chaired by John Bryant and
comprises all the Non-Executive Directors

A copy of the terms of reference of the
Committee is avallable on the Company’s
website The Chairman of the Board, the
Managing Director and the HR Director, attend
meetings of the Committee only by invitation
The Company Secretary acts as secretary to
the Committee The Committee met on four
occasions in 2009-10

The role of the Committee 15 to approve,
implement and keep under review the
remuneration policy and practice and
speafically

» to agree with the Board the policy and
framewaork for the remuneration of the
Chairman, Non-Executive Directors and
Executive Directors and senior managers
to agree the tarms of service contracts and
remuneration for Executive Directors and
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senior managers, and

» to determune vanable pay arrangements
that encourage and recognise good
performance and reward individuals in
afair and responsible manner for therr
contribution to the success of the Company

Glas Cymru Cyfyngedig
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The Committee has sought independent
external advice on certain aspects of
remuneration policy and best practice The
firms named below advised the Committee in

2009-10, and have been reappanted to adwise

the Committee in 2010-11
» Hewitt New Bndge Street {{HNBS'), who

advise on market best practice in the design
of incentive performance arrangements, the

benchmarking of Directors’ remuneration
and fees and senior management service
contracts and remuneration and in relation
to pension matters, and

Linklaters & Alhance, who provide legal
advice to the Committee an Directors’
service contracts and pension matters

b4

The Committee also received pensions
information and advice from Quantum
Actuaria! LLP In the view of the Committee,
there were no conflicts of interest in relation
to these organisations adwising both

the Committee and the Company In the
implementation of its decisions.

Remuneration Policy

The Committee considers the pnnciples

and prowisions of The Combined Code on
Corporate Governance - June 2008 (‘the
Combined Code’) when setting the policy and
terms for senior axecutive remuneration and
believes it is fully compliant The Committee
also considers the remuneration structures
(strategy, policy and approach) across the
Group as a whole and to any broader social,
environmental and governance issues

The aim of the remuneration policy, which is

broadly consistent for employees, 1s to support

recrustment, retention and motivation and
reward high performance - thereby ensuring
that the business 1s managed by high calibre
executives who are incentrased to produce
sector-leading performance The policy 1s
designed to align as closely as practicable the
interests of the individual wath the longer-
term interests of the business and, especially,
the interests of the customers of Welsh Water
A high proportion of Executive Directors’
remuneration 15 vanable and dependent

on Welsh Water's performance in terms of
protecting public health, protecting the
environment and customer service

The executive remuneration package
compnses four elements base salary and
benefits, two elements of vanable pay

- an annual incentive and a tonger term
performance related incentive, and a penston

The general remuneration policy applies

to Executive Directors and to the senior
leadership team and has been founded on the
following principles

» when setting levels of pay the Remuneration
Committee exercises judgement such that,
having regard to an individual’s expenence
and responsibility, total remuneration shall
be far and competitive when compared to
the relevant market and the organisation
generally

basic salary 15 the only element of total
remuneration that s pensionable and 1s
reviewed annually

Ofwat and other stakeholders judge the
success of the business against water and
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environmental guality, customer service
standards and financial performance
- and these are the hard, auditable
and comparable performance critena
and determinants that underpin the
remuneration policy
» the remuneration policy shall reflect the
mtention of the Board that Welsh Water
should be one of the best performing
companies In the sector - a sigruficant
proportion of the Directors’ remuneration
should therefore be varable and dependent
on the achievement of stretching
performance targets
» performance targets for variable pay
wili be set to ensure that the interests
of management are ahgned with the
objectives of the Board and of customers
and reflect Welsh Water’s role as custodian
of important aspects of public health and
the environment
annual variable pay will have a strong
focus on operating efficiency and service
standards measured agamst targets set by
the Committee, and
there will be a clawback apphcable to all
aspects of vanable pay where awards are
made on the basis of performance that later
proved to be misstated
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When setting remuneration, the Remuneratron
Commuttee 1s advised by HNBS in respect

of remuneration policy in the UK water
companies (both quoted and unquoted)
taking into account, amongst others, turnover
and busrness complexity {e g regulatory versus
non regulatory business and international
exposure) of the comparator companies In
addwian, reference 1s made to remuneration
practice in the FTSE 250 The Committee

may aiso have regard to a Director’s function
and job size and to individual and company
performance

As explained at last year’s Annual General
Meeting, the Committee has reviewed the
remuneration policy and has made some
material changes to the chosen performance
metrics that will apply dunng the next five
years Accordingly the next two sections of
this report describe the vanable pay
arrangements that apphed during 2009-10
and then a description is given of the
revised remuneration policy that is in place
for 2010-11

Annual vanable pay in 2009-10

In 2009-10, the maximum annual vanable pay
payable was 100 percentage points of base
salary ('PPBS"), with payment of the maximum
available amount divided across three
components customer service performance
(40 PPBS), inancial performance (40 PPBS) and
performance against four specific operational
measures (20 PPBS, 5 PPBS per measure)

The customer service component is
determined with reference to the ‘Overall
Performance Assessment’ (OPA’) published by
Ofwat 40 PPBS would be earned for achieving
1st position in the OPA ranking of the ten
water and sewerage companies of England
and Wales (‘OPA League Table’), and 8 PPBS
{20% of the maximum for this element) would
be payable for achieving median performance,
being the average score of the 5th and 6th
ranked companies, with ranking above this
{but not below} rewarded on a hnear scale

The OPA includes non-financial performance

measures for

» water supply including dninking water
quality compliance, interruptions to supply
and restnictions on supply

» sewerage measures including sewage
flooding incidents and a quality of effluent
discharges to the environment that meets
legal and regulatory standards, and

» customner service performance mcluding
speed of response to telephone and written
bilhng enquines and handling of written
complaints

At the discretion of the Commuttee, this
element of vanable pay may be adjusted up or
down by up to 10 PPBS 1o reflect identifiable
and significant aspects of customer service
performance not captured by OPA In
November 2009 the Committee reduced the
amount payable in respect of the financial
year 2008-09 by 5 PPBS to reflect the hugher
number of water quality incidents experienced
by Welsh Water in 2008

The financial component of the annual
performance related vanable pay was based on
net cash flow (before capital expenditure but
after net interest payable} and can earn up to
40 PPBS Performance 1s rewarded on a linear
scale from zero for meeting the annual cash
flows 1n the regulatory settlement for 2005-10
announced by Ofwat in December 2004 (the
‘Final Determination’), 25 PPBS (62 5% of
maximum for this element} and 40 PPBS for
reaching the respective target and maximum
levels approved by the Committee To achieve
target level payment requires that Welsh Water
outperform the Final Determination

The speafic operational measures are
determined by the Committee on an annual
basis and are structured as absolute measures
and as such dependent on improved
performance by Welsh Water, and not simply
good relative performance The Committee

set challenging targets to be met to earn

this element of vanable pay with no amount
being payable for performance at or below
performance in 2008-09 and {except for
measure (a) below) to earn maximum payment
would have required performance equal to the
best performance in the sector

The measures and targets selected by the

Commuttee for 2009-10 were

{(a) Avowdable customer complants, being
complaints that relate to a service fallure
by Welsh Water, which shall not include
complants as regards matters of Board
policy or activity relating to the collection
of customer charges

{b} Sewer flooding attributed to‘other causes,

1e other than due to hydraulic overload of

the sewer network

Category 3 pollution incidents, any

environmental damage 15 a concern and

-

(c

all of these less significant pellution events
are investigated as a ‘near-hit’for
a significant event to ensure that lessons
are learned

{d} The Operational Performance Index (OPI}),
15 the Deinking Water Inspectorate index
used by Ofwat as a measure to assess
overall dnnking water quality

The 2009-10 Accounts include an accrual of
£227,040 (equivalent to 34 4 PPBS) reflecting
the Committee’s current estimate of Welsh
Water's relative performance for the year
ended 31 March 2010 The first element of
annual variable pay will be paid in June 2010
and the Committee will make its assessment
of amounts payable in respect of service
performance for 2009-10 in the autumn 2010,
following publication by Ofwat of its annual
Levels of Service Report

Rolling Long Term Incentive Scheme

n 2009-10

2009-10 was the final year in which awards
could be made under the longer-term
incentive scheme introduced on 1 Apnl 2005
{the‘RLTIS") Fwe annual awards have been
made under the RLTIS The maximum amount
payable under RLTIS in 2009-10 s 60 PPBS,
with 30 PP8S {50% of the maximum} being
payable for reaching ‘target’ performance This
is divided equally between customer service
and financia! performance compeonents

Payments will normally be made within nine
months of the end of the final year to which
they relate, but payment may be deferred at
the discretion of the Committee in the event
that there s a significant deterioration in
performance
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Deferral may be for up to two years, or until
the shortfall has been remedied, whichever
15 earher In addition, payment of up to 20
PPBS wil! be deferred in the event that the
underlying rating of any of the Company’s
bonds has been put on‘credit watch’ by any
of the Rating Agencies, either until taken

off ‘credit watch’ or until they have been
downgraded, in which case the 20 PPBS shall
be forfeited

The customer service component 1s
determined with reference to Welsh Water’s
position 1n an adjusted OPA League Table,
compiled by aggregating OPA scores for each
of the last three years up to and including

the relevant year of assessment This will be
payable on a sliding scale of 100% (30 PPBS)
for achreving 1st position, 75% for 2nd, 50% for
3rd, 25% for 4th and zero for being ranked 5th
or below of the 10 comparator companies

The financial performance component 15 based
on ‘Financial Reserves’ (Regulatory Capital
Value less net debt) as at 31 March 2010, as
defined for the purposes of the quarterly
Investor Report routinely published by the
Company For the penod 2005-2010, growth
in Financral Reserves was considered the best
financial measure of customers’ interest in
the business, as it 15 from Financial Reserves
that the ‘customer dividend’ and additionat
investment to deliver service improvements
has been funded

tUnder RLTIS, the target range for 2009-10 was
set three years ago, subject to consideration by
the Commuttee of circumstances that might,

at the discretion of the Commuttee, require the
target range to be revised These Include (a)
where there are differences between actual
inflation and the assumptions originally made,
{b) where the Board modified relevant policy
after the onginal forecast was made, and (¢)
where there 1s any other matenal influence

on Financial Reserves not onginally foreseen
and which the Committee determines to be
outside the control of Executive Directors
Amounts payable for 2009-10 will be measured
by reference to a lower hmit, the Final
Determination for the period 2005-2010, at
which no payment will be earned, a target
level at which 509 of maximum will be earned
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and an upper himit, set by the Committee,
at which maximum payment will be earned
To achieve target level payment therefore
requires that Welsh Water outperform the
Final Determination

The Committee may also, at its discretion,
adjust any payment calculation up or down
to reflect events or factors that are not
captured by the formulae described above,
providing that justification for any such
adjustment s disclosed i the next annual
remuneration report

The 2005-10 Financial Statements include an
accrual of £152,450 (equivalent to 23 1 PPBS)
reflecting the Committee’s current estimate
of Welsh Water's relative performance for

the three-year period ended 31 March 2010
The Commuttee will make its final assessment
of amounts payable under the RLTIS for
2009-101n the autumn 2010 following
publicatton by Ofwat of jts Levels of Service
Report for the year

Remuneration policy for 2010-11
The Committee has agreed that a new
framework for variable pay i1s needed to reflect

the regulatory contract that Welsh Water is
required to deliver in the five year regulatory
penod ending on 31 March 2015, which is
the most challenging the Company has been
set since the industry was privatised in 1989
Under Ofwat's Final Determination the average
bill for Welsh Water's water and sewerage
customers will reduce over the peniod to

31 March 2015 by around £30 (before
inflation} To dehiver this level of bill reduction
Welsh Water would need to significantly
reduce those operating costs that can be
managed or influenced by management
{'controllable costs’) by around 20%, whilst at
the same time (1) Improving customer service

performance, (1) meeting new serviceability
targets set out in the Final Determination
which are also very challenging, and ()
delivenng a £1 2 bilhion capital investment
pregramme, which includes a number of

‘named outputs’

The following table summaries the new remuneration policy for the executive directors

Hement of ;emuneration Purpose Policy How 1t works
Basa salary » Help rant and retain » Recognise indimdual » Paid monthly {cash)
key employees experience/responsibility » Rewiewed annuatty
» Reflect indmdual » Set at level so total payss » Nominal benefits o land
role/expenience faur relative to market and » Any increases to be reflective
orgamsation genesally of staff pay
Pension » Reward sustained contnbution » Provide compentive post » (pmpenunve defined benefits
Tetirement benefits pension scheme

» No compensation for public
policy/tax changes

» Benefits accre relative to
length of service at renrement
» Remuneration Committee

reviewing attematives for
directors in response to tax
changes.
Annual vanable pay » Incentivise delrvery of spealfic » 3 elements {409 new scorecard % Pald annually {cash)
{for 2010-2011) predetermined goals - see below, 40% operating » Measured vs annual targets set
» Reward ongoing good cost efficiency - 209 strategic by Remuneration Commuttee
stewardship of business and personal measures » Subject to claw-back f found to

» Promate team aulture

» Maxmurm of 1009 base salary
» Remuneration Committee has
discsetion 10 adjust {range
-10% 10 +10%) to give a
faur result.

be flawed

Lontg term vanable pay scheme
(for 2010-2015)

» Incentivise long term
performanice/ business
outeomes aligned to interest of
Welsh Water$ customers,

» Half subject to relative
customer servce performande,
annual awards of up 1o 30% of
s2lary to be made

» Half subject to aeation of
CUSTOMEr equnty In excess of
business plan, up to 1509 of
szlary can be eamed across.
five years

» Pald or accrved in phased
annual nstalments (cash}

» Customer service measured
annualtyon a refative basis
across 3 years

» Cusiomer equity measured over
the 5 year reguiatory peniod
(2010-285)
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The total vaniable pay opportunity for the new
regulatory pertod has not been increased, but
as shown above changes have been made

to some of the metrics upon which it will be
assessed There are two major changes to the
annual plan Relative OPA has been replaced
with a new corporate‘scorecard’ of some 20
measures based around six groupings

1 Qur own wellbeing

2 Safe dnnking water

3 Safe sanitation

4 Protecting our environment

5 Bnihant customer service

6 Delivening cost efficiency

This set of measures will apply across the
orgamisation, from Executive Director to
operator level through a reward scheme
which 15 available to all staff who are not on
personal contracts This, together with routine
communication of performance against the
scorecard via newsletters, staff briefings
and presentations, should promote a team
culture and create organisational alignment
- as well as demonstrate our performance
assessment tn a clear and concise manner
The second change in annuaf vaniable pay
15 the introduction of strategic and personal
objectives, of up to 20% of basic pay, which
would be approved by the Committee
following discussion of a recommendation
made by the Chairman of the Board {who

15 not a member of the Remuneration
Committes)

The Committee has agreed and has put in
place a new long term vanable pay scheme,
which, while capable of revision at any time,

1s intended to operate for a five year period
commenang on 1 Apnl 2010 {the ‘LTVPS')

A summary of the terms of the LTVPS, which is
submitted for approval by the Members of
Glas Cymiru at the 2010 AGM, 1s provided on
page 63

Remuneration Chairman and
Non-Executive Directors

Responsibility for determining the fees

of the Chairman of the Board and of the
Non-Executive Directors sits with the
Committee and with the Board respectively
These fees are reviewed annually There was
no change in the fees of the Chairman and
the Non-Executive Directors in 2005-10

60

reflecting the economic conditions prevailing
atthat ume

Following a two year benchmark review
undertaken in February 2010, the fees payable
for the financial year 2010-11 are

Chairman £196,000 (2009 £190,000)
Non-Executive Directors £54,000 (2009 £52,500)

No additional amount 1s currently payable to
the Chairman or any Non-Executive Director
for the chairmanship of, or membership of,
Board Committees or for the undertaking of
any special responsibilities The Chairman and
the Non-Executive Dirgctors are appointed
under letters of appontment, terminable by
either party on three months'written notice

Remuneration Executive Directors

Salary

Consistent with the decision of the Committee
in respect of the Chairman's fees, the salaries
of the Executive Directors for 2009-10 were
unchanged from the previous year

Following a two year benchmark review
undertaken in February 2010, the base salanes
payable for the financial year 2010-11 are
Nigel Annett (Managing Director)

- £268,000 (2009 £260,000}
Chnis Jones (Finance Director)

- £211,000 (2009 £205,000)
Peter Perry {Operations Director)

- £201,000 (2009 £195000)

There are nine executives, for whom the
remuneration pelicy i1s broadly consistent with
that followed for executive directors, whose
basic salary exceeds £100,000

Annual performance related

pay (2008-09)

In autumn 2009 Executive Directors receved
an annual performance related payment for
the year ended 31 March 2009 equivalent

to 25 7 PPBS (compared to an accrual in

the 2008-09 Accounts of 50 6 PPBS)

Thus movement was due to Welsh Water
being ranked 5th in terms of OPA performance
- for accrual purposes a ranking of 4th had
been assumed

RLTIS (2008-09)

In autumn 2009 Executive Directors received
payment under the RLTIS in respect of the
period ended 31 March 2009 equivalent to
32 0 PPBS, which was the sum accrued in
the 2008-09 Accounts

Pensions

The Executive Directors are all members

of the DCWW Pension Scheme, a defined
benefit scheme Their normal retirement age
under this scheme 1s 60 and benefits accrue
at 1/45th of salary per year of pensionable
service, subject to a maximum overall pension
at normal retirement age of two-thirds of
final pensionable salary The scheme also
provides hfe cover of four times pensignable
pay for death in service, a pension payable in
the event of ill health and a spouse’s pension
payable on death Executive Directors are

also entitled to participate in a private health
and medical insurance scheme There was

no change in pension provision in 2009-10,
save that, following a review of henefits, on

1 October 2009 employee contribution rates
ncreased from 6% to 9% and employer future
service contribution rates reduced from 21 3%
to 209, {see note 21 to the accounts)

The penston benefits eamed by the Directors during the year are shown in the table below

Transfer value of

Real increase in Transfer value realincrese in

Accrued Pension  accrued pension equivalent accrued pension,

{perannum)at  intheyear{net Transfer value at of increasen  Transfer valye at Conteibutions  netof member

31 March 2010 of nflation)  31March 2009 accrued pengion 31 March 2010 paid by Director wontributions

NCAnnett* £107,799 £5,778 £1,293,760 £333,960 £1,627.720 £19,500 £67,747
CA Jones® £68,658 £4,556 £637,361 £193,532 £830,893 £15,375 £39,759
PD Permy*™ £83,363 £10,342 £794,155 £303,08% £1,097,236 £14.625 £121,503

*hecrued pensions indude previsus sernce in Hydes Water and United Utilizes Pension Schemes.
1% The accrued pension and transfer value at 31 March 2009 and 31 March 2010 allow for Peter Perry’s augmented benefits at those dates. The augmentation
15 based on the renstatement, over a five year penod, of a full salary lirk 10 benefits transfemred into the schame fram his previous employer
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Directors’ emoluments (excluding pension
benefits and RLTIS)

The table on this page reports emoiuments
in respect of the year ended 31 March

2010, and includes a best estimate of the
performance related annual payment
relating to customer service performance
for 2009-16 Annual vanable pay i1s paid in
part in June, with the element that relates
to service performance being assessed and
paid tn the autumn, following publication by
Ofwat of its Levels of Service Report which
sets out the comparative performance of
the 10 water and sewerage companies of
England and Wales The extent to which this
element of the variable pay has been over
or under estimated will be disciosed in the
Remuneration Report for next year

The Committee believes the presentation
of emoluments adopted in the table below
allows a direct comparison of Directors’
remuneration year on year

The information required te comply with
the Compantes Act s pravided in full
and 1s disclosed in the table and in the
supplementary notes

Directors’ earmings RLTIS

In addition to the disclosed emoluments,
provision 1s made in the Financial Statements
for the payment under the RLTIS, which s
payable in autumn 2010

The provision of £152,460 equates to
23 1 PPBS, and has been estimated on the
basis that the performance in Ofwat'’s
Overall Performance Assessment for the three
year pertod 2007-08 to 2009-10 will be 4th,
as below The final amount to be paid will be
determined when Ofwat publishes its OPA
results for 2009-10 in autumn 2010, and could
be higher or lower than the provision made
Nigel Annett £60,060
Chris Jones £47,355
Peter Perry  £45,045

Emoluments earned by the Directors in respect of the financial year ended 31 March 2010 were

For the three year period ended 31 March 2009
Welsh Water was ranked 4th in OPA
performance of the 10 water and sewerage
companes Following publication of this
report, in November 2009 payments were
made to Executive Directors totalling £211,200
{equivatent to 32 PPBS} Nigel Annett £83,200,
Chnis Jones £65,600 and Peter Perry £62,400
These payments were at the level provided for
in the 2008-09 Accounts

Service contracts

The Executive Directors have service contracts
that are subject to a 12 month notice penod
Directors’ service contracts do not provide

for compensation to be payable in the event
of early termination by the Company At the
Campany's discretian, an Executive Director
may be paid base salary alone in fieu of notice
A significant element of mitigation is built into
the contract should the Company choose to
exercise its option to make a payment in lieu
of notice

2009-104) Lord Burns N Annett CA Jones PPerry RIAing  IMBryznt GT Davies DJHine  ArHobson SPalmer M Strachan Total
Salary - £260,000 £205,000 £195,000 - - - - - - £660000
Variable pay 1009 10

Ansusal provision B 189,440 10,520 {67,080 - - - - - - £127,040
Benefits in kind @ - 1840 1579 - - - - - - 04
Fees £190,000 - - - £52,500 £52,500 £52,500 £52,500 £52,500 £22,885 £52,500  £527 885
Total emaluments riating to 2009-10 £190,000 350,280 £276,099 £262 080 £52,500 £52,500 152,500 £52,500 £52,500 £22.885 £52500  £1,416,34
Emoluments earned by the Directors in respect of the fimancial year ended 31 March 2009 were

00309 LordBurns  NCAnnett (A Jones P Perry RiAving M Bryant GF Dames DIHine  AJHobson SPalmer M Strachan Total
Salary £260,000 £205,000 £195,000 - - £660,000
Vanable pay 2008-09

Annual provision (4 - {131,550 £103,730 £93 670 - - - - - £333,950
2003-09 adjustment {reduction} £64,740 £51,045 £48,555 - - - - £164,340
Tota! vanable pay(™ £66,820 £32,685 £50,115 - 169,620
Benefits i und 554 £532 - - - - 1,086
Fees £190,000 - - . 152,18 152,500 £52.500 £52,500 £52,500 52,500 £504 653
Totat emaluments relating to 2008-09 H0000 3731 DRAT 245115 £52163 £52,500 152,500 £52,500 £52,500 - £52500  £1,335,369

(1) Changes of Director 1 2008-09 and 2009-10 B} Ayling was appented a Durector on 3 Aprd 2008 end S Palmer wos gppomnted a Dirertor on 26 October 2009

{2} The fincnciai staterments for the year ended 31 March 201 Dunchuge g provision of £227,040 {34 4 PPBS of base salary} for annual varable pay potenticlly payable to Executive Durectors for performance in the financiat year 2009-10
s provisien has been estimated on the basis that performence in Ofwet’s Overgl! Performande Assessment for 2009 10 will be bth The final emount to be paid to each Director wifl be determmed when Ofwat publishes OPA results

for 2009-10wn the gutumn of 2010, and could be higher or lower

(3} Benefits in kind relate to receipt of private medieal iserance, ol health cover and life wsurance
{4) An annual performance refated payment of £333,960 was provided for i the Report and Accounts for 2003-09 and wos estimated o the bass that OPA performance on 2008-09 would be 4th

(5} The octual annuot performance related payment m respect of 2008-09 totofled £168,620 and wws paid in November 2009, foliowing publication of Ofwat’s OPA report for 2008-09, whidh confirmed Welsh Water's posmion as 5th
The highest paid Durector in 2009- 10 wos NCAnpett who recerved ematuments of £350,280 (2009 NCAnnert £327,374)
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External appointments

The Board recognises the benefit of broadened
experence that might be achieved through
the involvement of Executive Directors in
external activities Any appointment is subject
to annual approval by the Commuttee and,
subject to the Committee’s agreement, a
Director may retain any fees Chnis Jones is

a Non-Executive Director of the Principahty
Building Society, in respect of which he retains
a fee of £32,000 per annum

Recommendation

The Committee belreves that the
Remuneration Policy provides the rnight
balance of fixed and vanable pay to retain and
reward Executive Dhirectors for the attainment
of the challenging goals the Board has set for
tha Company Accordingly, the Committee
recommends the Members of Glas Cymru to
approve this 2010 Remuneration Report

John Bryant
Chairman Remuneration Committee
4 June 2010
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SUMMARY OF THE PRINCIPAL TERMS OF THE GLAS CYMRU
LONG-TERM VARIABLE PAY SCHEME 2010 (THE ‘SCHEME’)

Introduction

Over the five year period that commenced on

1 Apnl 2019, Executive Directors will be incentivised
by a combinatron of annual and long term vanable
pay arrangements The latter of these has been
approved by the Remuneration Comrmttee of the
Board of Directors of the Company (the ‘Committee’)
The long term vaniable pay arrangements, which are
set out in the rules of the Scheme, are detailed below

Operation

The Committee will supervise the operation of

the Scheme This will include determining who
participates, setting the quantum of awards,
determining the conditions to apply to the awards
and the extent to which these conditions are
ultimately met

Eligibility

Only employees (including Executive Directors) of
the Company and its subsidiaries will be eligible to
participate in the Scheme at the discretion of the
Cammittee The Chairman, Non-Executive Directors
and consultants cannot participate The intention
15 to mat participation to the Executive Directors
and senior executives who directly report to them
conslistent with our previous policy and market
practice

Type of awards

An award will compnse a cash payment thats
assessed either over a rolling three year performance
period (‘a rolling award’} or over 2 fixed five year
perfarmance penod (‘a long-term award’} - see
‘Performance conditions’ below for further details
Rolling awards and the long term award are
collectively referred to as ‘awards’n this summary

The Scheme shall govern payments to be made

In respect of the five year regulatory period that
cormmenced on 1 April 2010 The first awards

will be paid out in autumn 2011 in respect of the
financial year ending on 31 March 2011 Each year
an award will comprise an annual payment of the
rolling awards {as descrnibed below) Awards are

not transferable, except on death Any payment
made pursuant to an award shall not be counted for
pension purposes

Individual limt

The maximum variable pay that may be paid out
over the life of the Scheme 15 300 percentage points
of base salary (PPBS) The maximum PPBS 1s divided
equally between two performance companents -
customer service and financial performance Further
details on these components can be found below

Performance conditions
There are two measures of performance which will
determine the amount paid out under the awards

Customer service (rolling awards)

The first 15 customer service, which in years 1 and
2 will be measured by reference to a combination
of two Ofwat measures the Overall Performance
Assessment {{OPA’) and the service incentive
mechanism {SIM?) n years 3 to 5 performance will

Glas Cymru Cyfyngedig
Company Number 3975719

be measured by reference to SIM alone SIM s the
Ofwat measure which is based on both quanutative
and gualitative measures of consumer experience,
and which replaced OPA from the start of the
financial year 2010-11 Similar to QPA, Ofwat will
publish data for each of the water and sewerage
companies in England and Wales and the Company’s
relative position will be compiled by aggregating the
5IM (and, where appropnate, OPA) scores for each of
the three years of the performance penod up to and
Including the relevant year of assessment, which will
determine the extent to which this target 1s met

The customer service performance condition will
apply to the rolling awards Consistent with the
Company’s previcus policy, rolling awards will be
subject to a three year performance period Thrs
means that the maximum 150 PPBS to which the
customer service performance condition appliesis
split into five annual grants of rolling awards of 30
PPBS each Payments will normally be made within
nine months of the end of the financial year to which
they relate, although payment may be deferred at
the discretion of the Committee in the event that
there 15 a significant detenoration in performance
Deferral may be for up to two years, or until the
shortfall has been remecdied, whichever is the earlier

A rolling award will be payable on a sliding scale of
30PPBS (1 100% of the annual grant) for achieving
1st position, 22 5 PPBS for 2nd position, 15 PPBS for
3rd position, 7 5 PPBS for 4th position and zero for
being ranked 5th or below of the water and sewerage
companies in England and Wales

Customner equity (fong-term awards)

The Committee considers that the best financial
measure of customers’ interest in the business 1s the
creation of customer equity over the five year period
of the Scheme Customer equity is the Company’s
financial reserves, | e its Ragulatory Capital Value less
net debt (as defined for the purposes of the quarterly
Investor Report published by the Company) in excess
of that provided for in the business plan approved by
the Board

The customer equity performance condition which
applies to the long term award 15 to create £100m

or more of customer equity in excess of the 2010
business plan target set by the Board between 1 Apnil
2010 and 31 March 2015 Onthe achievement of this
stretch target, the maximum 150 PPBS will be payable
Zero PPBS will be payable for meeting or falling short
of the 2010 business ptan target, and there will be
straight-line pro rating between these two points.

Progress against this five year target may be
acknowledged at the discretion of the Committee

by permitting interim or staged accruals or

payments to be made These are capped as follows
up o 10 PPBS in respect of the 2010/11 financial year,
up to 20 PPBS inrespect of the 2011/12 financral year,
up to 30 PPB5 in respect of the 2012/13 financial year
and up to 40 PPBS in respect of the 2013/14 financial
year If any of the staged payments described above
are not paid out, they may be rotled up and paid out
in any subsequent financial year

The final entitiement (of up to 150 PPBS after taking
into account any previous staged payments) will be
payable following Ofwat's Final Determination for the
next regulatory period (2015-2020) at the end of the
2014 Price Review process or such later date as the
Committee may determing

Consistent with the incentivisation scheme that
applied between 2005-2010, when determining the
level of any staged or final award under the new
scheme the Commuttee will have regard to, amongst
other things, the performance and rating of the
Group’s bonds and may at its discretion defer all or
part of an award if the Group's bonds have been put
on credit watch or downgraded

In orcumstances where the Commuittee makes an
intenm {or stage) payment against the target to
participants but the final customer equity figure at
the end of the five year performance period 15 less
than the sum of the interim payment or payments,
then such payments will be ‘trued-up’so that any
excess sums are dlawed back from participants,

The customer equity target may be amended

N certarn circumstances at the discreton of the

Committee These arcumstances include

{a) where there are differences between actual
inflation and the assumptions ongrnally made,

{b} where the Board has modified a relevant policy
after the original forecast was made, and

(<) where there s any other matenial influence on
financial reserves that was not originally foreseen
and which the Committee determines to be
outside the control of the Executive Directors,

Leaving employment

An award will lapse upon a participant ¢easing to
hold employment or be a Director within the Group
Any awards that have been paid before the date of
cessation may be retained by the participant

Corporate events

In the event of a change of legaf statys or dissolution
of the Company or a substantial change to the
Company’s constitution, the Committee may allow
outstanding awards to be paid early to the extent
determined by the Comrnittee in its discretion
Alternatively, the Committee may require the awards
to continue, after being appropnately modified to
reflect the event in question Any awards that have
been paid before the date of the corporate event may
be retained by the participant

Alterations to the Scheme

The Commuittee may, at any time, amend the Scheme
or any of the performance conditions in any respect,
provided that the maximum award provided by this
Scheme shall not be exceeded Any amendment wilt
be reported to Members and confirmed in the next
published Remuneration Report
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY

The Directors are responsible for preparning
the Annual Report and the Group and parent
Company financial statements in accordance
with applicable law and regulations

Company law requires the Directors to
prepare Group and parent Company financial
statements for each financial year Under that
law the Directors have elected to prepare

the Group and parent Company financial
statements in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards ('IFRS’) as
adopted by the EU

Under company law the Directors must not
approve the financial statements unless they
are satisfied that they give a true and fair view
of the state of affairs of the Group and the
parent Company and of the profit of the Group
for that penod

In prepanng each of the Group and parent
Company financal statements, the Directors
are required to
» select suitable accounting policies and then
apply them consistently
make judgments and estimates that are
reasonable and prudent
state whether applicable IFR5s as adopted
by the EU have been followed, subject
to any matenial departures chsclosed and
explained in the financial statements, and
» prepare the financial statements on

the gotng concern basis unless it1s

¥

=

P

~

inappropriate to presume that the Group
and the parent Company will continue in
business

The Directors are rasponsible for keeping
proper accounting records that disclose with
reasonable accuracy at any time the financial
position of the parent Company and enable
them to ensure that its inancial statements
comply with the Compantes Act 2006 They
have general responsibility for taking such steps
as are reasonably open to them to safeguard
the assets of the Group and to prevent and
detect fraud and other rregulanties

Under applicable law and requlations, the
Drrectors are alse responsible for preparing

a Directors’ Report, 2 Directors’ Remuneration
Report and a Corperate Governance
Statement that comply with that law and
those regulations

The Company is responsible for the
maintenance and integrity of the corporate
and financial information included on its
website Legislation in the UK governing the
preparation and dissemination of financial
statements may differ from legislation in other
Junsdictions

By order of the Board

Richard Curtis LLB, ACIS
Company Secretary
4 June 2010

Glas Cymru Cyfyngedig
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF GLAS CYMRU CYFYNGEDIG

We have audited the group and paremt
company financial statements (the ‘financlal
statements’) of Glas Cymru Cyfyngedig for the
year ended 31 March 2010 which comprise
the Consolidated Income Statement, the
Consohidated Statement of Comprehensive
Incame, the Consolidated Statement of
Changes in Reserves, the Consolidated

and Parent Company Balance Sheets, the
Consolidated Cash Flow Statement and

the related notes The financial reporting
framework that has been applied in their
preparation Is apphcable law and International
Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as
adopted by the European Unlon and, as
regards the parent company financial
statements, as apphed in accordance with the
provisions of the Companies Act 2006

Respective responsibilities

of directors and auditors

As explained more fully in the Directors’
Responsibilities Statement set out on

page 54, the directors are responsible for the
preparation of the financial statements and for
being satisfied that they give a true and fair
view Our responstbility 15 to audit the financial
statements in accordance with applicable law
and International Standards on Auditng (UK
and Ireland} Those standards require us to
comply with the Auditing Practices Board's
Ethucal Standards for Auditors

This report, including the opinions, has been
prepared for and only for the company’s
members as a body in accordance with
Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act
2006 and for no other purpose We do not,

in giving these epinions, accept or assume
responsibility for any other purpose or to any
ather person to whom this report 1s shown
or into whose hands 1t may come save where
expressly agreed by our prior consent in
wriing

Scope of the audit of the

financial statements

An audit involves obtaining evidence about
the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements sufficient to give reasonable
assurance that the financfal statements are frae
from material misstatement, whether caused
by fraud or error This Includes an assessmeant
of whether the accounting policies are
appropnate to the company’s circumstances
and have been consistently apphed and
adequately disclosed, the reasonableness of
significant accounting estimates made by the
directars, and the overall presentation of the
financial statements

Opinion an financial statements

In our opinion

» the financial statements give a true and
fair view of the state of the group’s and of
the parent company’s affairs as at 31 March
2010 and of the group’s profit and group's
and parent company’s cash flows for the
year then ended

the group financial statements have been

x

properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs

as adopted by the European Union
» the parent company financial statements
have been properly prepared in accordance
with IFRSs as adopted by the Eutopean
Unwon and as applied in accordance with the
provisions of the Companies Act 2006, and
the finanoial statements have been

x

prepared in accordance with the
requirements of the Companies Act 2006

Oplnlon an other matter prescribed by the
Companies Act 2006

In qur opitwon, the information given in the
Directors’ Report for the financial year for
which the financial statements are prepared is
consistent with the financial statements

Matters on which we are required to report

by exception

We have nothing to report in respect of the

following matters where the Companies Act

2006 requires us to report to you if, in our

opinion

» adequate accounting records have not been
kept by the parent company, or returns
adequate for our audit have not been
received from branches not visited by us, or

» the parent company financial statements

are not 1n agreement with the accounting

records and returns, or

certain disclosures of directors’

remuneration specified by law are not

made, or

we have not recewed all the information

and explanations we require for our audit

P

=

P

=

Other matters

The directors have requested, (because the
company applies Listing Rules 986R 5 and 6
of the Financial Services Authorty as if it were
a histed company), that we review the parts of
the Carporate Governance Statement relating
to the company’s comphance with the nine
provisions of the June 2008 Combined Code
specified for our review by the Listing Rules
of the Finanaial Services Authonty We have |
nothing to repert in respect of this review

At the request of the directors, we have also
audited the Directors Remuneration Report
that 1s described as having been audited

In our opinion, the part of the Directors’
Remuneration Report to be audited has been
properly prepared in accordance with the
Companies Act 2006

Stephen W Harrisen (Senior Statutory Auditor) |
for and on behalf of PncewaterhouseCoopers LLP |
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors, |
Cardiff [ 4 June 2010
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PRIMARY STATEMENTS

Consolidated Income Statement for the year ended 31 March 2010

2010 2009
Note £m £m £fm Em
Revenue 6882 657 2
Qperating costs
- Operational expenditure
Before exceptional tems 3 {265 7) (266 9)
Exceptional items 4 {29 5) B
{295 2) (266 9)
- Infrastructure renewals expenditure 3 (773) {101 1)
- Depreciation and amortisation 3 {139 5) {133 5)
- Loss on disposal of fixed assets 3 0.4} 08)
Operating profit analysed as
Operating profit before exceptional items 2053 1549
Exceptional items 4 (29 5) -
Operating profit 1758 1549
Financing costs
- Interest payable and similar charges sa (101 3) (174 3}
- Interest recevable 5a 34 86
- Fair value losses on denvative financial instruments  sb (150 (86 5)
(1129) (252 2)
Profit/{loss) before taxation 3 629 (97 3}
Taxation credit/(charge) [ 19 (56}
Profit/(loss) for the year 648 {102 9)
Underlying profit/(loss} for the year
2010 2009
£m £m
Profit/(loss) before taxation per Income Statement 629 {97 3)
Add back
- Exceptional items (see note 4) 293 -
- Fair value losses on derivative financial statements (see note 5b) 15.0 865
Underlying profit/{loss) for the year
(before exceptional items, taxation and
fair value adjustments} 1074 (108)
Glas Cymru Cyfyngedig
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income for the year ended 31 March 2010

2010 2009
Note £m fm
Profit/{loss) for the year 648 {1029)
Actuanal loss recognised in the pension scheme n (15) (10 4)
Movement on deferred tax asset relating te pension scheme 6 - 29
Total comprehensive income/(expenditure) for the year 633 {1104)
Consolrdated Statement of Changes in Reserves for the year ended 31 March 2010
2010 2009
£m £m
Reserves at 1 Apni (152 1) (41 7)
Total comprehensive income/{expenditure) for the year 633 {110 4)
Reserves at 31 March (88.8) {152 1)

There were no changes in reserves of the parent company durning the year (2009 none}

Glgs Cymru Cyfyngedig
Company Number 3975719
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PRIMARY STATEMENTS

Consolidated Balance Sheet as at 31 March 2010

2010 2009
Note £m £m
Assets
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment ] 3,1039 29800
Intangible assets 3 601 462
Investments 10a - -
Financial assets
- dersvative financial instruments 15 08 -
S T T 30848 30262
Current assets
Trade and other receivables n 1140 1022
Financial assets
- derivative financial instrurments 15 44 260
Cash and cash equivalents 12 2487 1393
3671 2675
Liabilities
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 13 (130 5) (129 5)
Financial liabilities
- borrowings 14 (150 2} {(200)
- dervative financial instruments 15 (36 0} {21)
Provisions 7 {14 8} -
(331 5) (151 6)
Net current assets 356 1159
Non-current habilities
Trade and other payables 13 (2 3) {30}
Financial habilities
- borrowings 1 (2,761 8) (27397}
- denvative financial instruments 15 (141 9) (181 7}
Retirement benefit obligations 1 {8 0} {7 8}
Provistons 17 (22 6) 92)
i o T (293660 (29414}
Net assets before deferred tax 2638 2007
Deferred tax - net 7 (352 6) {352 8)
Net llabilitles (88 8) {152 1)
Deficit (88 8) {152 1)

The financial statements on pages 66 to 96 were approved by the Board of dwectors on 4 June 2010 and were signed on its behalf by

N C Annett
Managing Director

CAlJones
Finance Director

Glas Cymru Cyfyngedig
Company Number 39757193




Parent Company Balance Sheet as at 31 March 2010

2010 2009
Note £m fm
Assets
Non-current assets
Investment in subsidiaries 10b - -
Trade and other receivables 11b 34 34
34 34
Current assets
Cash and cash equivalents 12 01 01
o1 o1
Liabilities
Current liabihities
Trade and other payables 13 (35) (35)
(35) (35
Met assets - -
Reservas

Retained earnings - -

Total reserves - -

The financral statements on pages 66 to 96 were approved by the Board of directors on 4 June 2010 and were signed on its behalf by

NC Annett CAlJones
Managing Director Finance Director
Glas Cymru Cyfyngedig

Company Number 3975719
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PRIMARY STATEMENTS

Consolidated Cash Flow Statement for the year ended 31 March 2010

2010 2009

Note £m £m
Cash flows from operating activities
Cash generated from operations 18a 3306 3091
Interest receved 35 98
Interest paid 18b (1161) (1294)
Net cash inflow from operating activities 2180 1895
Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (281 4) (257 0)
Grants and contributions receved 123 136
Costs of sale of property, plant and equipment {0 4) (08)
Net cash used in Investing actwvities {269 5) (244 2)
Net cash outflow before financing activities (51 5) (547)
Cash flows from financing activities
Long term leans and finance leases received 350 850
8ond 1ssue proceeds 1393 -
Revolving credit facility and term loan repayments (4 4} {44)
Captal element of finance lease payments 8 6) {104}
Qther loan repayments (0 4) (03)
Net cash generated from financing activities 1609 699
Increase in net cash 19 109 4 152
Net cash at 1 Apnl 1393 1241
Net cash at 31 March 12 248.7 1393
The parent company had no cash flows during the year (2009 none)

Glas Cymru Cyfyngedig
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1 { Accounting policies, financing risk
management and accounting estimates
Basis of Preparation

The financial statements are prepared in
accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by
the European Union and those parts of the
Companies Act 2006 applicable to reporting
under IFRS The financial statements have
teen prepared under the historical cost
convention as modified by the revaluation
of certain financial instruments to fair value
in accordance with IFRS and as permitted by
the Fair Value Directive as implemented in the
Companies Act 2006

In the current year, Glas Cymru has applied the

fellowing Interpretations which are or have

become effective

IFRS7  Francial Instruments — Disclosures
{amendment)

[FRS8  Qperating Segments (revision)

IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements
(revision)

IA$23  Borrowing Costs (revision)

IAS27  Consohdated and Separate Financial
Statements (revision)

IAS32  Financial instruments Presentation
(revision}

IAS 39  Financial Instruments Recognition
and Measurement (revision)

Except as noted under‘Changes of accounting
policy’ below in respect of IAS 23, the
application of these Interpretations has

no matenal effect on the preparation or
presentation of the results or financial position
for the current or prior accounting periods, and
accordingly no prior period adjustment has
been required

At the date of approval of these financial

statemnents, the following Standards and

Interpretations, which have not been applied

n these financial statements, were 10 1ssue but

not yet effective

[AS1 Presentation of Financial Statements
(revision)

IA527  Consclidated and Separate Financial
Statements {revision)

IAS 38  Intangible Assets (revision)

IFRIC 18 Transfers of Assets from Customers

Glas Cymru Cyfyngedig
Company Number 3975719

The application of IFRIC 18, effective for

Glas Cymru's financial statements for the
year ending 31 March 2011, will require

the recognition of iIncome in the financial
statements when a property developer lays
a pipe to connect a new development to the
network and transfers the asset to the water
company for no charge Such assets will be
recorded at their fair value on the balance
sheet with the credit recognised immediately
as revenue, on the basis that once the
company has connected the development
to the network there 15 no further obligation
ansing for the company

The presentational impact of the other
Standards and Interpretations is being
assessed, but the directors anticipate that
the adoption of these Standards and
Interpretations in future penods will have no
material )impact on the financial statements
of the group

Change of accounting policy

Duning the year, a revision to IAS 23,
‘Borrowing costs' became applicable

The revision removes the option of
immediately recognising as an expense
borrowing costs that relate to assets that
take a substantial pertod of time to get ready
for use or sale, and Glas Cymru is therefare
required to capitahise borrowing costs as part
of the cost of such assets (see ‘Property, plant
and equipment’ below) In respect of the year
ended 31 March 2010, £6 1m of borrowing
costs have been capitahised and will be
amortised over the useful economic lives of
the related assets The reviston to 1AS 23 has
been applied prospectively from 1 Apnl 2009
and no adjustment 1s required to prior periods

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include
the financial statements of the company and
all of its subsidiaries The results of companies
and businesses acquired duning the year

are dealt with in the consolidated financial
statements from the date of acquisition Intra-
group transactions and profits are eltminated
on consclidation

Accounting policies for the

year ended 31 March 2010

The principal accounting polictes adopted in

the preparation of these financial statements

are set out below These policies have been

applied consistently to all the years presented,

except as noted above under ‘Change of

accounting policy’ !

Revenue recognition

Revenue represents the income recewvable in
the ordinary course of business for services
provided, excluding value added tax Where
services have been prowvided, but for which
no mvoice has been raised at the year-end, an
estimate of the value 15 included in revenue
See the cntical accounting estimates section
for further details.

Revenue recognised reflects the actual charges
levied on customers n the year The difference
between the actual revenue and the level of
revenue that could have resulted had the full
Ofwat-allowed level of charges been levied i1s
referred to as a‘customer dividend’

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are included

at cost less accumulated depreciation

Cost reflects purchase price together with

any expenditure directly attributable to
bringing the asset into use, including directly
attributable internal costs and, in respect of
capital projects commenced after 1 April 2009,
borrowing costs in accordance with (AS 23

Property, plant and equipment comprise

a} infrastructure assets (being mains and
sewers, impounding and pumped raw
water storage reservoirs, dams, sludge
pipelines and sea outfalls), and

b} other assets (including properties,
overground operational structures and
equipment, and fixtures and fittings)

The carrying value of assets is reviewed for
impairment iIf corcumstances dictate that
the carrying value may not be recoverable
Asset ives and residual values are reviewed
annually
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1) Infrastructure assets

Infrastructure assets comprise principally
impounding reservorrs and a network of
underground water and wastewater systems
For accounting purposes, the water system
1s segmented into components representing
categories of asset classes with similar
charactenstics and asset lives The wastewater
system 1s segmented intc components
representing geographical operating areas,
reflecting the way the group operates its
wastewater activities

Expenditure on infrastructure assets relating

to increases In capacity, enhancements or
material replacements of network components
1s treated as additions, which are included

at cost Expenditure incurred in repairing

and maintaining the operating capabality

of individual infrastructure components,
‘infrastructure renewals expenditure; 15
expensed in the year in which the expenditure
15 tncurred

The depreciation charge for infrastructure
assets i1s determined for each component

of the network and 1s based on each
compenent’s cost, estimated residual vailue
and the expected remaining average useful
Iife The useful average economic hves of the
mnfrastructure components range principally
from 60 to 150 years

2) Other assets

Other assets are depreciated on a straight line
basis over their estimated useful economic
hves, which are as follows

Freehold buildings 60 years

Leasehold properties over the
lease period

Operational structures 10 - 80 years

Fixed plant 8 - 40 years

Vehicles, mobile plant,

equipment and computer

hardware and software 3 - 16 years

Assets in the course of construction are not
depreciated until commissioned
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Intangible assets

Intangible assets, which comprise principally
computer software and system developments,
are included at cost less accumulated
depreciatton Cost reflects purchase price
together with any expenditure directly
attributable to bringing the asset into use,
including directly attnbutable internal costs
but excluding interest

The carrying values of intangible assets are
reviewed for impairment If circumstances
dictate the carrying value may not be
recovered

Intangible assets are amortised on a straight
line basis over their estimated useful economic
lives, which range between 3 and 15 years
These asset lives are reviewed annually

Leased assets

Where assets are financed by leasing
arrangements, which transfer substantially

all the risks and rewards of ownership of an
asset to the lessee (finance leases), the assets
are capitalised and included in'property,
plant and equipment’ with the corresponding
liability to the lessor included within *financial
liabilities — borrowings’ Leasing payments are
treated as consisting of a capital element and
afinance charge, the capital element reducing
the obhgation to the lessor with the finance
charge being recogmised over the period of
the lease based on its imphcit rate so as to give
a constant rate of interest on the remaining
balance of the hability

Ali other teases are regarded as operating
leases Rental costs ansing under operating
leases are charged to the income statement
on a straight-hne basis over the perniod of
the lease

Grants and customer contributions

Grants and customer contributions in respect
of expenditure on property, plant and
equipment have been offset against

fixed assets

Grants in respect of revenue expenditure are
credited to the Income Statement over the
same period as the related expenditure 15
incurred

Capital expenditure programme

Incentive payments

The group’s agreements with its construction
partners involved in delivering capital
expenditure programmes incorporate
incentive bonuses payable after completion
of the programmes The cost of fixed asset
additions includes an accrual for incentive
bonuses earned to date, relating to projects
substantially completed at the year-end,
where the likelihood of making the incentive
payment 1s considered probable Amounts
recoverable from contract partners relating to
targets not being achieved are only recognised
on completed projects

Target cost contracts

The group mamntains target cost contracts with
1ts main operating partners The group’s policy
in respect of pain/gain share receivables/
payables ansing from these contracts 1s to
recognise gain payables over the period to
which the charge relates, and pain receivables
as income cnly when final agreement with the
relevant service partner has been achieved

Trade recervables and their impairment
Trade receivables are recognised initsally at
fair value and subsequently measured at
amartised cost less provision for impairment
They are first assessed indvidually for
impairment, or collectively where the
receivables are not individually significant
Where there 1s no objective evidence of
impairment for an individual recervable,

it 1s included in a group of recevables with
similar credit nsk charactenstics and these are
assessed collectively for impairment based
on their ageing Movements in the provision
for impairment are recorded i1n the income
statement

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include highly
Iiquid investments that are readily convertible
nto known amounts of cash and which are
subject to an insignificant risk of change in
value Such investments are normally those
with less than three months’ matunty from
the date of acquisition and typically include
cash in hand and deposits with banks or other
financial instituttons, less any overdrafts

Glas Cymru Cyfyngedig
Company Number 3975719




Pension costs

1) Defined benefit scheme

A majonty of the group’s employees belongs
to the group’s defined benefit pension scheme,
which 1s funded by both employer’s and
employees’ contnbutions Actuanal valuations
of the scherne are carned out at intervals of
not more than three years Contribution rates
are based on the advice of a professionally
qualified actuary

The net asset or hability recognised in the
balance sheet represents the present value
of the defined benefit obligations less the fair
value of the plan's assets

The group’s defined benefit scheme service
cost, being the increase in the present value of
the habilities expected to anse from employee
service in the penad, s mcluded wn operating
costs The expected return on scheme assets
and interest on scheme habilities are mcluded
n financing costs in the iIncome statement
Actuanal gains and losses on experience
adjustments and changes in actuaral
assumptions are recognised i full in the
period in which they occur in the Statement of
Comprehensive income

2) Defined contribution scheme

The group also eperates a defined contnbution
scheme for those employees who are not
members of the defined benefit scheme
Obhigations for contributions to the scheme
are recognised as an expense in the Income
Statement In the penod in which they anse

Finanaal habilities

Debt 15 inttially measured at fair value,

which is the amount of the net proceeds

after deduction of directly attnbutable 1ssue
costs, with subsequent measurement at
amortised cost Debt i1ssue costs are recognised
n the income statement over the expected
term of such instruments at a constant rate on
the carrying amount

Financial assets

Financial assets represent held to maturity
investments that are non-derivative, with fixed
or determinable payments and fixed maturities
of over three months at the date of acquisition,
which the group intends to hold until maturity

Glas Cymru Cyfyngedig
Company Number 3975719

Derivative financial instruments

Derivative instruments utilised by the group
are interest rate and inflation swaps Dervative
instruments are used for hedang purpeses

to alter the nisk profile of existing underlying
exposures within the group

Denvatives are recognised imtially and
subsequently re-measured at farr value
(based on market pnice data from relevant
counterparties)

During the year to 31 March 2010, none of
the group’s derivatives qualified for hedge
accounting under IAS 3% (2009 none}
These instruments are carnied at fair value
with changes n fair value being recognised
immediately in the income statement

Deferred taxation

Deferred corporation tax 1s provided, using the
ability method, on all temporary differences
at the balance sheet date between the tax
bases of assets and habilittes and their carrying
amounts for financial reporting purposes

Deferred tax liabilities are recogrised in
respect of all temporary differences Deferred
tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, carry-forward of unused
tax assets and tax losses, to the extent that
they are regarded as recoverable They are
regarded as recoverable where, on the basis

of available evidence, there will be suitable
taxable profits against which the future reversal
of the underlying temporary differences can be
deducted The carrying value of the amount of
deferred tax assets is reviewed at each balance
sheet date and reduced to the extent that 1t

15 ne longer probable that sufficient taxable
profit will be available to allow all, or part, of
the asset to be utilised

Deferred corporation tax assets and liabiities
are measured at the tax rates that are expected
to apply to the year when the asset s realised
or the hability 1s settled, based on the tax rates
that have been substantially enacted at the
balance sheet date (2010 and 2009 28%)

Provisions

Prowision 1s made for all known and estimated
habilities of the group where there 1s a present
obligation and it is probable that a transfer of
economic benefits will be required to settle
the obligation

in the case of leases, where properties are no
longer occupied by the group, provision s
made for the habilities that are expected to anse
tn respect of rental payments and dilapidations,
prior to disposal or termination of the lease

Where the group receives claims that are either
not covered by msurance or where there 1s an
element of the ¢laim for which insurance cover
1s not available, a provision 1s made for the
expected future labilities

Exceptional items

Exceptional items are those significant
items which are disclosed separately by
virtue of therr size and/cr nature to enable
a full understanding of the group’s finanaal
performance

Financing risk management

objectives and policies

Treasury activities are managed within a
formal set of treasury policies and obyjectives,
which are reviewed regularly and approved

by the Board The policy specifically prohibits
any transactions of a speculative nature and
the use of complex financial nstruments
Certain detatled policies for managing interest
rate, currency and inflation risk and that for
managing liquihty nsk are approved by the
Board and may only be changed with the
consent of Dwr Cymru Cyfyngedig's secunty
trustee {the ‘Security Trustee’) The risk 1s further
mitigated by imiting exposure to any one
counterparty Financial instruments, which
principally include listed bonds, finance leases,
bank loan facilities and derivatives, are used
to raise finance and manage nsk from our
operations
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Credit nisk

The group has a prudent policy for investing
cash and short term bank deposits (‘cash
investments’) Counterparties for cash
investments must meet minimum short term
and/or long term credit ratings as published
by Standard & Poor’s ('S&P), Moody's Investor
Service Limited (‘Moody's’) and Fitch Ratings
Linited (‘Fitch’} The mimirmum short term
rating, for cash deposits of up to one year, 1s
A1/P1/F1 and the minimum long term rating,
for cash deposits cver one year, 15 A+/A3/A+
each for S&P, Moody's and Fitch respectively
The Board reviews counterparties annually for
cash investments and the credit lmit assigned
to each

The group has continued to follow a cautious
policy for investing cash deposits as a response
to the situation in the banking market

In consequence all new cash investments

must meet the mimmum long term rating and
have a maximum investment period of three
maonths The maximum cash investment with a
single counterparty was £142m (2009 £65m)

Interest rate risk

The group hedges at least 85% of its total
outstanding nancial habilities, mcluding
finance leases, into either index-linked or fixed
rate obligations For this purpose floating

rate interest habihities are hedged through a
combination of dervative instruments and
cash balances. The regulatory framework under
which revenues and the regulatory asset value
are Indexed also exposes the group to inflation
risk Subject to market constraints and Board
approval, the group therefore may seek to raise
new debt through index-linked instruments or
to enter into appropriate hedging transactions

The group analyses its interest rate exposure
on a dynamic basis Various scenarios

are simulated taking into consideration
refinancing, renewal of existing positions,
alternative financing and hedging Of total
borrowings of £2,912m as at 31 March 2010
(2009 £2,760m), only £30m refated to floating
rate debt (2009 £156m) The group therefore
considers overall interest rate exposure at the
balance sheet date to be mimimal
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As at 31 March 2010, 99% {2009 94%) of the
group’s gross debt was at fixed or index-linked
(‘RPI'} rates of interest after taking into account
interest rate and RPi swaps The "hedges”
established to manage interest rate nsks are
economic n nature, but do not satisfy the
specific requirements of IAS 39 1n order to be
treated as hedges for accounting purposes
Accordingly, ail movements in the far value of
dervative financial instruments are reflected
in the income statement This has resulted in
a total habihty of £173 million in the balance
sheet at 31 March 2010 {2009 £138 muliion)
but, assuming that the swaps are held to
maturty, this will ulimately reduce to nil

Power price hedges

The company enters into contracts which

fix the price of a proportion of future power
purchases in order to reduce the impact of
power price vanances The company has
forward-purchased approximately a third

of the estimated power requirement of the
business over the regulatory period from

1 Apri 2010 to 31 March 2015 These contracts
neither qualify as financial instruments under
IAS 39 nor as onerous contracts under IAS 37
and, consequently, are not included in the
financial statements until the contracts are
effective

Refinancing nsk

Refinancing nsk 1s managed by maintaining

a balance between the continuity of funding
and flexibility through the use of borrowings
across a range of currencies, instruments, type
and matunties Qur policy is t¢ ensure that the
maturity profile does not impose an excessive
strain on our ability to repay loans Under this
policy, ne more than 20% of the principal of
group borrowings of £2,912m can fall due in
any 24 month period

Liquidity nisk

We mantain committed banking facilities in
order to provide flexibility in the management
of the group’s iquidity

Under the Common Terms Agreement which
governs the group’s obligations to its bond
holders and other financial creditors, the
group 1s required to have cash available to
fund operations for a duration of 18 months
As at 31 March 2010, the group had committed
undrawn borrowing facilities of £420m

(2009 £420m) and cash and cash equivalents
{excluding debt service payments account)

of £238m (2009 £124m) On 7 May 2010 the
group reduced its undrawn facilities by £245m
following the Board’s conclusion that these
waere surplus to requirements

There 1s also a special hquidity facility of
£150m, this i1s required in order to meet certain
interest and other obligations that cannot be
funded through operating cashflow in the
event of a standstill being declared by the
Secunity Trustee, following an event of default
under the group’s debt financing covenants

Capital sk management

The group’s objective when managmg capital
1s to safeguard its ability to continue as a going
concern Given the regulatory environment in
which the group operates, the group monitors
capital on the basis of the geaning ratio This

15 calculated as net debt (as defined in the
group’s borrowing covenants) as a proportion
of its Regulatory Capital Value (RCV) as linked
to movements in the Retaill Price Index and
determined by Ofwat

The Board considers that it 1s in the best long-
term interests of Welsh Water’s customers to
continue to reduce the level of geanng, with

a view to achieving further reductions inits
cost of finance The Board intends ultimately to
reduce gearing to around 70% and to maintain
1t at that level, but recognises that the recent
economic recession will prevent this in the
short term

In respect of the risks detailed above, further
guantitative disclosures are provided in
note 16
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Cnitical accounting estimates

The preparauen of financial staterments which
conform to generally accepted accounting
principles requires the use of estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts
of assets and liabilities at the date of the
financial statements and the reported amounts
of revenue and expenses during the reporting
penod Although these estimates are based on
management’s best knowledge of the arnount,
event or actions, actual results ultimately may
differ from those estimates

Prowision for impairment

of trade receivables

Individual impairment losses on customer
debts are calculated based on an indwidual
assessment of the cash flows that are
expected Collective impairment losses

on receivables with similar credst nsk are
calculated using a statistical model The key
assumption in the model 1s the probability
of afailure to recover amounts when they
fal! into arrears The probability of failing to
recover 1s determined by past experience,
adjusted for changes in external factors
The accuracy of the impairment calculation
would therefore be affected by unexpected
changes to the economic situation, and to
changes in customer behaviour To the extent
that the failure to recover debts in arrears
alters by 5%, the provision for impairment
would increase or decrease by £34 million
(2009 £5 0 million)

Glas Cymru Cyfyngedig
Company Number 3975719

Pension benefits

The present value of the pension obhgations
1s dependent on the actuanal calculation,
which includes a number of assumptions
These assumptions include the discount rate,
which is used to calculate the present value
of the estimated future cash outflows that will
be required to meet the pension obligations
In determining the discount rate to use, the
Group considers market yields of high quality
corporate bonds, denominated in sterling,
that have times to matunty approximating
the terms of the pension hability Were this
discount rate to reduce or increase by 0 1%,
the carrying value of the penston obligations
as at 31 March 2010 would increase or reduce
by £1 1 millton (2009 £0 7 million) Subsequent
to the year-end, it1s likely that the size of the
pension scheme will Increase significantly

as employees transferning into Welsh Water
become eligible to transfer their existing
pensions into the DCWW Pension Scheme (see
subsequent events note 27) This will increase
the sensitivity of the balance sheet obligation
to changes in the discount rate

Measured income accrual

Revenue inctudes an accrual for unbilled
charges at the year-end The accrual is
estimated using a defined methodology
based upon the weighted average water
consumption by tanff, which 1s calculated
using historical billing information adjusted for
changes in external factors, such as weather

A 5% change in actual consumption from that
estimated would have the effect of increasing
or decreasing the accrual by £2 3 milion (2009
£2 3 milion)

2 [ Segmental information

The directors consider that there is only one
reporting segment, being the operation

of water and sewerage business in the UK
Therefore the disclosures for the pnmary
segment have already been given in these
financial statements The secondary reporting
format i1s geographical analysis by enigin and
destination As the group has only domestic
activities there 1s only one geographical
segment, therefore, the disclosures for the
secondary segment have also already been
given in these financial statements

The parent company’s business is solely to

act as a holding company and therefore it
operates in a single segment
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3 | Profit/(loss) before taxation

The following items have been included in arriving at the profit/{loss) before taxation

Group
Before
exceptional Exceptional
items 1tems (note 4) Total Total
2010 2010 2010 2009
£m £m £m £m
Operating charges from outsourced activities
- Operating services agreements 1312 (50) 1262 1384
- Customer services agreement 187 - 187 195
- Laboratores and analytical services 66 - 66 67
-QOther contracts 141 - 141 142
- Contract termination costs - 108 108 -
- Restructurning and rationalisation - 154 154 -
1706 212 1918 1788
Employee costs {note 20)
-Wages and salanes 107 - 107 107
- Social secunty 11 - 11 10
- Pension costs {excluding actuanal loss} 17 - 17 10
- Restructunng and ratignalisation - 72 72 -
135 72 207 127
Research and development expenditure 05 - 05 05
Trade recewvables impairment 223 - 223 188
Rates 269 - 269 255
Environment Agency charges 151 - 151 149
Fees payable to auditors 02 - 02 02
staff costs capitalised {59) - {59 (57
Other operating charges 225 11 236 212
Total operational expenditure 2657 295 2952 266 9
infrastructure renewals expenditure 773 - 773 1011
Depreciation and amortisation
-Owned assets 912 - 912 891
- Under finance leases 406 - 406 407
- Amortisation of intangible assets 7.7 - 7.7 37
1395 - 1385 1335
Loss on disposal of fixed assets 04 - 04 08
4329 295 5124 5023
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Services provided by the group’s auditor
Ouning the year, the group abtained the following services from the group’s auditor

Group

2010 2009

£'000 £°000
Non-discretionary audit fees
Statutory audit of parent company and consolidated financial statements n 1
Statutory audit of subsidhary compames 77 75
Total statutory audit fees 88 86
Review of intenm financial statements 22 21
Regulatory audit services pursuant to legislation 319 33
Review of draft business plan (required by Ofwat) - 81
Total audit fees 149 221
Other services
Tax advisory services 5 10
Services relating to bond prospectus update and bond issue 25 -
Other 10 2
Total other services 40 12
Total cost of services provided by the group’s auditor 189 233

Regulatory audit services include audit work on the Regulatory Accounts, June Return and Principal Statement In addition to
the above services, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP acted as auditor to the DCWW Pension Scheme The appaintment of auditors
to the pension scheme and the fees pard in respect of the audit are agreed by the trustees of the scheme, who act independently
from the management of the group The fees paid in respect of audit services to the pension scheme during the year were
£11,000 (2009 £13,000)

The Board has adopted a formal policy with respect to services receved from external auditors The external auditor will not
be used for internal audit services and all non-audit work above a threshold of £25,000 will be subject to prior competitive
tendenng and approval by the Audit Committee

4 [ Exceptional restructuring costs

On 9 February 2010 Glas Cymru announced 1ts intention to restructure Welsh Water following the deaision to bring back in
house the operattonal activities which had been outsourced (for further information, see Operating and Financial Review)
Restructuring costs of £29 5m are considered exceptional by nature and are disclosed separately in note 3 to the financial
statements These include the costs of terminating the cutsourced contracts along with the estimated restructuring costs
associated with a reduction in the headcount by some 300 Contract termination cost inctude agreed payments in lieu of the
profit element for year 6 and early agreement of an adjustment reflecting year 5 performance It 1s not anticipated that any
further significant expenditure will be incurred in relation to the restructuning of the business
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5 [ Financing costs
a} Net interest before fair value losses on derivative finanaal instruments

Group

2010 2009

£m £m
Interest payable on bonds {84 9} (86 1)
Indexation on index-linked bonds 95 (414)
Interest payable on finance leases (18 4) (37 1)
Other loan interest (109) (7 4}
Other interest payable and finance costs 24) (25}
Net interest (charge)/credit on pension scheme Labilities (0 3} 02
Capitahsation of borrowing costs under 1AS 23 (2010 3 8%, 2009 nul) 61 -
Interest payable {101 3) (1743)
Interest receivable 34 86
Net interest payable before farr value adjustments (97 9) (1657}

Between July 2008 and July 2009 the Retail Prices Index fell by 1 5% producing an indexation ‘credit’ on the group’s index-linked
bonds {July 2007 to July 2008 nise of 5 0%)

b) Fair value losses on derivative financial iInstruments

Derwvative financial instruments are held for economic hedging purposes although they do not qualify as accounting hedges
under IAS 39 Consequently, the group’s interest rate and index-linked swaps are fair valued at each balance sheet date with the
net loss or gain disclosed in the income statement Over the life of these swaps, If held to maturity, these fair value adjustments
will reverse and reduce to zerp (See note 15 1n respect of denvative financial instruments held on the balance sheet )

Group
2010 2009
£m £fm
Fair value gains/{losses) on interest rate swaps 95 (28 3)
Fair value losses on index-linked swaps (24 5) (58 2)
Total farr value losses on denvative financial instruments (150 (86 5}
Deferred tax effect at 28% (2009 28%) of fair value losses 42 242
Net of tax irpact of fair value losses {10 8} 623)

Glas Cymru Cyfyngedig
Company Number 3975719




6 [ Taxation
Analysis of credit/{charge) in the year

Group
2010 2009

£m im
Current tax
- Adjustment in respect of prior years 17 -
Deferred tax
- Current year movements {158) 303
- Adjustment n respect of prior years 160 40
- Effect of abolition of Industnal Buildings Allowances - (370)

02 27
Taxation credit/(charge) 19 (27}
Analysed as
Credit/{charge) to Income Statement 19 (56)
Credit to Statement of Comprehensive Income - 29

19 (27}

The £16m deferred tax adjustment in respect of prior years relates to the agreement with HMRC of a land remediation claim for
the group’s Section 19 mains rehabilitation programme

The effective rate of tax for the year 1s lower (2009 higher) than the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK
{2010 and 2009 28%) The differences are explained below

Group
2010 2009
£m m

Profit/{loss} before tax 629 (97 3)
Profit/(loss) before tax muluplied by the corporation tax rate in the UK of 28% (2009 28%) 176 (27 2)
Effects of
- Adjustments in respect of prior years (177 (40)
- Other permanent differences (18) 02
- Effect of aboliion of Industrial Buildings Allowances - 370
- Movement on deferred tax asset relating t¢ pension scheme - 29
Total taxation {credit)/charge 19 27
7 § Deferred tax

Deferred tax s calculated in full en temporary differences under the hability method using a tax rate of 28% (2009 28%)

The movement in the deferred tax provision 15 as shown below

Group
2010 2009
£m £m
At 1 Apnl 3528 3501
(Credit)/charge to Income Statement 02} 56
Credit to Statement of Comprehensive Income - (29)
At 31 March 3526 3528
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Deferred tax assets have been recognised in respect of all tax losses and other temporary differences giving nse to deferred tax
assets because it 1s probable that these assets will be recovered Under the current tax regime, trading tax losses carmed forward

will be available to offset trading profits in future penods

Group
2010 2009
£m im
Effect of
Tax allowances In excess of depreciation 454 4 4437
Capntal gains rolled over 416 416
Deferred tax on tax losses carred forward (82 5) (801)
Deferred tax on losses on derivative financral instruments (48 9) {44 7)
Pensions (22} 22
Other tax differences 98) {55)
Provision for deferred tax 3526 3528
The parent company has no deferred tax balance
8/ Propenrty, plant and equipment
Plant
Freehold equipment,
land and infrastructure  Operational computer
bulldings assets structures hardware Total
Group Em £m £Em £m fm
Current year
Cost
At 1 Apnil 2009 344 15131 2,3834 226 2 4,157 1
Additions net of grants and contributions - 329 2222 13 256 4
At 31 March 2010 344 1,546 0 2,6056 227 5 44135
Accumulated depreciation
At 1 Apnl 2009 168 1312 8594 1697 11771
Charge for the year 05 338 832 150 1325
At 31 March 2010 173 1650 942.6 1847 1,3096
Net book value
At 31 March 2010 171 13810 1,663 0 ax8 3,103 9

The net book value of property, plant and equipment incfudes £155 5m in respect of assets in the course of construction

(2009 £160 9m)

The net book value of property, plant and equipment includes £6 1m of borrowing costs capitalised in accordance with AS 23

(2009 nil), of which £6 1m were addittons in the year (2009 nul)
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Plant

Freehold equipment,
land and  Infrastructure Operational computer
buildings assets structures hardware Total
Group £m £m Em £m £m
Prior year
Cost
At 1 Apnl 2008 330 14574 2,2325 2229 39458
Additions net of grants and contributrons 14 557 1509 674 2754
Disposals - - - (64 1) (64 1)
At 31 March 2009 344 15131 2,3834 2262 4,157 1
Accumulated depreaation
At 1 Aprd 2008 1613 988 7729 164 4 10524
Charge for the year 0s 324 865 105 1299
Released on disposal - - B (52} (52)
At 31 March 2009 168 1312 8594 1697 11771
Net book value
At 31 March 2009 176 13819 1,524 0 565 29800
Assets hetd under finance leases
Included within the ahove are assets held under finance leases, analysed as below
Infrastructure Operational
assets structures Total
Group £m £m £m
Current year
Cost
At 1 Apnl 2009 and at 31 March 2010 6118 6581 1,269 9
Accumulated depreciation
At 1 Apri 2009 516 2205 2721
Charge for the year 77 329 406
At 31 March 2010 593 253 4 3127
Net book value
At 31 March 2010 5525 4047 957 2
Infrastructure Operational
assets structures Total
Group £m £m £m
Prior year
Cost
At 1 Apnl 2008 6118 5981 1,2099
Additions - 600 600
At 31 March 2009 6118 6581 1,269 9
Accumulated depreciation
At 1 April 2008 439 1875 2314
Charge fer the year 77 330 407
At 31 March 2009 316 2205 2721
Net book value
At 31 March 2009 5602 4376 997 8

The parent company owns no property, plant or equipment

Glas Cymru Cyfyngedig
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9{ Intangible assets

Intangible assets comprise computer software and related system developments

Cost  Amortisation  Net book value

Group £m £m £m
Current year

At 1 April 2009 1015 {553) 462
Additions 216 77 139
Disposals {65) 65 -
At 31 March 2010 1166 (56 5) 601
Prior year

At 1 Apnl 2008 767 (516) 251
Additions 248 (37} 21
At 31 March 2009 1015 (553) 462

The net book value of intangible assets includes £34 2m in respect of assets in the course of construction {2009 £18 1m)
The majority of this relates to assets which will have an estimated life of around 20 years once commissioned

The parent company owns no intangible fixed assets

10 | Fixed asset investments
a) Group

Cost and net book value

2010 2009

At 1 April and 31 March

Equity of less than 10% s held in the following unlisted company

Prinapal activity

Country of iIncorporation  Helding

Water Research Centre (1989) Pic

Water research

England and Wales ‘B'Ordinary Shares of £1

In addition, the group holds 5% Convertible Unsecured Loan Stock 2014 at a cost of £23,326 in Water Research Centre (1989) Ple

b} Parent Company

The company has a £1 investment i Glas Cymru (Secunties) Cyfyngedig and has indirect investments in the following subsidiary

undertakings

Prinapal activity

Country of incorporation  Holding

Dver Cymru (Holdings} Limited
Dwr Cymiru Cyfyngedig

Dver Cymiru {Financing) Limited
Welsh Water Utilities Finance Plc

Holding company
Water and sewerage
Raising finance
Raising finance

England and Wales 100%
England and Wales 100%
Cayman Islands 100%
England and Wales 100%
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11 [ Trade and other recervables

Group Company
2010 2009 2010 2009
£m £m £m fm
a) Amounts falling due within one year

Trade recevables 860 1094 - -
Provision for impairment of receivables {44 2) (7006) - -
Trade recervables - net 18 388 - -
Prepayments and accrued income 621 620 - -
Corporation tax 17 - - -
Other receivables 84 14 - -
1140 1022 - -

b) Amounts falling due after more than one year
Amounts owed by group undertakings - - 34 34
- - 34 34
Total trade and other recevables 1140 1022 34 34

All non-current recervables are due within five years from the balance sheet date

As at 31 March 2010, based on a review of histoncal collection rates it was considered that £44 2m of trade receivables were
impaired and these have therefore been provided for (2009 £70 6m) The imparred receivables relate mainly to measured and

unmeasured water supply debtors

The ageing of receivables was as follows

Total Prowvided for Net
£m £m £m
Current year
Trade recervables
Under one month 18.4 (36} 148
Between one and six months 226 {103) 123
Between six months and one year 190 (92) 98
Between one and two years 161 (120) 417
Between two and three years 96 88) 08
Over three years 03 03} -
860 {44 2} 418
Prior year
Trade receivables
Under one manth to1 34) 67
Between one and six months 180 82) 98
Between six months and one year 214 (72} 142
Between one and two years 219 (16 3) 56
Between two and three years 159 (136) 23
Over three years 221 (219 02
1094 {70 6) 388
Glas Cymru Cyfyngedig

Company Number 3975719

83



Glas Cymru [ Report and Accounts 2010

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Movements in the provision for impairment of trade receivables are as follows

2010 2009

£Em £m

At 1 Apnl 706 588
Charge to Income Statement 26 181
Receivables written off dunng the year as uncollectable (48 0) {(63)
At 31 March 442 706

The creation and release of provision for impaired receivables have been included in operational expenditure

The other classes within trade and other recervables do not contain impaired assets All trade and other recewvables are
denominated in sterling

During the year the group has written off £48 Om of debt which had been provided for in full (2009 £6 3m)}

12 | Cash and cash equivalents

Group Company
2010 2009 2010 2009
£m £m £m £m
Cash at bank and in hand iz 30 01 01
Short-term deposits 2450 1363 - -
2487 1393 01 01

The effective interest rate on short-term deposits as at 31 March 2010 was 0 6% (2009 0 6%) and these deposits had an average

matunty of 9 days (2009 8days) AH cash and cash equivalents were held n sterling

13 [ Trade and other payables

Group Company
2010 2009 2010 2009
£m fm £m £m
Current
Trade payables 215 282 - .
Capital payables 565 534 - -
Amounts due to group undertakings - - 35 35
Other taxation and socal security 05 04 - -
Accruals and deferred income 520 475 - .
1305 1295 35 35
Non-current
Deferred income 23 30 - -
Glas Cymru Cyfyngedig
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14 { Financial habilities ~ borrowings

Group
2010 2009
£m £m
Current
Interest accruals 59 69
Bonds 1250 -
Unamortised bond premium 06 05
Unamortised bond 1ssue costs {0 4) (eI}
European Investment Bank loans 89 44
Local authonty loans 03 03
Finance lease obligations 9.9 86
150 2 200
Non-current
Interest accruals 38.0 350
Bonds 16700 1,664 5
Unamortised bond premium 112 18
Unamortised bond 1ssue costs (5.9} 42)
KfW Bank loan 350 -
European Investment Bank loans 1380 146 8
Local authonty loans 19 23
Finance lease obligations 8736 8835
2,7618 2,7397

The parent company has no borrowings

A securnity package was granted by Dvwr Cymru Cyfyngedig (DCC), as part of the group’s bond proegramme for the benefit of
holders of senior bonds, finance lessors and other senior financial creditors

The obligations of DCC are guaranteed by the company, Glas Cymru (Securities) Cyfyngedig and Dwr Cymru (Holdings) Limited

The main elements of the secunty package are

1} afirst fixed and floating security over all of DCC's assets and undertaking, to the extent permitted by the Water Industry Act,
other apphcable law and 1ts licence, and

2) afixed and floating secunity given by the guarantors referred to above which are accrued on each of these companies’assets
including, in the case of DWr Cymru (Holdings} Limited, a first fixed charge over its shares in DCC

The group’s Class A Bonds of £895 9m (2009 £302 3m) benefit from a guarantee from MBIA UK Insurance Limited {'MBIA")
MBIA’s credit rating has been reduced to B3 and BBB+ by Moody’s and S&P respectively, and 15 no longer rated by Fiich

The credit rating of the Class A bonds has therefore defaulted to the higher underlyging rating of these bonds, of A3/A/A from
Moody's, S&P and Fitch respectively The underlying rating reflects the standalone credit quality of these bonds without the
benefit of the MBIA guarantee, and 1s the same as the credit ratings of the group's Class B bonds of £759 1m (2009 £637 2m)
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15 | Derivative financral instruments

Denvative financial instruments are held for economic hedging purposes although they do not qualify as accounting hedges
under IAS 39 As such, movements in their fair value are taken to the Income Statement {see note 3b) The fair values of all
derivative financial instruments held by the group are the result of mark-to-market pricing by the 1ssuing counterparties and as

such fall within level 1 of the fair value hierarchy set out in IFRS 7

Fair Values
Assets Liabibties
Group - 2010 £Em £m
Current
Index-linked swaps 44 (24 4)
Interest rate swaps - (116}
44 (36 0}
Non-current
Index-linked swaps - (105 5)
Interast rate swaps 08 (36 4)
08 (141 9)
Total 52 (177 9)
Fair Values
Assets Liabilities
Group - 2009 £m £m
Current
Index-linked swaps 186 {14)
Interest rate swaps 74 07)
260 21)
Non-current
index-linked swaps - {1197
Interest rate swaps - {620)
- {(1817)
Total 260 {183 8)

In accordance with IAS 39, ‘Financial instruments Recognition and Measurement;, the group has reviewed all contracts for
embedded dervatives that are required to be accounted for separately if they do not meet certain requirements set out in the

standard The group has no such embedded denivatives as per IAS 39

The parent company has no dervative financial instruments or embedded denvatives
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Interest rate swaps

At 31 March 2010 the interest rate swaps fix the interest rate cn £192m (2009 £192m) of floating rate hiabihities held by the
group The matunty date of the swap 15 31 March 2031 and the quarterly fixed interest rate 1s 5 67% In addition, £56m
(2009 £mi) of finance lease liabilities have been swapped from a ftoating to a fixed rate of 3 567% unti! March 2017

The notional amount of the swap 15 £54m {2009 £nil)

£534 mullign (2009 £563m} of finance lease labilines are converted from 3 month to 12 month floating for a pentod of one year,
the swaps exptre on 31 March 2011 These swaps are matched against the same lrabilities as £534m of the finance lease index-
linked swaps noted below

Index-hinked swaps

Finance lease swaps

The index-linked swaps have the effect of index-linking the interest rate on £692m (2005 £617m) of finance lease liabilities by
reference to the Retail Prices Index {'RPI'}

The notional amount of the swaps as at 31 March 2010 s £636 mitlton (2009 £563m), representing the average balance on the
finance leases subject to floating interest rates for the year to 31 March 2010 The notional amount amortises over the life of

the swaps to match the average floating rate balances of the leases

The principal terms are as follows

Notional amount £636m {amortising)

Average swap maturnity 23 years

Average interest rate 1 58% (fixed) plus RPI

Bond swap '

The index-linked swaps have the effect of index-linking the interest rate on £100m of fixed rate bonds by reference to the RPI

The principal terms are as follows

Indexed notional amount £109 4m

Swap maturity 47 years

Interest rate 1 35% (indexed by RPI)

16 { Finanaial nsk management
The policies of the group n respect of financial nsk management are included in the accounting policies note on pages 73 and 74
The numencal financial instrument disclosures as required by IFRS 7 are set out below

a) Interest rate nsk
The effective interest rates at the balance sheet dates were as follows

2010 2009
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 06% 06%
Liabthties
Bonds 52% 56%
European Investment Bank loans 24% 21%
Local authority loans 4 9% 53%
Finance lease obhgations 16% 51%

Trade and other receivables and payables are non interest-bearing

The effective interest rates ignore the effect of the interest rate and index-linked swaps set out in note 15 They also exclude the
indexation charge applicable to the index-linked bonds
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b} Liquechty risk
Within 1yr 1-2years 2-5years > 5 years Total
Group - 2010 £m fm fm £m £m
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 2487 - - - 2487
Trade and other receivables 1124 - - - 1124
3611 - - - 3611
Liabditres
Bonds 1256 06 18 16788 1,806 8
KfW Bank ican - - nz 233 350
European Investment Bank loans 89 135 429 816 1469
Local authority loans 03 03 10 06 22
Finance lease obligations 99 119 98 7699 883 5
Trade and other payables 1305 05 15 03 1328
2752 268 1507 2,5545 3,007 2
Within 1yr 1-2years 2-5years > 5 years Total
Group - 2009 £m £m £m £m £m
Assats
Cash and cash equivalents 1393 - - - 1393
Trade and other receivables 1022 - - - 1022
2415 - - - 2415
Liabilities
Bonds 05 1256 18 1,548 9 1,676 8
European Investment Bank loans 44 89 40 4 975 1512
Local authonty loans 03 03 10 10 26
Finance lease obligations 86 99 511 8225 8921
Trade and other payables 1295 03 03 24 1325
1433 1450 946 2A723 28552

As at 31 March 2010, the bonds maturing within 1 year represent £125 million of subordinated bonds with an expected maturity
date of 31 March 2011 If these bonds are not redeemed on or before 31 March 2011, the interest rate will change from a fixed

rate of 8 174% to a floating 3 month LIBOR interest rate plus a margin of 5 75%

Cn 3 June 2010 the Group agreed to repurchase £113 million of Class C1 bonds following a tender offer to bondholders

The amount repurchased represents a take-up rate of 90% and settlement will be made in cash on 7 June 2010
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The minimum lease payments under finance leases fall due as follows

2010 2009
£m £fm
Gross finance lease habilities
Within one year 222 309
Between two and five years 2323 1759
After five years 1,164 5 1,1655
1,4190 13723
Future interest (535 5) (480 2)
Net finance lease habihties 8835 8921
Net finance lease habilities are repayable as follows
Within one year (note 14} 29 86
Between two and five years 103 7 611
After five years 7699 8224
Total over one year {note 14) 8736 8835

¢} Fair values
The fair values of the group’s denvative financial instruments are set out in note 15 The following table summarises the fair value
and book value of the group’s bonds

2010 2009
Book value Fair value Book value Fair value
£m £m fm £m
Bonds {note 14) 1,806 8 20369 16768 16030

The fair values of all other financial instruments are equal to the book values

d} Borrowing facilities
As at 31 March 2010, the group had available undrawn committed borrowing facilities of £420m expiring as set cut below,
m respect of which all conditions precedent had been met (2009 £420m)

2010 2009
£m £m
Expiring in less than 1 year
- term loan facility 75 -
Expinng in more than 1 year
- revolving credit facibties 345 345
- term loan facility - 75
345 420
420 420

Dver Cymru (Financing) Limited also has a special iquichty facility of £150 milhon, which 1t 1s required to mamtan in order to
meet certain group interest and other obligations that cannot be funded through operating cashflow of the group, In the event
of a standstill betng declared by the Security Trustee A standstill would anse in the event that Dwr Cymru Cyfyngedig defaults
on Its debt financing covenants No such covenant defaults have arnisen duning the year Dvir Cymru Cyfyngedig also has a

£20 mullton overdraft faciity Both of these facilities are renewable on an annual basis All of the above facilities, including the
Iiquidity facility, are at floating rates of interest

In view of the strong hguidity pasition, £245m of revalving credit facilities were cancelled on 7 May 2010
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e) Capital nsk management
Gearning ratios

2010 2009

£m £m
Total borrowings (2,912} (2,759)
Less cash and cash equivalents 245 139
Net debt (2,663} {2,620}
RCV 3,737 3,626
Total capital 1,074 1,006
Less unamortised bond costs {6) (5)
Total capital per bond covenants 1,068 1,001
Gearnng ratio 71% 72%

As set out on page 74, the group monitors its capital structure based on a regulatory gearing ratio which compares its net debt
to the Ofwat determined RCV

17 [ Provisions

Restructuring Dilapidations Uninsured loss

provision provision provision Total

£fm £m £m £m

At1 Apnl 2009 - 14 78 92

Charged to income statement 284 08 07 299

Uthsed in year - - {17) 17)

At 31 March 2010 284 22 68 374
Split as

Amounts to be uttlised within one year 129 02 17 148

Amounts to be utiised after more than one year 155 20 51 226

At 31 March 2010 284 22 68 374

As at 31 March 2009, all provisions were expected to be utilised after more than one year The parent company has no provisions
at 31 March 2010 (2009 ril)

Restructurning provision
This provides for the casts of terminating the outsourced contracts along with the estimated restructuring costs associated with
a reductien in the headcount by sorme 300 {see note 4)

Dilapidations provision
This provision relates to estmated dilapidation costs, which will be incurred over the next two years

Provision for uninsured losses
This provision is in respect of uninsured losses and instances where insurance does not cover a deductible amount
The utibsation penicd of these habilities 1s uncertam due to the nature of claims, but 15 estimated to be within five years
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18 { Net cash inflow from operating activities
a) Cash generated from operations

Reconciliation of operating profit to cash generated from operations

Group
2010 2009
£im £m
Operating profit 175.8 1549
Adjustments for
» - Depreciation and amortisation 1395 1335
- Loss on disposal of fixed assets a4 08
- Changes in working capital
{Increase)/decrease in trade and other recervables (10 1) 1M1
{Decrease)/increase in trade and other payables 21 81
Pension contributions in excess of operating costs (1.1) -
Increase In provisions 282 o7
149 199
Cash generated from operations 33006 3091
b) Interest paid
Group
2010 2009
£fm £Em
Interest payable per income statement 1013 1743
Less non-cash items
- Indexation on index-linked bonds 95 (414)
- Amartisation of bond issue costs 06 (07)
- Interest (charge)/credit on pension scheme habilities (02} 02
- Amortisation of bond 1ssue premium 07 05
- Effect of capitalisation under 1A5 23 61 -
- Decrease in prepayments - (37)
- {Increase)/decrease in accruals (19 02
148 (44 9)
Interest paid 1161 1294
19 | Analysis and reconciliation of net debt
a) Net debt at the balance sheet date may be analysed as
Group Company
2010 2009 2010 2009
£m £m £m £m
Cash and cash equivalents 2487 1393 01 01
Debt due after one year {1.8502) (1,821 2) - -
Debt due within one year (134 4) (45} - -
Finance leases (883 5) 8921) - -
Accrued interest (43 9) (419) - -
(29120} (2,7597) - -
Net debt (2,663 3) (2,6204) 01 01
Gias Cymru Cyfyngedig
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b) The movement i net debt during the period may be summarised as:

Group Company
2010 2009 2010 2009
£m £m £m £m
Net debt at start of year (2,620 4) (2,524 4) DR 01
Increase in net cash 1094 152 - -
Increase in debt {160 9} (699) - -
Increase in net debt ansing from cashflows (51 5) (547) - -
Movement in accrued interest {2 0) 02 - -
Indexation of index-linked debt 95 (41 4) - -
Other non-cash movements 1 {01) - -
Movement in net debt during the year (42 9} (96 0) - -
Net debt at end of year {2,663 3) (2,620 4) 01 01
20 [ Employees and directors
a) Staff costs for the group during the year
2010 2009
£m £m
Wages and salares 107 107
Sowial security costs 11 10
Other pension costs 17 i0
135 127
Of the above, £5 3 million (2009 £5 7 million} has been charged to capital
2010 2009
Number Number
Average monthly number of people (including
executive directors) employed by the group
Regulated water and sewerage actinities 200 187

Some 1,600 employees who worked on the previously outsourced operational contracts have transferred to Welsh Water via

TUPE arrangements post year-end (see note 27)

b) Parent company

The parent company had no employees (2009 nil} in the year Full details of the directors’ remuneration are inctuded in the
Remuneration Report set out on pages 57 to 62, which forms part of these Financial Statements

21 | Penston commitments

The group operates a funded defined benefit pension scheme for current employees (based on final pensionable salary and
pensionable serncel, the DCWW Pension Scheme The assets of the scheme are held in a separate trustee-admnistered fund

The DCWW Pension Scheme was closed to new members from 31 December 2005 and a new defined contribution scheme,

the Dwr Cymru Defined Contnbution Scheme, was introduced from 1 January 2006
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Subsequent to the end of the year, on 1 April 2010 1,093 United Utilities Operational Services (‘UUOS") employees transferred to
Welsh Water, followed by 476 Kelda Water Services (KWS') employees on 1 May 2010 Around 1,000 UUOS and KWS employees
transferning to Welsh Water are enntled to transfer their existing defined benefit pensions into the DCWW Pension Scheme

In aggregate the transfer s likely to be fully-funded on an actuarial basis, although this result 1s uncertamn and the assumptions
used may differ from the calculation under 1AS 19

Assuming that all 1,000 members transfer their pensions into the DCWW Pension Scheme, this would increase scheme assets as
at 31 March 2010 by around £177m Assuming that all members commute the maximum possible pension for cash at retirement,
the 1AS 19 hability as at the same date would be broadly simiiar Scheme membershrip would increase from around 150 to a total

of around 1,150 members

In the event that the IAS 19 valuation varies from the funded actuanal valuation at the date of transfer, any differences will be
taken to the income statement for the year to 31 March 2011

See also subsequent events note 27

Total pension costs i the year were as follows

2010 2009
£'000 £'000
Defined contribution scheme 273 122
Defined benefit scheme - excluding actuarial loss 1,287 927
1,560 1,049
Net actuanial loss recogrised in year 1,512 10400
3,072 11,449

Defined benefit scheme

A full actuarial valuation of the scheme was undertaken as at 31 March 2009 by Robert Davies of Quantum Adwvisory,
an independent, professionally qualified actuary, using the attained age method This valuation has been updated as at
31 March 2010 and the principal assumptions made by the actuaries were

2010 2009
Discount rate 56% 6 2%
Inflation assumption 35% 27%
Rate of increase in pensionable salaries 45% 37%
Rate of increase in pensions in payment 33% 27%
Post retirement mortality (hfe expectancy)
- Current pensioners aged 65 - males 87 0 years 87 O years
- Current pensioners aged 65 - females 89 9 years 89 9years
- Future pensioners aged 65 (currently aged 45) - males 88 1 years 88 1 years
- Future pensioners aged 65 (currently aged 45) - females 90 9 years 90 9 years

Post retirement mortality assumptions are based on those in published actuanal tables ‘PA92] relevant to members’year
of birth with medium cohort adjustments
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The major categones of plan assets, as a percentage of total assets and the expected long-term rates of return thereon,

were as follows

2010 2009
Expected Percentage of Expected Percentage of
return total assets return total assets
Equities 75% 60 5% 80% 59 0%
Bonds 5 0% 39 2% 50% 39 8%
Other 30% 03% 30% 1 2%
The amounts recognised 1n the income statement are as follows
2019 2009
£'000 £'000
Current service cost (excluding member contnbutions) 852 878
Past service cost 151 151
Effect of curtaslments or settlements - 99
Total included within s1aff costs 1,003 1,128
Interest cost 2,538 2,353
Expected return on plan assets (2,254) (2,554)
Total included within interest payable and similar charges 284 (201)
Total recognised in the Income Statement 1,287 927

Note that the defined contribution scheme charge of £273,000 (2009 £122,000) has also been included within staff costs

The amounts recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income are as follows

2010 2009

£000 £000
Actuarial gain/(loss) on plan assets 9,977 (9,301)
Actuanal loss on defined benefit cbligation {11,489) (1,099)
Total recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income (1,512) {10,400)
The total recognised 1 the Balance Sheet 1s made up as follows

2010 2009

£'000 £'000
Present value of funded obligations (55171) (40,577)
Plus unrecognised prior service costs 375 526
Fair value of plan assets 46,773 32,283
Net hiability recognised in the Balance Sheet (8,023) {7,768)
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Changes in the present value of the defined benefit obligation are as follows

2010 2009
£000 £'000
At 1 April 40,577 37416
Current service cost (including member contributions) 1,209 1,241
Interest cost 2,538 2,353
Benefits paid {net of transfers in) (642) (919}
Settlement - (613}
Actuanal loss 11,489 1,099
At 31 March 55171 40,577
Changes in the fair value of plan assets are as follows
2010 2009
£'000 £'000
At 1 Apnl 32,283 38,786
Expected return on plan assets 2,254 2,554
Contnbutions (Including member contnbutions) 2,901 1,875
Benefits paid {net of transfers in) {642) (819)
Settlement - {712)
Actuanal gain/(loss) on plan assets 9,977 {9,301)
At 31 March 46,773 32,283
Analysis of the movement in the amount recognised on the balance sheet
2009 2008
£°000 £000
At 1 Apni 7,768 (2,047)
Total charge to Income Statement 1,287 927
Total charge to Statement of Comprehensive Income 1,512 10,400
Contnbutiens paid (excluding member contnibutions) (2,544) {1,512)
At 31 March 8,023 7,768
2010 2009 2008 2007 2006
Experience adjustments ansing on scheme assets
Amount {Em) 100 (93) 47) 02) 35
Percentage of scheme assets 21% (29%) {129) {19) 11%
Expenence adjustments arnising on scheme habihties
Amount (£m) 115 an 80 o7 20
Percentage of the present value of scheme habihties 21% (3%) 22% {2%) (5%)
Prasent value of scheme habilities (£m) 548 401 368 110 372
Fair value of scheme assets (£m) 468 323 388 355 306
(Defiaity/surplus (Em) {80 (78) 20 (55) (66)

The contnibutions paid in the year to 31 March 2010 include a special contnbution of £1 1m {2009 £ni) The contnbution
expected to be paid during the financial year ended 31 March 2011 amounts to £4 1m (based on scherne membership as
at 31 March 2010)
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22 [ Capital and other financial commitments

The group’s business plan at 31 March 2010 shows net capital expenditure and infrastructure renewals expenditure of £252m
{2009 £350m) during the next financtal year While only a portion of this amount has been formally contracted for, the group s
effectively committed to the total as part of its overall capital expenditure programme approved by its regulator

23 [Related party transactions
In accordance with the exemption afforded by |AS 24 there 15 no disclosure in the consolidated financial statements of
transactions with entities that are part of the Glas Cymru Cyfyngedig group

24 { Status of the company
The company 1s hmited by guarantee and does not have any share capital In the event of the company being wound up,
the habihty of the members s imited to £1 each

25 [ Directors’ and officers’ loans and transactions
No loans or credit transactions with any directors, officers or connected persons existed durning the year or were outstanding at
the balance sheet date

26 | Elan Valley Trust Fund
In 1984 Welsh Water Autherity entered inte a conditional sale and purchase agreement with Severn Trent Water Authority for the
sale of the aqueduct and assocrated works by which the bulk supply to Severn Trent reservoirs 15 conveyed

The sum of £31 7m, representing the consideration for the conditional sale, was invested in a trust fund The principal function
of the fund was to provide an income to Welsh Water Authonty, whilst preserving the capital value of the fund in real terms
Welsh Water Authonty’s interest in this fund was vested 1n Dvwr Cymru Cyfyngedig under the provisions of the Water Act 1989

The assets of the fund are not included in these financiaf statements

Interest receivable includes £2 6m (2009 £2 3m} in respect of distnibutions from the Elan Valley Trust Fund

27 [ Subsequent events

On 9 February 2010 Welsh Water announced its intention to restructure the business by terminating the outsourced operational
contracts with United Utilities Operational Services (‘UUDS’) and Kelda Water Services {KWS') and by implementing a phased
headcount reduction of around 300 people

Subsequent to the end of the year, negotiations relating to the termination of the contracts have been finalised, and on
1 April 210 1,093 UUOS employees transferred to Welsh Water, followed by 476 KWS employees on 1 May 2010

Around 1,000 UUOS and KWS employees transferring to Welsh Water are entitled to transfer thew existing defined benefit
pensions into the DCWW Pension Scheme In aggregate the transfer is ltkely to be fully-funded on an actuanal basis, although
this result 1s uncertain and the assumptions used may differ from the calculation under 1AS 19

Assuming that all 1,000 members transfer thew pensions into the DCWW Pension Scheme, this would increase scheme assets as
at 31 March 2010 by around £177m Assuming that all members commute the maximum possible pension for cash at retirement,
the IAS 19 liability as at the same date would be broadly similar

In the event that the IAS 19 valuation varies from the funded actuaral valuatien at the date of transfer, any differences will be
taken 1o the income statement for the year to 31 March 2011

The financial statements contain exceptonal items of £29 5m relating to the costs of terminating the contracts and reorganising
the business (see notes 3 and 4}
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